
 

For information relating to this meeting or to request a copy in another format or 
language please contact: 

Kate Spencer, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  
01803 207014 

Email: scrutiny@torbay.gov.uk  

(i) 

 

 

Tuesday, 13 November 2012 
 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
 

A meeting of Overview and Scrutiny Board will be held on 
 

Wednesday, 21 November 2012 
 

commencing at 5.30 pm 
 

The meeting will be held in the Meadfoot Room, Town Hall, Castle Circus, 
Torquay, TQ1 3DR 

 
 
 

Members of the Committee 

Councillor Thomas (J) (Chairman) 

Councillor Barnby 

Councillor Bent 

Councillor Darling (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Hill 

 

Councillor Kingscote 

Councillor Pentney 

Councillor Stockman 

Councillor Pountney 

 

Co-opted Members of the Board 

Penny Burnside, Diocese of Exeter 

 

 

 

Working for a healthy, prosperous and happy Bay 



 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies  
 To receive apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Committee. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 1 - 2) 
 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meetings of the 

Board held on 30 October 2012. 
 

3.   Declarations of Interest  
 a) To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect 

of items on this agenda 
 

For reference:  Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the 
matter in question.  A completed disclosure of interests form 
should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the 
meeting. 

 
b) To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in 

respect of items on this agenda 
 

For reference:  Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the 
item.  However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public 
have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then 
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not 
improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter.  A 
completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the 
Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 
(Please Note:  If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on 
any potential interests they may have, they should contact 
Governance Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.) 

 
4.   Urgent Items  
 To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 
5.   Council Tax Support Scheme (Pages 3 - 71) 
 To consider the draft Council Tax Support Scheme including the 

associated Equalities Impact Assessment and the results from the 
consultation exercise. 
 

6.   Allocations Policy and Local Tenancy Strategy (Pages 72 - 108) 
 To consider the draft Allocations Policy and Local Tenancy Strategy 

and the associated Equalities Impact Assessment. 
 



 

 

 

Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Board 
 

30 October 2012 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Councillor Thomas (J) (Chairman) 

 

Councillors Barnby, Bent, Darling (Vice-Chair), Hill, Hytche, Pentney, 
Pountney and Stockman 

 
(Also in attendance: The Mayor and Councillors Excell, Davies, Doggett, Faulkner (A), 

Lewis, Morey, Parrott, Scouler and Thomas (D)) 
 

 
28. Apologies  

 
An apology for absence was received from Penny Burnside. 
 

29. Committee Membership  
 
It was reported that, in accordance with the wishes of the Conservative Group, the 
membership of the Board had been amended by including Councillor Hytche in 
place of Councillor Kingscote. 
 

30. Granting of a Long Lease for the Occombe House Site  
 
The Board considered the details of a call-in by five Members of the Council of the 
decision by the Mayor to, amongst other things, authorise the Executive Head of 
Commercial Services to permit the assignment of the current lease relating to 
Occombe House and Fairwinds Day Centre to the chosen service provider of 
Torbay and Southern Devon Health and Care NHS Trust. 
 
The Call-in Promoter (Councillor Faulkner (A)) set out the reasons for calling-in the 
decision and each of the Call-in Supporters also addressed the Board about their 
concerns regarding the decision. 
 
The Mayor and Executive Lead for Adult Social Care and Older People responded 
to the points raised by both the Call-in Promoter and Supporters and the Members 
of the Board including: 
 

• Torbay and Southern Devon Health and Care NHS Trust had been working 
in partnership with the families and carers of the Occombe residents to 
identify a suitable alternative provider who will develop supported living 
arrangements for the residents on the Occombe site.  All meetings with 
potential future providers had had family and staff representation and this 
would continue throughout the process. 

 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Overview and Scrutiny Board   Tuesday, 30 October 2012 
 

 

• It was expected that the contract would be let by the end of November 
2012. 

 

• It was anticipated that, if a preferred bidder can be identified by the end of 
2012 and planning permission is granted for the development of the site by 
South Hams District Council, the supported living accommodation could be 
complete within 12-15 months. 

 
Resolved:  that no further action be taken. 

 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Page 2



1 
 

 

 

 

Helping you cope with the changes to 

Council Tax Benefit 

 

 

Consultation Feedback 

October 2012 

 

 

 

 

Survey Results (pages 2 – 22) 
Stakeholder Event Feedback (pages 23 – 29) 

Agenda Item 5

Page 3



2 
 

 

 

Helping you cope with the changes to 

Council Tax Benefit 

 

 

Survey Results 

October 2012 

 

 

This consultation was open between 6 August and 5 October 2012 

Method 
Number of 

questionnaires 
returned 

Percent of 
questionnaires 

returned 

Paper 325 52.3 

Online 297 47.7 

Total 622 100.0% 

 

• 16.8% of questionnaires distributed via Libraries and Connections were returned. 

• 8.7% of questionnaires distributed by post to Council Tax payers and claimants were 
returned. 

 

Page 4



3 
 

1. Introduction 

 
As part of the Government's welfare reforms, Council Tax Benefit is being removed and Torbay 
Council like all councils will have to design a local scheme called Council Tax Support.  This will 
affect all people of working age who currently receive Council Tax Benefit.  Pensioners will have a 
Council Tax Support Scheme set nationally and so will not be affected by changes to the local 
scheme. 
 
At the same time as this, the Government will be reducing the amount of money it provides 
councils to support local Council Tax Support schemes.  As a result there will be a smaller pot of 
money to support customers who have been receiving this benefit.  Torbay Council has to 
consider how we can design a local scheme that is as fair as possible to those people who are 
affected.  This means we have to make some difficult decisions about who gets financial support 
and how much we can afford to give them.  All working age customers who currently receive 
Council Tax Benefit will be affected by these proposals.  However, there will be a small fund 
available to assist customers who are experiencing exceptional financial hardship. 
 
The questionnaire was designed to ask the views of those people in receipt of Council Tax Benefit 
as well as those who are not on the Council’s draft proposals for a Council Tax Scheme.   

 

2. Methodology 

 
Questionnaires were made available online and were distributed through libraries and 
Connections offices.  Over 9,000 council tax benefit claimants were notified of the consultation by 
post and an additional 1,068 copies of the questionnaire were sent to claimants and Council Tax 
payers by post.   
 
Members of the Council’s ViewPoint Panel and the Stakeholder database were emailed to notify 
them of the consultation.  During the final two weeks Customer Service Advisors actively 
approached members of the public in Connections offices to complete the questionnaire. 
 
The profile of respondents to this survey is as follows:  
 

• Most respondents are aged between 35 and 64 (69%) 

• Nearly half of respondents are employed (43.8%) 

• A tenth are unemployed (11.5%) 

• Just under a third of respondents said they have a disability (29.8%) 

• Nearly all the respondents were responding as a resident of Torbay (96.5%) 

• Just over half of respondents were currently in receipt of Council Tax Benefit at the time of 
completing the questionnaire (52.4%). 

 

Page 5



4 
 

 

3. Summary of results 
 

Proposal One: Everyone should pay something towards their Council Tax 
• 56.1% agree with the proposal that everyone should pay something towards Council Tax 

• 44.7% agreed that everyone of working age should pay at least 25% of their Council Tax 
bill, while 43.2% disagreed.   

• Nearly half (46.1%) of respondents said they would be affected by the proposal. 
 

Proposal Two: Limiting the amount of Council Tax Support for working age people 
to a Band D charge 

• 59.8% of respondents agreed that people who live in higher band properties and claim 
Council Tax Benefit should pay more.   

• 54.5% of respondents agreed that Council Tax Support should be capped to the level of 
Band D.   

• Most respondents (85.2%) said they would not be affected by the proposal. 
 

Proposal Three: Reduce the savings limit from £16,000 to £6,000 for working-age 
people 

• 47.5% of respondents agreed with the proposal that Council Tax Support should not be 
paid to people with savings.   

• 44.8% of respondents agreed with reducing the savings limit to £6,000 from £16,000, while 
42.1% disagreed. 

• Nearly all respondents (93.9%) said they would not be affected by this proposal. 
 

Proposal Four: Removing the Second Adult Rebate 
• 44% of respondents agreed with removing the Second Adult Rebate, while 32.9% 

disagreed with this proposal.   

• Nearly all respondents (92.1%) would not be affected by this proposal. 
 
 

Page 6



5 
 

 

4. Results 
 

4.1 Proposal One: Everyone should pay something towards their Council 
Tax 

 
Under the new scheme everyone of working age who gets Council Tax Benefit would have to pay 
at least 25% towards their Council Tax bill.  This means that the maximum amount of Council Tax 
Benefit that can be claimed is reduced from 100% to 75%. 
 

Q1a) How strongly do you agree or disagree that all working age people should pay 
something towards their Council Tax? 

 

 Number Percent 

Strongly agree 168 27.3 

Agree 177 28.8 

Total Strongly agree or agree 345 56.1 

Neither agree nor disagree 61 9.9 

Disagree 80 13.0 

Strongly disagree 129 21.0 

Total Disagree or strongly 
disagree 

209 34.0 

Total 615 100.0% 

 

Q1b)  How strongly do you agree or disagree that all working age people should pay at 
least 25% of their Council Tax bill? 
 

 Number Percent 

Strongly agree 130 21.2 

Agree 144 23.5 

Total strongly agree or agree 274 44.7 

Neither agree nor disagree 74 12.1 

Disagree 113 18.4 

Strongly disagree 152 24.8 

Total disagree or strongly 
disagree 

265 43.2 

Total 613 100.0% 

 
Percent of respondents who agree or disagree that all working age people should 
pay at least 25% of their Council Tax bill split by Council Tax Benefit claimants. 

  
  

Currently receive Council Tax Benefit 

Yes No Don't know 

Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent 

Strongly agree 22 7.0 99 37.9 6 26.1 

Agree 58 18.5 76 29.1 5 21.7 

Neither agree nor disagree 51 16.2 15 5.7 5 21.7 

Disagree 71 22.6 34 13.0 6 26.1 

Strongly disagree 112 35.7 37 14.2 1 4.3 

Page 7



6 
 

Total 314 100.0% 261 100.0% 23 100.0% 

 

Q1c) Would this proposal have an effect on your household? 
 

  Number Percent 

Yes 277 46.1% 

No  324 53.9% 

Total 569 100.0% 

 
Figure 1 below shows the percent of respondents with protected characteristics who will be 
affected by the proposal: 
 

• 69.4% of people with disabilities said they will be affected by the proposal 

• Two thirds of people aged 16-24 say they will be affected by this proposal 
 

Figure 1: Percent of respondents with protected characteristics who will be affected if everyone paid 
something towards their Council Tax 

4
1
.6
%

5
0
.5
%

0
.0
%

6
6
.7
%

4
3
.8
%

5
8
.5
%

5
0
.7
%

5
0
.7
%

7
.8
%

5
.3
%

6
9
.4
%

3
6
.1
%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

M
a
le

F
e
m
a
le

0
-1
5

1
6
-2
4

2
5
-3
4

3
5
-4
4

4
5
-5
4

5
5
-6
4

6
5
-7
4

7
5
+

Y
e
s

N
o

Gender Age Disability

%
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
d

e
n

ts
 t

h
a

t 
w

il
l 

b
e

 e
ff

e
ct

e
d

 

b
y

 t
h

e
 p

ro
p

o
sa

l

Protected Characteristic

 

 
Those respondents who said this proposal would have an effect on their household were asked to 
say what they felt this would be.  Most respondents said that under this proposal they would have 
to pay something or more towards their council tax.  For many of these they outlined they would 
be worse off because of this specific proposal as they were currently on low incomes / wages.  
Most significant was the concern raised by respondents who have a disability or are carers and 
their ability to pay the increase as they are unable to work.  
 
While the majority of respondents outlined a negative impact on their household, a very small 
number appreciated that all people should contribute, although this should be means tested: 
  
“However, I do feel a contribution should be made but I think an assessment of whether people can pay the 
25% is achievable!” 

 
“Pay something is OK but Council Tax is too high” 

 
“Maybe a lesser contribution – 10 – 15% could be considered” 

Page 8



7 
 

Key issues with examples of comments regarding proposal one are outlined in the table below: 
 

 Comments made by respondents 

Disability and 
concern about 
affording more  

“Being disabled and on a fixed income this would reduce the amount 
available for food and heating and lighting. Which being unable to add 
income through work would possibly put mine and other disabled people’s 
health even more at risk” 

“I am a disabled person under 65 and am unable to work and my partner 
can only work part time as she has to care for me, we only just exist as it 
is” 

“I am disabled and unable to work, in receipt of DLA and Employment 
Support Allowance support group. With a limited income how am I 
expected to suddenly be able to afford 25% of my Council Tax bill…” 

“I am disabled on benefits not by my choice, having to pay my Council Tax 
would cause me a lot of problems with my finances” 

Struggle to pay  

“With the increase of all other utility bills … to add yet another bill to this 
most certainly have a negative impact on the already stretched household 
budget” 

“I am on income support … the reduction on Housing Benefit has made 
money tight, I do not think I could find the money to pay” 

“I am on a very limited budget I’m not going to be able to afford to pay 
more at this rate with cuts to Housing Benefit…”  

Current 
benefits only 
cover cost of 

living 

“As far as I was aware the money we receive is the correct amount we 
need to live on, so how would we have enough to pay for anymore 
expense.” 

“Currently receive full Council Tax Benefit worried about the effect it will 
have on minimal income (also on income support) as this is the bare 
minimum the government says we can live on but struggle in these 
economic times to keep on top of bills and feed my children. However I do 
feel a contribution should be made but I think an assessment of whether 
people can pay the 25% is achievable” 

Need to make 
choices about 

bills 

“Finding the money would be difficult probably having to reduce food, 
electric and heating.” 

“I would not be able to pay all the bills coming in, I would have to see 
which ones I will pay each month” 

“…I would not be able to pay anything towards this without going without 
food or utilities” 

“If I had to pay towards Council Tax I would find it hard to pay my other 
bills and buy food” 

Financial 
hardship and 

debt 

“We currently receive Council Tax Benefit and feel that paying 25% on top 
of the amount we already pay would leave us struggling financially.” 

“Not enough money coming in. Food costs more. Utilities cost more paying 
towards council tax in my situation will mean being more into overdraft and 
debt” 

Caring 
responsibilities 

“I am a carer for my disabled son…I would have to use my child’s DLA to 
make ends meet rather than on him which I think is wrong” 

“I am a full time carer for my daughter with disability and unable to work, 
life is a struggle coping with her needs as well as finances this would make 
life even more difficult and care needs for her would be affected” 

Page 9



8 
 

Q1d) Do you have any comments about Proposal One? 
 
There were a wide variety of comments in relation to this proposal and divided opinion. Some 
views which were put forward in answer to 1c were replicated especially in relation to the struggle 
for people on low incomes and their ability to find this money and pay.  However, there was 
also some agreement for this proposal and scheme with a common view that everyone should 
contribute.  
 
The table below highlights the key issues / themes identified in the responses to this question:  
 

 Comments made by respondents 

25% is high – 
consider 
another 

amount / based 
on ability to 

pay 

“25% is quite a lot, surely a starting point of say 10% would be better” 

“Council tax should be based on the ability to pay.  All working should pay 
something but it should be related to income” 

“Everybody’s case should be assesses on an individual basis” 

“It should be means tested for those on a low income” 

“It should be dependent on personal / household circumstances. Not just 
across the board for everyone” 

“If it had to be this proposal, would be OK with 10%-15%, but not 25%” 

“I agree in principle everybody should pay something towards their Council 
Tax bill but 25% is an unrealistic amount for working age people in receipt 
of benefits” 

“I feel that the level of contribution should be based on circumstance 
between 10% and 25% and not a flat rate for all.” 

Everyone 
should pay 
something  

“Everybody should pay something towards council tax.  They use the 
services provided by council so they should pay” 

“Everyone-including pensioners, should make some contribution” 

“Pay at least 25% agree!” 

“Everybody benefits from the services so why should they not contribute a 
small amount” 

“Everyone should contribute something – these people are usually using 
more services than most” 

“I work and pay 100% of my bill, so should everyone else who works” 

“The pain should be borne by all so pensioners should be included” 

“Most people on benefits seem to be better off than working people! They 
could contribute a little at least.” 

People will 
struggle to pay 
/ can’t afford 

“I possibly do think that everyone should pay something towards their 
council tax, but I just don’t see where people will find the extra money” 

“It would be impossible for families to find the money” 

“Maybe not for people on JSA as it is hard enough for them to make ends 
meet let alone having to find money for Council Tax” 

“Not everyone can afford this” 

“Means tested benefits are set at the minimum necessary to survive and 
will not allow for such a dramatic increase in living expenses” 

“This is going to cause an awful lot more stress and financial hardship to 
those of us who already struggle to make ends meet.” 

Page 10



9 
 

Protection for 
most 

vulnerable 

“Only those with severe physical or mental problems should be totally 
exempt” 

“Along with pensioners, I wonder if vulnerable adults and their carers are to 
be protected?” 

“Disabled and carers should be exempt if unable to get any other income 
than state benefits” 

“People of working age with disabilities should not have to pay any Council 
Tax” 

“I agree that working age should pay Council Tax. But not those who, 
through no fault of their own, cannot either get a job or are on the sick.  
Those are the poorest people in the country and it’s not right to further hit 
them with extra charges.” 

Proposal 
hitting those 

on low 
incomes 

“Cuts will only affect the poor” 

“This would make the poorest even poor” 

“How are people on very low incomes going to pay for this?” 

“I think this proposal is unfair on the unemployed and low incomes.” 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 11



10 
 

 

4.2 Proposal Two: Limiting the amount of Council Tax Support for working 
age people to a Band D charge 

 
Currently there are no restrictions on the amount of Council Tax Benefit that can be paid.  This 
means that a person on a low income could get all their Council Tax paid even if they live in a 
large house with a high Council Tax band.  The lowest band is A, with the highest being H.  
Proposal Two would limit this to the Band D charge, which is the average band.  So, if you live in a 
Band E, F, G or H property, we would reduce your Council Tax Support to that of a Band D 
householder. 
 
 

Q2a) How strongly do you agree or disagree that working age people living in properties 
with a higher Council Tax charge who currently receive Council Tax Benefit should 
pay more? 

 

 Number Percent 

Strongly agree 175 28.8 

Agree 188 31.0 

Total strongly agree or agree 363 59.8 

Neither agree nor disagree 88 14.5 

Disagree 88 14.5 

Strongly disagree 68 11.2 

Total disagree or strongly 
disagree 

156 25.7 

Total 607 100.0% 

 
 
Q2b)  How strongly do you agree or disagree with us limiting the amount of Council Tax 

Support to a Band D charge for working age people? 
 

 Number Percent 

Strongly agree 150 24.9 

Agree 178 29.6 

Total strongly agree or agree 328 54.5 

Neither agree nor disagree 117 19.4 

Disagree 80 13.3 

Strongly disagree 77 12.8 

Total disagree or strongly 
disagree 

157 26.1 

Total 602 100.0% 

 

Page 12



11 
 

 

 
Percent of respondents who agree or disagree with limiting the amount of Council 
Tax Support to a Band D charge for working age people by Council Tax Benefit 
claimants. 

  
  

Currently receive Council Tax Benefit 

Yes No Don't know 
Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent 

Strongly agree 48 15.6 98 38.0 2 8.7 

Agree 89 29.0 82 31.8 4 17.4 

Neither agree nor disagree 71 23.1 30 11.6 10 43.5 

Disagree 42 13.7 32 12.4 5 21.7 

Strongly disagree 57 18.6 16 6.2 2 8.7 

Total 307 100.0% 258 100.0% 23 100.0% 

 
 

Q2c) Would this proposal have an effect on your household? 
 

  Number Percent 

Yes 84 14.8 

No  485 85.2 

Total 569 100.0% 

 

Figure 2 below shows the percent of respondents with protected groups who will be affected by 
the proposal: 
 

• 25% of people with disabilities said they are likely to affected by this proposal 

• People aged 45 and above were more likely to say they will be affected by this proposal 
 

Figure 2: Percent of respondents with protected characteristics who would be affected if the amount 
of Council Tax Support for working age people was limited to a Band D charge. 

 

 

Page 13



12 
 

Those respondents who said this proposal would have an effect on their household were asked to 
say what they felt this would be.  The main themes identified from respondents in relation to this 
proposal were higher costs to pay and concern this proposal would cause them greater 
hardship and may have to move.   
 
Key issues with examples of comments regarding proposal one are outlined in the below: 
 

 Comments made by respondents 

Find it difficult 
to pay / cannot 

afford 

“Do not know if we would be able to afford it” 

“I would suffer greater hardship” 

“I do not have any spare money to now pay council tax!” 

“I’m struggling to pay my normal household bills already this is going to put 
pressure on our family now” 

 “Less money to pay for everyday essentials and bills” 

Would have to 
move 

“I own my house …and unable to work and in receipt of disability. My 
home and garden act as my therapy so I need to keep it but this could 
mean I have to sell” 

“I am disabled and already cannot afford to live…I own my own house so 
get no housing benefit so this rise would cripple me putting me into rented 
accommodation” 

 
 

Q2d) Do you have any comments about Proposal Two? 
 
Similar to question 1d, there were a wide variety of comments in relation to this proposal and 
divided opinion.  Many respondents felt that this was a fair proposal and that people who would be 
affected should make choices about their ability to afford a home with a higher council tax 
banding.   
 
Some respondents however, highlighted their concern that some families and people with a 
disability need larger properties, they may be on low incomes and not able to afford a 
contribution towards their Council Tax, potentially creating financial hardship for that household.  
Within the responses to this question, some respondents felt that the council needed to offer 
support to those affected.  
 
There was an acknowledgement within the responses that people’s circumstances change i.e. 
people get made redundant and that support should be available to these households.  
 
The table below highlights the key issues / themes identified in the responses to this question:  
 

 Comments made by respondents 

Should depend 
on 

circumstances 

“This proposal does not take into account individual circumstances”  

“It really depends on the amount of money coming into the higher band 
home. If the occupier can afford to pay something towards their council tax 
then they should” 

“I think consideration should be given to each individual’s situation.  Just 
because you live in an expensive property does not mean you have lots of 
money.” 

Page 14



13 
 

 

Based on 
income not 
property 

“Ability to pay has to be related to income not the value of the property” 

“Accurate and fair means testing would give a result which was based on 
disposable income irrespective of house size” 

“it cannot be assumed that because someone is living in a higher banded 
property they have higher disposable incomes” 

“to expect a low income household to pay more because they’re living in a 
higher banded property is not fair. It is not a true reflection of their 
circumstances, and will only make their hardship much worse” 

Find it difficult 
to pay  

“How are people on minimum wage supposed to find this money?” 

“For some larger families living in larger accommodation and in receipt of 
benefits this will be unmanageable” 

“How do you expect anyone to suddenly find an extra £1400 a year when 
there is no work and no chance of getting any” 

“If you are on a low income it simply doesn’t matter where you live.  You 
simply have no spare money” 

“More people will be pushed into debt” 

“Non-working people on benefits would be badly affected and so would 
disabled people who might through no fault of their own be living in higher 
banded properties. The band of property does not mean that a person has 
more income with which to pay” 

If people live in 
a larger 

property, they 
can afford their 

Council Tax 
bill 

“Someone who lives in a larger property also should make the choice to 
live only in housing they can afford” 

“Bigger the house the more you pay, seems fair” 

“Don’t live in a house if you can’t afford the overheads” 

“If they can live in these expensive properties then they should be able to 
pay council tax” 

People could 
move 

“People could be encouraged to move into cheaper properties” 

“I would prefer those people in the higher band houses pay the full Council 
Tax, if they can’t afford it get a smaller house” 

“People in larger houses should downsize if they cannot afford to pay the 
rated the house requires” 

Alternative 
options  

“Perhaps a reducing amount should be introduced over a period of time to 
enable people to find work or move”  

“You should consider paying full Council Tax Benefit, but for a limited 
period, to give occupiers a chance to either sell the property and downsize 
or to find another job”  

“I think the full amount should be paid for the first 6 months and then it gets 
reduced by a percentage or in accordance with the band d” 

Support 
Council should 

offer 

“If you are going to do this you should offer to support people by re-
housing them into suitable council tax banded house” 

“This would be potentially acceptable if there is an active scheme in 
operation by the council to help persons in genuine need move to a lower 
taxed property” 

“The council or housing associations should help them find properties if 
they have too much space” 

Page 15



14 
 

 

4.3 Proposal Three: Reduce the savings limit from £16,000 to £6,000 for 

working-age people 

At present, a person is not entitled to Council Tax Benefit when their savings and investments are 
more than £16,000.  This would include savings of a partner who lives in the same household.  
Under this proposal working age people with savings and investments worth more than £6,000 
would not be entitled to any Council Tax Support. 
 
 

Q3a) How strongly do you agree or disagree that Council Tax Support should not be paid 
to people with some savings or investments? 

 

 Number Percent 

Strongly agree 125 20.9 

Agree 159 26.6 

Total Strongly agree or agree 284 47.5 

Neither agree nor disagree 99 16.6 

Disagree 129 21.6 

Strongly disagree 86 14.4 

Total Disagree or strongly 
disagree 

215 36.0 

Total 598 100.0% 

 
Q3b)  How strongly do you agree or disagree with reducing the savings limit from £16,000 

to £6,000? 
 

 Number Percent 

Strongly agree 125 21.0 

Agree 142 23.8 

Total Strongly agree or agree 267 44.8 

Neither agree nor disagree 78 13.1 

Disagree 132 22.1 

Strongly disagree 119 20.0 

Total Disagree or strongly 
disagree 

251 42.1 

Total 596 100.0% 
 

Page 16



15 
 

Percent of respondents who agree or disagree with reducing the savings limit from 
£16,000 to £6,000 by Council Tax Benefit claimants. 

  
  

Currently receive Council Tax Benefit 

Yes No Don't know 
Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent 

Strongly agree 56 18.3 62 23.9 3 13.0 

Agree 75 24.5 62 23.9 4 17.4 

Neither agree nor disagree 47 15.4 24 9.3 6 26.1 

Disagree 64 20.9 61 23.6 5 21.7 

Strongly disagree 64 20.9 50 19.3 5 21.7 

Total 306 100.0% 259 100.0% 23 100.0% 

 
 
Q3c) Would this proposal have an effect on your household? 
 

  Number Percent 

Yes 35 6.1 

No  538 93.9 

Total 573 100.0% 

 
 

Figure 3: Percent of respondents with protected characteristics who will be affected the savings limit 
is reduced from £16,000 to £6,000 for working-age people 

4
.6
% 7
.3
%

0
.0
%

8
.7
%

1
.4
%

5
.8
%

9
.3
%

5
.5
%

3
.2
%

1
1
.8
%

1
0
.3
%

4
.1
%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

M
a
le

F
e
m
a
le

0
-1
5

1
6
-2
4

2
5
-3
4

3
5
-4
4

4
5
-5
4

5
5
-6
4

6
5
-7
4

7
5
+

Y
e
s

N
o

Gender Age Disability

%
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
d

e
n

ts
 t

h
a

t 
w

il
l 

b
e

 e
ff

e
ct

e
d

 

b
y

 t
h

e
 p

ro
p

o
sa

l

Protected Characteristic
 

 
 

Those respondents who said this proposal would have an effect on their household were asked to 
say what they felt this would be. There were only 41 comments made in relation to the affect this 
proposal would have and many were general comments about the scheme.  However, for those 
who did outline an affect this was again focussed on their ability to afford the bill as they would 
be expected to make a contribution under this proposal.  Examples of this are outlined by the 
quotes below: 

 
“I would no longer be able to receive council tax benefit…it’s the one thing that keeps me going” 

Page 17



16 
 

 
“Cannot afford to pay. Would not leave enough money each month” 
 
“It would confine us to the house as I wouldn’t be able to afford to run my car” 

 
 
Q3d) Do you have any comments about Proposal Three? 
 
There were a wide variety of comments in relation to this proposal and divided opinion.  Some 
respondents felt that the proposal was unfair, penalising those that had made the efforts to save, 
while others felt that claimants could afford their council tax if they had money in savings.  There 
were also many comments relating to the savings threshold and that the drop to £6,000 was 
drastic, suggesting alternative amounts, particularly £10,000.  
 
The table below highlights the key issues / themes identified in the responses to this question:  
 

 Comments made by respondents 

Unfair / 
penalising  

“£16,000 is about right (£6,000 is too low) why punish people for being 
careful and building up something for a rainy day” 

 “I feel this should not change, when you consider the high price of food, 
utility bills…” 

“People should be able to have a reasonable amount of savings which 
should not be penalised.  £16,000 should be the limit” 

“Savings should not be taken into account” 

“Why should people who have managed to save hard be penalised?” 

“Just because people have taken the time to save, they shouldn’t be 
penalised” 

Agree / 
reasonable 
proposal 

“I agree 100% with proposal three, and can see no reasonable argument 
against it” 

“I think that if people have savings or investments they should make a 
proportional contribution” 

“If they have over £6,000 they should be able to afford their bill anyway” 

“Council tax benefit should support those in financial difficulties.  If they 
have savings of any amount they should use these before resorting to 
taxpayers money” 

“People that have savings can plainly afford to have the savings limit 
reduced” 

Alternative 
savings limit 

“Drop it down from £16,000 to £10,000” 

“I think the savings limit should be around £10,000” 

“A level of £10,000 rather than £6,000 would be better” 

“A reduction to £6,000 is too drastic. A reduction to say £12,000 would be 
more reasonable” 

“Reduce the limit to £10,000 not £6,000” 

Page 18



17 
 

 

Reduces the 
incentive to 

save 

“Higher outgoings on costs reduce incentive to save” 

“This reduces the incentive for people to save money or improve their 
situation” 

“There would be less incentive to save if people thought their savings 
could be taken from them” 

“At a time when there is huge emphasis on saving for the future – this 
scheme would discourage saving and erode savings” 

Should relate 
to income / 

circumstances  

“Council tax should be related to a person’s earnings or if the person is 
retired, to their pension after tax” 

“Council tax should be based on ability to pay” 

“This ‘blanket policy’ is unfair. I feel it should depend on the individuals 
circumstances and take those into account” 

“Council tax should be based on ability to pay” 

Page 19



18 
 

 

4.4 Proposal Four: Removing the Second Adult Rebate 
 
Currently, Second Adult Rebate can be given when there is one person in a property who is liable 
to pay council tax but lives with someone over the age of 18 (not a partner, boarder or tenant) who 
is on a low income.  Council Tax Benefit of up to 25% can be given but no account is taken of the 
main person's income.  Under this proposal, Second Adult Rebate would be abolished and Council 
Tax Support would only be considered by taking account of both incomes. 
 

Q4a) How strongly do you agree or disagree with removing the Second Adult Rebate for 
working-age people? 

 

 Number Percent 

Strongly agree 128 21.6 

Agree 133 22.4 

Total Strongly agree or agree 261 44.0 

Neither agree nor disagree 137 23.1 

Disagree 115 19.4 

Strongly disagree 80 13.5 

Total Disagree or strongly 
disagree 

195 32.9 

Total 593 100.0% 

 

Percent of respondents who agree or disagree with removing the Second Adult 
Rebate for working-age people by Council Tax Benefit claimants. 

  
  

Currently receive Council Tax Benefit 

Yes No Don't know 

Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent 

Strongly agree 42 13.7 86 33.2 0 0.0 

Agree 61 19.9 66 25.5 5 22.7 

Neither agree nor disagree 78 25.5 44 17.0 11 50.0 

Disagree 66 21.6 43 16.6 5 22.7 

Strongly disagree 59 19.3 20 7.7 1 4.5 

Total 306 100.0% 259 100.0% 22 100.0% 

 
 
Q4b) Would this proposal have an effect on your household? 
 

  Number Percent 

Yes 45 7.9 

No  525 92.1 

Total 570 100.0% 

 
Figure 4 below shows no major differences between protected characteristics. 
 
 

 

Page 20



19 
 

 

Figure 4: Percent of respondents with protected characteristics who will be affected by removing the 
Second Adult Rebate for working-age people  

6
.5
% 9
.4
%

0
.0
%

4
.0
%

5
.7
%

8
.9
%

1
1
.0
%

8
.7
%

3
.2
% 5
.6
%

1
1
.0
%

6
.9
%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

M
a
le

F
e
m
a
le

0
-1
5

1
6
-2
4

2
5
-3
4

3
5
-4
4

4
5
-5
4

5
5
-6
4

6
5
-7
4

7
5
+

Y
e
s

N
o

Gender Age Disability

%
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
d

e
n

ts
 t

h
a

t 
w

il
l 

b
e

 e
ff

e
ct

e
d

 

b
y

 t
h

e
 p

ro
p

o
sa

l

Protected Characteristic

 

 
Those respondents who said this proposal would have an effect on their household were asked to 
say what they felt this would be.  The main themes identified from respondents in relation to this 
proposal were higher costs to pay and concern this proposal would cause them greater 
hardship.   
 
Key issues with examples of comments regarding proposal one are outlined in the below: 
 

 Comments made by respondents 

Financial 
hardship 

“I feel this proposal would put more stress on my mother while is currently 
supporting me, due to circumstances” 

“It would mean if my son was still at home I would have to get a fourth job 
or find the money to pay the council tax in other ways. Such as going 
without food or and heating in the winter” 

“It is difficult to cover all bills in this economic time” 

Adverse affect 
on second 

adult 

“My daughter is studying at the moment. I get the relief because she isn't 
earning.  If this changed she might have to leave further education to help 
pay the increased cost” 

“When my son is 18 I would have to pay 100% charge and if I was the only 
person working I am being penalised for giving my son a home rather than 
having to evict him as financially this situation would not be viable, ergo, he 
would have to approach housing services which would cost the council 
more than the 25% second adult rebate I would have received in the first 
place” 

Agree with 
proposal 

“We would be likely to pay more. But it's fair.” 

 
 
 
 

Page 21



20 
 

Q4c) Do you have any comments about Proposal Four? 
 
There were a wide variety of comments in relation to this proposal and divided opinion.  Some 
respondents agreed with the proposal, feeling that everyone should contribute.  However, key 
themes also identified included benefit being means tested and concerns regarding financial 
hardship and what the consequences of this might be for some claimants. 
 
The table below highlights the key issues / themes identified in the responses to this question:  
 

 Comments made by respondents 

Agree with 
proposal 

“If a household as a whole is able to pay then they should” 

“If an adult of working age is employed and earning enough to pay the full 
council tax charge they should pay the full amount regardless of who lives 
with them. “ 

“The second adult should contribute to their upkeep from whatever income 
they receive” 

“Why should the first adult be responsible for the second adult?” 

Disagree / 
unfair scheme 

“I am lucky enough to be in a position to pay for my son, who is out of 
work. I know people who would find it hard without the rebate” 

“I feel this would penalise parents with young unemployed people who are 
struggling to get jobs” 

“Not a solution in my opinion” 

 “Disadvantages people with young adults in the family finding it impossible 
to find work.” 

Means tested / 
individual 

circumstances 

“Assessments should always be based on household income” 

“Every case should be dealt with separately. It is unlikely that two cases 
would be identical. Means testing would be the fairest way of dealing with 
this proposal” 

“It seems sensible that the available income in the household should be 
the ruling factor. If this is high enough the full amount should be paid. If 
one of the occupants is not working the council tax should be reduced” 

“A way of testing income against expenditure should be adopted to help 
those who can prove most deserving need” 

“Ability to pay e.g. means tested should be the only criteria.” 

Could lead to 
homelessness 

“I would worry that under this proposal could lead to homeless youngsters” 

“This is a cruel and would result in ‘young people’ becoming homeless” 

“The cost of adult children leaving home would be far greater than the 
relief currently given” 

“This will mean more young people are homeless” 

Cause financial 
strain  

“These proposals would affect the poorest section of residents and would 
produce problems elsewhere.” 

“This is yet another way to get people on lower incomes with 
responsibilities to pay more. If we don't have the money what happens?” 

“You cannot penalise parents trying to support their children who are 
struggling to find work in this climate” 

“I think this is a good idea but it may cause some household severe 
hardship” 

Page 22



21 
 

5. Respondent Profile 
 
Q5) Are you completing this questionnaire as: 
 

 Number Percent 

A resident of Torbay 581 96.5 

An organisation 4 0.7 

A voluntary / community group 1 0.2 

A business 3 0.5 

A landlord 2 0.3 

Other (please write in below) 11 1.8 

Total 602 100.0% 

 
Respondents who answered ‘other’ described themselves as: 

• Hoping to move here  

• Residents of neighbouring areas 

• Visitors to the area 

• Church of England Minister 
 
Respondents who answered on behalf of organisations or voluntary groups did so on behalf of: 

• Cool recovery 

• MS Society 

• JobCentrePlus 

• Magna Housing Association 

• Torbay Citizens Advice Bureau 
 
 
Q6) Do you pay your council tax to Torbay Council? 
 

  Number Percent 

Yes 474 80.7 

No  113 19.3 

Total 587 100.0% 

(Please note: It became apparent that there was some confusion as to whether respondents whose council 
tax is paid directly by Council Tax Benefit but who live in Torbay should answer yes or no) 

 
Q7) Does your household currently receive Council Tax Benefit from Torbay Council? 
 

  Number Percent 

Yes 317 52.4 

No  265 43.8 

Don't know 23 3.8 

Total 605 100.0% 

(Please note: this may not identify respondents who live outside Torbay and whom are in receipt of Council 
Tax Benefit from their local authority) 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



22 
 

Q8) Are you male or female? 
 

  Number Percent 

Male 275 46.9 

Female 311 53.1 

Total 586 100.0 

 
Q9) Which age group do you belong to? 

 

 Number Percent 

0-15 0 0.0 

16-24 26 4.3 

25-34 74 12.3 

35-44 127 21.1 

45-54 149 24.8 

55-64 139 23.1 

65-74 66 11.0 

75+ 20 3.3 

Total 601 100.0% 

 
 
Q10) Which of the following best describes your working status? 

 

 Number Percent 

Employed (full or part time) 260 43.8 

Full time education at school, college or university 3 0.5 

Unemployed 68 11.5 

Permanently sick / disabled 125 21.1 

Wholly retired from work 97 16.4 

Doing something else 40 6.7 

Total 593 100.0% 

 
Q11) Do you consider yourself to be disabled in any way? 
 

  Number Percent 

Yes 177 29.8 

No  417 70.2 

Total 594 100.0% 

 
The 176 respondents who described their disability did so as:  
(Please note respondents may have more than one disability) 

 Number Percent 

Mobility 122 69.3 

Hearing 24 13.6 

Vision 29 16.5 

Mental health 30 17.0 

Other 68 38.6 
 

Page 24



23 
 

 
 
Q12) What is your ethnic origin? 
 

 Number Percent 

British 556 97.0 

Irish 1 0.2 

White other 10 1.7 

White & Black Caribbean 0 0.0 

White & Black African 0 0.0 

White & Asian 2 0.3 

Indian 1 0.2 

Pakistani 0 0.0 

Bangladeshi 0 0.0 

Caribbean 0 0.0 

African 0 0.0 

Chinese 0 0.0 

Other (please state below) 3 0.5 

Total 573 100.0% 

 
 
Q13) What is your home postcode? 
 

We have classified respondents by their postcode into towns. 
 

  Number Percent 

Torquay 320 56.9 

Paignton 158 28.1 

Brixham 73 13.0 

Outside Torbay 11 2.0 

Total 562 100.0% 

 

Page 25



24 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stakeholder Event: Feedback 

 

23
rd

 October 2012 

 

 

 

Page 26



25 
 

1. Introduction 

 
As part of the Government's welfare reforms, Council Tax Benefit is being removed and Torbay 
Council like all councils will have to design a local scheme called Council Tax Support.  This will 
affect all people of working age who currently receive Council Tax Benefit.  Pensioners will have a 
Council Tax Support Scheme set nationally and so will not be affected by changes to the local 
scheme. 
 
In designing a local scheme, the council has consulted with residents by way of a questionnaire. 
This questionnaire was designed to ask the views of the general public (including, but not 
exclusive to, those in receipt of Council Tax Benefit at the time of the consultation) on the 
Council’s draft proposals for a Council Tax Scheme.   
 
However, as a result of a gap identified during development of the impact assessment it was also 
decided to hold a stakeholder consultation event targeted at local interest groups, voluntary sector 
organisations and those precepting authorities (including Brixham Town Council, Police, Fire).  
The event took place on the 23 October 2012 and outlined what the proposals are and what the 
impact could be on their services.   

 

 

2. Methodology 

 
A variety of organisations were invited to the event and attendance was good with over 30 people 
attending representing 13 organizations, including Action for Children, Coalition for the Disabled, 
Children’s Centre’s and the Torbay and Southern Devon Health and Care Trust.  A full list of   
organisations who attended the event can be found in Appendix One.   
 
At the event attendees were given more information about the proposals and were asked to 
participate in a round table discussion on each proposal on the following: 
 

• How will this proposal affect your clients? 

• How will this proposal affect your organisation / department? 

• How will your organisation / department support your clients? 
 

This report outlines feedback from the event by each proposal.  

 

Page 27



26 
 

3. Results 

 
3.1 Proposal One: Everyone should pay something towards their Council 

Tax 

 
How will this proposal affect your clients?  
 

The key issues identified by agencies in relation to Proposal One were: 

• Greater expenditure and inability to pay the bill, given existing outgoings i.e. food utility bills 

“The people I work for will not be able to pay for it; they cannot make ends meet as it stands” 

“For many families the 25% change will have a great effect on how they budget and many families 

will struggle to budget an extra payment” 

“Client base already a huge amount of debt where they cannot afford to even eat properly – 

pressure on families to pay additional bill” 

• Further changes to other benefits i.e. housing benefits which will place greater pressure on 

people 

“Some of these will also become liable for bedroom tax – recipe for disaster” 

“This will have a severe impact for 2 years as benefits changes kick in …e.g. ESA sanctions 

…introduction of PIP” 

• Concern regarding mental health issues and stress this will place on families. 

 

“We work with parents who have mental health and drugs issues this will increase their stress 

levels” 
 

“This will make my clients more stressed due to difficultly of making ends meet…” 

 

• Concern that clients may not understand the information in the bills  

“They would need to have an understanding on where and why they have to pay this tax” 

“Vulnerable adults will not manage to find or understand the new scheme” 

Other key issues included: 

• Clients may hide / ignore their bills  

• Demands placed on the hardship fund 

• Clients with disabilities who are not able to work and cannot afford the payments. 

 
How will this proposal affect your organisation/department?  
 

Responses to this question focussed mainly on the increased demand for service, particularly 

those services which support families.  It was felt that the proposals had the potential to create 

Page 28



27 
 

more vulnerable families would need to be supported in budgeting and would need greater levels 

of family support:  

“It will cause extra pressure on family support” 

“Families will result ion a greater vulnerable position, therefore may require more support.  More 

families may also come forward for support” 

“Increased load of difficult cases with no increase in resources” 

“Work with families around budgeting their income”. 

How will your organisation / department support your clients?  
 

Although responses to this question were somewhat limited, attendees mentioned that they would 

support their clients by referring them to the relevant departments and help them in finding out 

information regarding the hardship fund and how they can access this.  One organisation said they 

would review all of their working age clients to “ensure their financial assessments are accurate in 

line with the new changes.”  Examples of support which will be provided include: 

“Support with budgeting and signposting to services and also making sure we have the relevant 

information”  

“Once criteria have been identified we will signpost families to the hardship fund, look at their 

budgeting to see if they have a way of funding the bill”  

“By advocacy, befriending, counselling training in benefit / debt advice.” 

 

 

3.2 Proposal Two: Limiting the amount of Council Tax Support for working 
age people to a Band D charge 

 
How will this proposal affect your clients?  
 

The key issues identified by agencies in relation to proposal two were: 

• Affect their weekly outgoings / greater expenditure: 

“Added pressure on already tight budgets” 

“This will affect their weekly income/outgoings affecting whether they can afford etc therefore putting 

them into more debt ” 

• Affect on larger families: 

 “This proposal will affect a small number of clients with bigger houses due to large families” 

“Families may then try to stay in smaller houses or the lower bands to prevent this” 

“Families living in overcrowded homes” 

 

Page 29



28 
 

How will this proposal affect your organisation / department?  
 

Similar to proposal one, responses to this question focussed mainly on the increased demand for 

service: 

 “We will have more families attending our centres with concerns over money and normal daily 

outgoings”  

“Housing already difficult in the bay will this put more pressure on housing in certain bands to 

prevent paying more council tax – pressure to help clients housed will become harder”  

 
How will your organisation / department support your clients?  
 

Organisation will support their clients by continuing to provide outreach support to share 

information and advice.  

  

3.3 Proposal Three: Reduce the savings limit from £16,000 to £6,000 for 

working-age people 

How will this proposal affect your clients?  
 

The key issues identified by agencies in relation to proposal one were: 

• Clients have little or no savings: 

“The families we work with do not in general have huge amounts of savings therefore this proposal 

would be the one that least affects out clients” 

“Don’t come across many working age people who even have savings of £6,000” 

“Not sure we have many people (or working age) who this will affect” 

Other issues identified: 

• Affect on the ill / disabled who many have been left money, which they will have to use. 

• Penalising those who have saved. 

How will this proposal affect your organisation / department?  
 

Although the responses to this question in relation to this proposal were limited they included: 

 “Major impact on budget for Torbay Care Trust and will result in many changes or circumstances 

needing to be completed”  

“There could be a reduction in contributions towards service, however…(not) many of our clients will 

fall into this proposal”  

How will your organisation / department support your clients?  
 

Organisation will support their clients by continuing to provide outreach support to share 

information and advice:  

Page 30



29 
 

“A signpost to services”  

“Have correct up to date information for clients”  

“Will be financially re-assessing if needed.” 

 

3.4 Proposal Four: Removing the Second Adult Rebate 
 
How will this proposal affect your clients?  
 

The key issues identified by agencies in relation to proposal one were: 

• Proposal is not likely to affect many clients: 

“Not likely to impact on our families” 

“Very small percentage of our clients eligible for Second Adult Rebate”” 

• Financial strain: 

“They will have more expenditure. Thus having an effect on our charging system – we will then have 

to allow extra council tax and the client will then end up possibly not paying for their care” 

“Many older carers have family who live with them, this would put a strain on relationships due to 

changes in finances. Could put people off having their family in with them.” 

How will this proposal affect your organisation / department?  
 

Although the responses to this question in relation to this proposal were limited they included: 

 “Very low impact on our work but it would be looking at household income with family rather than 

individuals”  

“We won’t need to complete the forms! But if needed, financial re-assessment, this reducing 

contribution towards services and reduction in income for Torbay Care Trust”  

“This could reduce the charge for services thus reducing the revenue from charging … could this 

lead to more requests for long term residential care?” 

 
How will your organisation / department support your clients?  
 

Organisation will support their clients by continuing to provide outreach support to share 

information and advice:  

“Support with budgeting and signposting to services and also making sure we have all the relevant 

information”  

“We would financially re-assess if needed”  

“Offer an outreach and family support with money and budgeting issues, signposting to other 

agencies for advice with money” 

“Help to find suitable, affordable housing for clients.” 

Page 31



30 
 

 Appendix One:  Organisations Attendee List 
 

Organisation 
Number of 
Attendees 

Action for Children 6 

Age UK 1 

Coalition of Disabled People South Devon 1 

Community & Voluntary Action Torbay/Coalition of Disabled 
People 

1 

Devon and Cornwall Housing Group 1 

Leonard Stocks Centre 2 

SPOT (Speaking Out Torbay) 4 

Torbay and District Deaf Society 2 

Torbay and Southern Devon Health and Care - NHS Trust 2 

Torbay Carers Forum, Torbay Healthwatch, & Torbay Inter 
Faith & Belief Forum 

1 

Torbay Council 2 

Tor Homes and West Devon Homes 1 

TSDHC - Financial Assessments & Benefits Team 7 

Total 31 

 
 

Page 32



- 
1
 -

 

E
q

u
a

li
ty

 I
m

p
a

c
t 

A
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

(E
IA

):
  

   S
in

c
e
 t
h
e
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 A

c
t 

2
0
1
0
 c

a
m

e
 i
n
to

 f
o
rc

e
 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 t
o
 b

e
 c

o
m

m
it
te

d
 t

o
 e

n
s
u
ri
n
g
 w

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
m

e
e
t 

th
e
 

d
iv

e
rs

e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
o
u
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 a

s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 e

n
s
u
re

 w
e
 a

re
 a

n
 o

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 

is
 s

e
n
s
it
iv

e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
in

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

 w
it
h
in

 o
u
r 

w
o
rk

fo
rc

e
. 

 
T

h
is

 E
q
u
a
lit

y
 I

m
p
a
c
t 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

(E
IA

) 
h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 a

s
 a

 t
o
o
l 
to

 e
n
a
b
le

 b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 u

n
it
s
 t

o
 f
u
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
f 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 

d
e
c
is

io
n
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
. 

  
  

 T
h
is

 E
IA

 w
ill

 e
v
id

e
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 

y
o
u
 h

a
v
e
 f

u
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
h
e

 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 

y
o
u
r 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l/
s
tr

a
te

g
y
 a

n
d
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 k

e
y
 

s
ta

k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

. 
 T

h
e
 E

IA
 w

ill
 a

llo
w

 C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
rs

 a
n
d
 S

e
n
io

r 
O

ff
ic

e
rs

 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 i
n
fo

rm
e
d
 d

e
c
is

io
n
s
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 d

e
c
is

io
n
-m

a
k
in

g
 

p
ro

c
e
s
s
. 

  
   R
e
le
v
a
n
c
e
 T
e
s
t 
–
 ‘
A
 P
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
 A
p
p
ro
a
c
h
’ 

 N
o
t 

a
ll 

o
f 

th
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 o
r 

s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
 w

e
 p

u
t 
fo

rw
a
rd

 w
ill

 b
e
 ‘
re

le
v
a
n
t’
 i
n
 t

e
rm

s
 o

f 
th

e
 a

c
tu

a
l 
o
r 

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
im

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 

to
 e

q
u
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 g
ro

u
p
s
. 
 F

o
r 

in
s
ta

n
c
e
, 

a
 r

e
p
o
rt

 o
n
 c

h
a
n
g
in

g
 a

 s
u
p
p
lie

r 
o
f 

c
o
p
ie

r 
p
a
p
e
r 

m
a
y
 n

o
t 
re

q
u
ir
e
 a

 E
IA

 t
o
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 

w
h
e
re

a
s
 a

 r
e
p
o
rt

 o
u
tl
in

in
g
 a

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
fo

r 
a
 n

e
w

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 s

w
im

m
in

g
 p

o
o
l 
o
r 

a
 r

e
p
o
rt

 p
ro

p
o
s
in

g
 a

 c
lo

s
u
re

 o
f 

a
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 w

o
u
ld

. 
  

 T
h
e
re

fo
re

 b
e
fo

re
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
n
g
 t

h
e
 E

IA
 p

le
a
s
e
 a

n
s
w

e
r 

th
e
 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 q

u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
. 
 I
f 

y
o
u
 a

n
s
w

e
r 

‘y
e
s
’ 
to

 a
n
y
 o

f 
th

e
 q

u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 b

e
lo

w
 y

o
u
 m

u
s
t 

c
o
m

p
le

te
 a

 f
u
ll 

E
IA

. 
  

1
) 

 
D
o
e
s
 t
h
is
 r
e
p
o
rt
 r
e
la
te
 t
o
 a
 k
e
y
 d
e
c
is
io
n
?
  
 

Y
 

N
 

2
) 

 
W
il
l 
th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
(i
.e
. 
a
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 o
r 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 e
ff
e
c
t/
c
h
a
n
g
e
) 
o
n
 a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 

fo
ll
o
w
in
g
: 

•
 
T
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 u
p
o
n
 t
h
e
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 o
r 
e
q
u
a
li
ty
 g
ro
u
p
s
) 

•
 
O
u
r 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

•
 
T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 o
u
r 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
, 
‘k
n
o
c
k
-o
n
’ 
e
ff
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
o
th
e
r 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 u
n
it
s
, 
o
u
r 

re
p
u
ta
ti
o
n
, 
fi
n
a
n
c
e
s
, 
le
g
a
l 
o
b
li
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
) 

 Y
 

Y
 

Y
 

 

 N
 

N
 

N
 

 

 N
a
m
e
 o
f 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l:

 
P
ro
v
is
io
n
a
l 
E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
–
 D
ra
ft
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 

N
a
m
e
 (
K
e
y
 O
ff
ic
e
r/
A
u
th
o
r)
: 

P
a
u
l 
L
o
o
b
y
 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 U
n
it
: 

F
in

a
n
c
e
 –

 R
e
v
e
n
u
e
s
 a

n
d
 B

e
n
e
fi
ts

 

P
o
s
it
io
n
: 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 H

e
a
d
 F

in
a
n
c
e
 

T
e
l:
 

(0
1
8
0
3
) 

2
0
7
2
8
3
 

D
a
te
 E
IA
 C
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
d

: 
3
1

s
t  J

u
ly

 2
0
1
2
 

E
m
a
il
: 

P
a
u
l.
lo

o
b
y
@

to
rb

a
y
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2

Page 33



- 
2
 -

 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
: 
P
u
rp
o
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l/
s
tr
a
te
g
y
/d
e
c
is
io
n
 

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

1
. 

C
le
a
rl
y
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
th
e
 

p
u
rp
o
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
is
 a
 m
e
a
n
s
 t
e
s
te
d
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 t
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
th
o
s
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
n
 l
o
w
 i
n
c
o
m
e
s
 p
a
y
 t
h
e
ir
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
. 
 T
h
e
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
 i
s
 a
d
m
in
is
te
re
d
 o
n
 b
e
h
a
lf
 o
f 
th
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 r
e
im
b
u
rs
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
W
o
rk
 a
n
d
 P
e
n
s
io
n
s
 (
D
W
P
).
 

 A
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 S
p
e
n
d
in
g
 R
e
v
ie
w
 2
0
1
0
, 
th
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
a
n
n
o
u
n
c
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
it
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 a
b
o
lis
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
n
d
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 i
t 
w
it
h
 a
 l
o
c
a
lis
e
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 f
ro
m
 1
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
3
. 
 T
h
e
 n
e
w
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

im
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
b
o
th
 b
ill
in
g
 a
n
d
 m
a
jo
r 
p
re
c
e
p
ti
n
g
 a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 
a
s
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 a
llo
c
a
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
lis
e
d
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 

re
d
u
c
e
d
 b
y
 1
0
%
 a
n
d
 a
n
y
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 a
b
o
v
e
 w
h
a
t 
is
 f
o
re
c
a
s
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 L
o
c
a
l 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
(D
C
L
G
) 
m
u
s
t 
b
e
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il.
  
F
o
r 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
d
e
ta
ils
 p
le
a
s
e
 r
e
fe
r 
to
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
b
e
lo
w
: 
 

 h
tt
p
:/
/w
w
w
.c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
.g
o
v
.u
k
/d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
/l
o
c
a
lg
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t/
p
d
f/
2
1
4
6
6
4
8
.p
d
f 
  
  
  

 T
h
e
 n
e
w
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 b
y
 3
1
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
1
3
 o
r 
th
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
d
e
fa
u
lt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
, 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 m
o
d
e
lle
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
, 
w
ill
 b
e
 i
m
p
o
s
e
d
. 
 T
h
e
 d
e
fa
u
lt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
h
a
v
e
 a
n
y
 s
c
o
p
e
 f
o
r 
m
a
k
in
g
 t
h
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

s
a
v
in
g
s
. 
 T
h
is
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
 c
o
s
t 
to
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
o
f 
a
p
p
ro
x
im
a
te
ly
 £
1
.6
 m
ill
io
n
, 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
th
is
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
ta
k
e
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

in
c
re
a
s
e
s
 i
n
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 o
r 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 l
e
v
e
ls
 f
ro
m
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
3
. 

 It
 i
s
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
d
o
p
t 
th
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 a
s
 i
ts
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 f
o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
. 
 

T
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 i
s
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 w
id
e
ly
 u
n
d
e
rs
to
o
d
 b
y
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
, 
p
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 

u
s
e
rs
. 
 H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 u
p
 t
h
e
 l
o
s
s
e
s
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 g
ra
n
t 
s
u
b
s
id
y
 m
e
a
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
w
e
 w
o
u
ld
 h
a
v
e
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 

s
o
m
e
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 s
c
h
e
m
e
. 

 F
o
u
r 
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 f
o
r 
m
a
k
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
, 
w
h
ic
h
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 

fo
llo
w
in
g
 k
e
y
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
: 

 

•
 
E
v
e
ry
 w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 a
d
u
lt
 s
h
o
u
ld
 p
a
y
 s
o
m
e
th
in
g
 -
 p
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
 w
ill
 b
e
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 d
e
fi
n
e
d
 

b
y
 D
C
L
G
. 

•
 
P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
y
s
te
m
. 

•
 
T
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
 i
n
c
e
n
ti
v
is
e
 w
o
rk
 w
h
e
re
v
e
r 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
. 

•
 
T
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
, 
a
s
 f
a
r 
a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
, 
a
llo
w
 f
o
r 
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 g
ro
w
th
 i
n
 d
e
m
a
n
d
. 

•
 
A
 d
is
c
re
ti
o
n
a
ry
 f
u
n
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
re
a
te
d
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 p
ro
te
c
t 
th
e
 m
o
s
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
. 

•
 
C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 d
is
c
o
u
n
ts
/e
x
e
m
p
ti
o
n
s
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 h
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 e
m
p
ty
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
. 

     

Page 34



- 
3
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 b
e
in
g
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 o
n
 a
re
 a
s
 f
o
llo
w
s
: 

 
1
. 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
1
 -
 L
im

it
 t
h
e
 m

a
x
im

u
m
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 7
5
%
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 T
a
x
 l
ia
b
il
it
y
 –
 T
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 

a
s
s
is
ts
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
n
 t
h
e
 l
o
w
e
s
t 
in
c
o
m
e
s
 t
o
 p
a
y
 u
p
 t
o
 1
0
0
%
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
. 
 U
n
d
e
r 
th
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
a
ll 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 

p
e
o
p
le
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
w
o
u
ld
 h
a
v
e
 t
o
 p
a
y
 a
n
 e
x
tr
a
 2
5
%
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 b
ill
. 
T
h
is
 m
e
a
n
s
 

th
a
t 
w
o
rk
in
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 f
u
ll 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
w
o
u
ld
 h
a
v
e
 t
o
 p
a
y
 a
 m
in
im
u
m
 o
f 
2
5
%
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 b
ill
. 

T
h
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l,
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
d
a
ta
 w
ill
 s
a
v
e
 a
p
p
ro
x
im
a
te
ly
 £
2
.2
 m

ill
io
n
. 
  

 2
. 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
2
 -
 R
e
s
tr
ic
t 
th
e
 m

a
x
im

u
m
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 a
 b
a
n
d
 D
 c
h
a
rg
e
 -
 T
h
e
re
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 n
o
 r
e
s
tr
ic
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 b
a
n
d
 c
h
a
rg
e
s
. 
 U
n
d
e
r 
th
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
a
ll 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
n
d
 

o
c
c
u
p
y
in
g
 b
a
n
d
 E
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 o
r 
a
b
o
v
e
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 r
e
s
tr
ic
te
d
 t
o
 a
 m
a
x
im
u
m
 b
a
n
d
 D
 c
h
a
rg
e
. 
 T
h
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l,
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
d
a
ta
 w
ill
 s
a
v
e
 a
p
p
ro
x
im
a
te
ly
 £
7
3
,0
0
0
. 
 

 
3
. 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
3
 -
 W

it
h
d
ra
w
a
l 
o
f 
S
e
c
o
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 R
e
b
a
te
 -
 T
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 e
n
a
b
le
s
 s
in
g
le
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 a
re
 n
o
t 

e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
in
 t
h
e
ir
 o
w
n
 r
ig
h
t,
 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 t
h
e
ir
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 o
r 
s
a
v
in
g
s
 a
re
 t
o
o
 h
ig
h
 t
o
 c
la
im
 a
 d
is
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 

u
p
 t
o
 2
5
%
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 b
ill
 i
f 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
o
th
e
r 
a
d
u
lt
 l
iv
in
g
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
m
 o
n
 a
 l
o
w
 i
n
c
o
m
e
. 
 U
n
d
e
r 
th
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
a
ll 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 c
la
im
in
g
 S
e
c
o
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 R
e
b
a
te
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
b
e
 e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
th
is
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
. 
 T
h
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l,
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
d
a
ta
 w
ill
 s
a
v
e
 a
p
p
ro
x
im
a
te
ly
 £
1
5
,0
0
0
. 
 

 
4
. 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
4
 -
 R
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 u
p
p
e
r 
C
a
p
it
a
l/
S
a
v
in
g
s
 l
im

it
 f
ro
m
 £
1
6
,0
0
0
 t
o
 £
6
,0
0
0
 -
 I
n
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 o
f 
£
1
6
,0
0
0
 o
r 
m
o
re
 a
re
 n
o
t 
e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t.
  
U
n
d
e
r 
th
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
th
is
 

w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
 t
o
 £
6
,0
0
0
 a
n
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 a
b
o
v
e
 t
h
is
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
w
ill
 n
o
t 
b
e
 e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
. 
 T
h
is
 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
l,
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
d
a
ta
 w
ill
 s
a
v
e
 a
p
p
ro
x
im
a
te
ly
 £
6
9
,0
0
0
. 

 
A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
a
l 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
h
a
rd
s
h
ip
 -
 t
h
is
 w
ill
 a
llo
w
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 t
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 m
o
re
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 b
e
 g
iv
e
n
 v
ia
 a
n
 e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
a
l 
h
a
rd
s
h
ip
 /
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
ili
ty
 f
u
n
d
. 
 

 T
h
e
s
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 c
o
m
p
ly
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 D
ra
ft
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 S
c
h
e
m
e
s
 (
P
re
s
c
ri
b
e
d
 R
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
) 
R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
s
 w
h
ic
h
 a
re
 

b
e
fo
re
 P
a
rl
ia
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
n
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 l
a
w
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
te
 s
u
m
m
e
r 
o
f 
2
0
1
2
. 
 T
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
F
in
a
n
c
e
 A
c
t 

2
0
1
2
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 R
o
y
a
l 
A
s
s
e
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 1

s
t  N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
. 

 

2
. 

W
h
o
 i
s
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 

/ 
w
h
o
 w
il
l 
b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
?
 

A
ll 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 f
u
tu
re
 r
e
c
ip
ie
n
ts
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
/ 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
re
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
. 
 T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

p
e
o
p
le
 c
la
im
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
in
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
 w
a
s
 j
u
s
t 
o
v
e
r 
1
8
,0
0
0
, 
o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 a
ro
u
n
d
 9
,8
0
0
 a
re
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 a
n
d
 

a
ro
u
n
d
 8
,2
0
0
 a
re
 p
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
. 
 A
c
c
o
rd
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 2
0
1
1
 C
e
n
s
u
s
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 5
9
,0
0
0
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
, 
w
h
ic
h
 m
e
a
n
s
 n
e
a
rl
y
 

1
 i
n
 4
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 a
re
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
lly
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
b
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 a
n
d
 j
u
s
t 
o
v
e
r 
h
a
lf
 o
f 
th
e
m
 a
re
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
. 

    

Page 35



- 
4
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

T
h
e
 D
C
L
G
 h
a
s
 m
a
d
e
 i
t 
c
le
a
r 
th
a
t 
th
e
 n
e
w
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 m
u
s
t 
p
ro
te
c
t 
p
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
 a
t 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
b
e
n
e
fi
t 
le
v
e
ls
 a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 g
iv
e
n
 t
o
 d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 
 T
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 m
u
s
t 
a
ls
o
 t
a
k
e
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
th
e
 

fo
llo
w
in
g
: 

•
 
T
h
e
 P
u
b
lic
 S
e
c
to
r 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 D
u
ty
 (
a
n
d
 T
h
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 A
c
t 
2
0
1
0
):
 r
e
q
u
ir
in
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 c
le
a
rl
y
 d
e
fi
n
e
d
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
, 
a
n
d
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f,
 t
h
o
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
s
. 
 

•
 
T
h
e
 d
u
ty
 t
o
 m
it
ig
a
te
 e
ff
e
c
ts
 o
f 
c
h
ild
 p
o
v
e
rt
y
 (
T
h
e
 C
h
ild
 P
o
v
e
rt
y
 A
c
t 
2
0
1
0
):
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 o
f 
lo
w
 

in
c
o
m
e
 a
n
d
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
. 

•
 
T
h
e
 D
is
a
b
le
d
 P
e
rs
o
n
s
 A
c
t 
(S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 &
 R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
) 
A
c
t 
1
9
8
6
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 C
h
ro
n
ic
a
lly
 S
ic
k
 a
n
d
 

D
is
a
b
le
d
 P
e
rs
o
n
s
 A
c
t 
1
9
7
0
. 

•
 
T
h
e
 d
u
ty
 t
o
 p
re
v
e
n
t 
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 (
T
h
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 A
c
t 
1
9
9
6
):
 T
h
o
s
e
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 w
h
o
 f
in
d
 t
h
e
m
s
e
lv
e
s
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 n
o
 f
a
u
lt
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 o
w
n
 a
n
d
 w
h
o
 a
re
 e
lig
ib
le
 a
n
d
 i
n
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 n
e
e
d
 a
re
 o
w
e
d
 t
h
e
 m
a
in
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 d
u
ty
. 

•
 
A
rm
e
d
 F
o
rc
e
s
 C
o
v
e
n
a
n
t 
2
0
1
1
. 

 W
h
ils
t 
lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 d
is
c
re
ti
o
n
 t
o
 d
e
s
ig
n
 w
h
a
te
v
e
r 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
h
e
y
 d
e
e
m
 f
it
 f
o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
, 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 

b
e
 c
o
m
p
lia
n
t 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
ir
 d
u
ti
e
s
 s
o
 a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
ir
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 o
n
 a
ll 
p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 o
n
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 a
n
d
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 

 

3
. 

W
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
?
 

T
o
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
a
 l
o
c
a
l 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 t
h
a
t 
s
e
e
k
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
s
 f
a
ir
 a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 a
ll 
c
lie
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
le
s
s
 o
f 

th
e
ir
 c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
. 
 T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 a
re
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
o
th
e
r 
m
o
d
e
lli
n
g
 w
h
ic
h
 w
a
s
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 p
u
t 
fo
rw
a
rd
 k
e
e
p
 a
s
 m
a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
ff
o
rd
e
d
 t
o
 p
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
, 
th
e
 d
is
a
b
le
d
, 
c
a
re
rs
 a
n
d
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 

w
it
h
 c
h
ild
re
n
 a
s
 a
t 
th
e
 p
re
s
e
n
t 
ti
m
e
. 

 

Page 36



- 
5
 -

 

 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 2
: 
E
q
u
a
li
ti
e
s
, 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

 T
o
rb

a
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 a

 m
o
ra

l 
o
b
lig

a
ti
o
n
 a

s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 a

 d
u
ty

 u
n
d
e
r 

th
e
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 A

c
t 

2
0
1
0
 t

o
 e

lim
in

a
te

 d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o
n
, 
p
ro

m
o
te

 g
o
o
d
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 

a
d
v
a
n
c
e
 e

q
u
a
lit

y
 o

f 
o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
y
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 s

h
a
re

 a
 p

ro
te

c
te

d
 c

h
a
ra

c
te

ri
s
ti
c
 a

n
d
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 d

o
 n

o
t.

  
 

 T
h
e
 E
q
u
a
li
ti
e
s
, 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

s
e
c
ti
o
n
 e

n
s
u
re

s
 t
h
a
t,

 a
s
 a

 c
o
u
n
c
il,

 w
e
 t

a
k
e
 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
th

e
 P

u
b
lic

 S
e
c
to

r 
E

q
u
a
lit

y
 D

u
ty

 a
t 

a
n
 e

a
rl
y
 s

ta
g
e
 a

n
d
 p

ro
v
id

e
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 t

o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

w
e
 f

u
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 

o
u
r 

d
e
c
is

io
n
s
/p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 o
n
 t
h
e
 T

o
rb

a
y
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
. 

 E
v
id
e
n
c
e
, 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

4
. 

H
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
e
 

a
v
a
il
a
b
le
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
?
  

  

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 c
la
im
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
in
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
 w
a
s
 j
u
s
t 
o
v
e
r 
1
8
,0
0
0
, 
o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 a
ro
u
n
d
 9
,8
0
0
 a
re
 o
f 

w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 a
n
d
 a
ro
u
n
d
 8
,2
0
0
 a
re
 p
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
. 
 A
c
c
o
rd
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 2
0
1
1
 C
e
n
s
u
s
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 5
9
,0
0
0
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
, 

w
h
ic
h
 m
e
a
n
s
 n
e
a
rl
y
 1
 i
n
 4
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 a
re
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
lly
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
b
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 a
n
d
 j
u
s
t 
o
v
e
r 
h
a
lf
 o
f 
th
e
m
 

a
re
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
. 

 T
h
e
 n
e
w
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
te
x
t 
o
f 
T
o
rb
a
y
 a
s
 a
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
: 
- 

 

•
 
A
c
c
o
rd
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 2
0
1
1
 C
e
n
s
u
s
 T
o
rb
a
y
 i
s
 h
o
m
e
 t
o
 a
p
p
ro
x
im
a
te
ly
 1
3
1
,0
0
0
 p
e
o
p
le
, 
6
3
,1
0
0
 m
a
le
s
 a
n
d
 6
7
,8
0
0
 

fe
m
a
le
s
 (
ro
u
n
d
e
d
).
  
T
h
is
 i
s
 a
n
 a
c
tu
a
l 
in
c
re
a
s
e
 o
f 
a
p
p
ro
x
im
a
te
ly
 1
,2
9
8
 p
e
o
p
le
, 
o
r 
1
%
, 
o
v
e
r 
th
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 C
e
n
s
u
s
 i
n
 

2
0
0
1
. 
T
h
is
 c
o
m
p
a
re
s
 t
o
 a
n
 a
p
p
ro
x
im
a
te
 7
%
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 S
o
u
th
 W
e
s
t 
a
n
d
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 2
0
0
1
 a
n
d
 2
0
1
1
. 

•
 
T
o
rb
a
y
’s
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 i
s
 s
ti
ll 
v
e
ry
 m
u
c
h
 d
o
m
in
a
te
d
 b
y
 a
 h
ig
h
e
r 
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
. 
 B
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 0
-4
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

4
0
-4
4
 a
g
e
 b
a
n
d
s
 T
o
rb
a
y
s
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 b
e
lo
w
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 f
ig
u
re
s
 f
o
r 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 a
n
d
 f
ro
m
 b
a
n
d
s
 

5
0
-5
4
 t
o
 9
0
+
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 h
ig
h
e
r 
th
a
n
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
fi
g
u
re
s
. 
(C
e
n
s
u
s
 2
0
1
1
) 

•
 
T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 6
5
 a
n
d
 o
v
e
r 
is
 m
u
c
h
 h
ig
h
e
r 
in
 T
o
rb
a
y
, 
a
t 
2
3
.6
%
, 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
fi
g
u
re
 o
f 

1
6
.3
%
 a
n
d
 1
9
.6
%
 i
n
 t
h
e
 S
o
u
th
 W
e
s
t.
 (
C
e
n
s
u
s
 2
0
1
1
) 

•
 
T
h
e
re
 a
re
 p
o
c
k
e
ts
 o
f 
s
e
v
e
re
 d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
, 
w
it
h
 a
ro
u
n
d
 1
5
%
 (
2
1
,0
0
0
) 
o
f 
th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 l
iv
in
g
 i
n
 a
re
a
s
 i
n
 

th
e
 t
o
p
 1
0
%
 m
o
s
t 
d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 i
n
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 (
2
0
1
0
).
 I
n
 r
e
la
ti
v
e
 t
e
rm
s
, 
T
o
rb
a
y
’s
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 h
a
s
 w
o
rs
e
n
e
d
 o
v
e
r 
ti
m
e
, 
in
 

2
0
0
4
 t
h
e
re
 w
e
re
 s
o
m
e
 6
,0
0
0
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 l
iv
in
g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
o
p
 1
0
%
 m
o
s
t 
d
e
p
ri
v
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
 s
o
m
e
 1
5
,5
0
0
. 
(J
o
in
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 N
e
e
d
s
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
J
S
N
A
 2
0
1
2
/1
3
) 

•
 
A
s
 T
o
rb
a
y
’s
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
s
, 
th
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 b
a
y
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 r
e
ti
re
m
e
n
t 
a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 i
s
 

e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
o
 d
e
c
re
a
s
e
. 
 I
n
 2
0
1
0
, 
th
e
re
 w
e
re
 2
.1
 w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
 f
o
r 
e
v
e
ry
 p
e
rs
o
n
 o
f 
re
ti
re
m
e
n
t 
a
g
e
; 

th
is
 i
s
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
o
 d
e
c
re
a
s
e
 t
o
 a
ro
u
n
d
 1
.7
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
r 
p
e
rs
o
n
 o
f 
re
ti
re
m
e
n
t 
a
g
e
 b
y
 2
0
2
0
. 
 (
J
o
in
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 N
e
e
d
s
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
J
S
N
A
 2
0
1
2
/1
3
) 

    

Page 37



- 
6
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

T
h
e
 w
id
e
r 
im
p
a
c
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 c
lim
a
te
 a
n
d
 W
e
lf
a
re
 R
e
fo
rm
 A
c
t 
a
ls
o
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 i
n
 c
o
n
te
x
t 
w
it
h
 

th
e
 n
e
w
 s
c
h
e
m
e
: 
- 

 

•
 
T
h
e
 c
o
s
t 
o
f 
a
 m
in
im
u
m
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
h
a
s
 r
is
e
n
 b
y
 a
b
o
u
t 
5
%
fo
r 
m
o
s
t 
fa
m
ili
e
s
. 
T
h
is
 i
s
 w
e
ll 
a
b
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 

in
fl
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
, 
b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 s
o
m
e
o
n
e
 o
n
 a
 m
in
im
u
m
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 s
p
e
n
d
s
 a
 g
re
a
te
r 
th
a
n
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
o
n
 

fo
o
d
, 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 f
u
e
l 
a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
, 
fo
r 
w
h
ic
h
 p
ri
c
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 r
is
e
n
 b
y
 7
%
 t
o
 1
2
%
. 
 A
 c
o
u
p
le
 w
it
h
 t
w
o
 c
h
ild
re
n
, 

b
o
th
 p
a
re
n
ts
 w
o
rk
in
g
 f
u
ll 
ti
m
e
, 
w
o
u
ld
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 e
a
rn
 2
4
%
 m
o
re
 i
n
 2
0
1
1
 t
h
a
n
 i
n
 2
0
1
0
 t
o
 c
o
v
e
r 
a
 m
in
im
u
m
 b
u
d
g
e
t,
 

o
n
c
e
 c
h
ild
c
a
re
 c
o
s
ts
 a
re
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t1
 .
 

•
 
A
 f
e
w
 e
x
a
m
p
le
s
: 
g
a
s
 h
a
s
 g
o
n
e
 u
p
 i
n
 p
ri
c
e
 b
y
 1
8
%
, 
e
le
c
tr
ic
 i
s
 u
p
 1
1
%
, 
lo
c
a
lly
 r
e
n
t 
is
 u
p
 2
.3
%
, 
th
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 f
a
m
ily
’s
 

g
ro
c
e
ry
 s
h
o
p
p
in
g
 c
o
s
t 
is
 u
p
 1
2
%
 a
d
d
in
g
 £
7
5
0
.0
0
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 f
a
m
ily
’s
 b
ill
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 a
n
d
 p
e
tr
o
l 
is
 u
p
 2
0
.5
%
. 
T
h
is
 

is
 b
e
fo
re
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
e
x
p
e
n
s
e
s
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 b
a
n
k
 c
h
a
rg
e
s
, 
in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 m
o
rt
g
a
g
e
 r
e
p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 d
u
e
 t
o
 r
e
-m
o
rt
g
a
g
e
 

a
n
d
 r
e
d
u
n
d
a
n
c
y
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
. 

•
 
T
h
e
 I
n
s
ti
tu
te
 f
o
r 
F
is
c
a
l 
S
tu
d
ie
s
 (
IF
S
) 
e
s
ti
m
a
te
s
 t
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
ill
 b
e
 £
1
6
0
 a
 y
e
a
r 
w
o
rs
e
 o
ff
 i
n
 2
0
1
2
/1
3
 

ri
s
in
g
 t
o
 £
3
7
0
 p
e
r 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 i
n
 2
0
1
3
/1
4
 a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
ta
x
 r
is
e
s
 a
n
d
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
re
fo
rm
s
 2
. 
H
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 w
it
h
 c
h
ild
re
n
 a
re
 

s
e
t 
to
 l
o
s
e
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 r
e
fo
rm
s
. 
T
h
is
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 w
ill
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 a
 w
id
e
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
a
s
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
ili
ty
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 p
u
t 
in
c
re
a
s
in
g
 d
e
m
a
n
d
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
s
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

•
 
A
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
 f
o
r 
T
o
rb
a
y
 i
s
 t
o
 g
e
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 o
ff
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 b
a
c
k
 i
n
to
 w
o
rk
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 c
lim
a
te
 

w
h
e
re
 w
e
 h
a
v
e
 h
ig
h
 u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te
s
 (
8
.7
%
),
 t
h
e
 h
ig
h
e
s
t 
in
 t
h
e
 S
o
u
th
 W
e
s
t 
a
n
d
 h
ig
h
e
r 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
ra
te
 

(8
.1
%
)3
. 

 
W
h
e
n
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 a
t 
e
a
c
h
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
in
 m
o
re
 d
e
ta
il 
w
e
 c
a
n
 b
e
g
in
 t
o
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
 t
h
e
 h
o
w
 e
a
c
h
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
m
a
y
 a
ff
e
c
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
c
la
im
a
n
ts
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
, 
fo
r 
in
s
ta
n
c
e
: 
- 

 

o
 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
o
n
e
 –
 W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 o
n
ly
 p
a
rt
ia
l 
h
e
lp
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
ir
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 

to
 p
a
y
 a
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
2
5
%
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 e
lig
ib
le
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
, 
a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 2
,9
5
9
 (
3
0
.0
0
%
) 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 i
n
 T
o
rb
a
y
. 
 T
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 m
a
x
im
u
m
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
w
o
u
ld
 h
a
v
e
 t
o
 p
a
y
 2
5
%
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 e
lig
ib
le
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
, 
a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 

6
,9
0
7
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 (
7
0
.0
0
%
).
  
It
 w
ill
 a
ls
o
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 1
,3
9
4
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 l
o
s
in
g
 t
h
e
ir
 e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

lo
w
e
r 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 u
s
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
. 
 T
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
w
ill
 a
ff
e
c
t 
9
,8
6
6
 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
. 
  
T
h
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
s
h
a
re
s
 t
h
e
 b
u
rd
e
n
 o
f 
th
e
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 c
u
ts
 a
m
o
n
g
s
t 
a
ll 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
. 
 T
h
e
 e
x
tr
a
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
th
a
t 
e
a
c
h
 p
e
rs
o
n
 w
o
u
ld
 h
a
v
e
 t
o
 p
a
y
 d
e
p
e
n
d
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 b
a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
ir
 

p
ro
p
e
rt
y
 i
s
 i
n
 a
n
d
 a
n
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 d
is
c
o
u
n
ts
 t
h
e
y
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
, 
w
it
h
 t
h
o
s
e
 l
iv
in
g
 i
n
 h
ig
h
e
r 
b
a
n
d
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 p
a
y
in
g
 m
o
re
. 

  
 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

1
 J

R
F
 c

a
lc

u
la

ti
o

n
 c

a
n

 b
e

 f
o

u
n

d
 a

t 
h

tt
p

:/
/w

w
w

.j
rf

.o
rg

.u
k
/s

it
e

s/
fi

le
s/

jr
f/

m
in

im
u

m
-i

n
co

m
e

-s
ta

n
d

a
rd

-2
0

1
1

-s
u

m
m

a
ry

.p
d

f 
 p

4
 

2
 h

tt
p

:/
/w

w
w

.i
fs

.o
rg

.u
k
/p

u
b

li
ca

ti
o

n
s/

5
4

5
1
 

3
 O

N
S
 a

n
n

u
a

l 
p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 s

u
rv

e
y
 (

A
p

r 
2

0
1

1
-M

a
r 

2
0

1
2

),
 M

o
d

e
l 
B

a
se

d
 U

n
e

m
p

lo
y
m

e
n

t 
ra

te
 

Page 38



- 
7
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

o
 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
tw
o
 –
 t
h
e
 r
e
s
tr
ic
ti
o
n
 t
o
 a
 m
a
x
im
u
m
 b
a
n
d
 D
 w
o
u
ld
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
ff
e
c
t 
2
0
3
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 w
it
h
 2
7
 l
o
s
in
g
 

e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
. 
 T
h
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
re
v
e
a
ls
 t
h
a
t 
if
 a
 b
a
n
d
in
g
 r
e
s
tr
ic
ti
o
n
 w
e
re
 i
m
p
o
s
e
d
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 2
5
%
 l
im
it
a
ti
o
n
 l
o
w
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
ly
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 (
p
le
a
s
e
 r
e
fe
r 
to
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 8
).
 

 

o
 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
th
re
e
 –
 r
e
m
o
v
in
g
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 a
d
u
lt
 r
e
b
a
te
 w
ill
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 8
7
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 l
o
s
in
g
 t
h
e
ir
 e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
. 

 

o
 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
fo
u
r  
–
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
a
p
it
a
l 
c
u
t 
o
ff
 l
im
it
 f
ro
m
 £
1
6
,0
0
0
 t
o
 £
6
,0
0
0
 w
ill
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 1
2
2
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 l
o
s
in
g
 

th
e
ir
 e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

 T
h
e
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
 d
e
p
e
n
d
 u
p
o
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
fi
g
u
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 f
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 c
a
re
fu
l 

c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 g
iv
e
n
 a
s
 t
o
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 p
u
t 
to
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
n
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
im
p
a
c
t 
is
 n
o
t 

a
m
p
lif
ie
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
. 

 C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 d
a
ta
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 s
y
s
te
m
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

o
b
ta
in
e
d
 a
n
d
 h
a
s
 e
n
a
b
le
d
 u
s
 t
o
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
c
c
o
rd
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
ir
 a
g
e
, 
d
is
a
b
ili
ty
, 
fa
m
ily
 

c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
in
c
o
m
e
 –
 t
h
is
 h
a
s
 e
n
a
b
le
d
 u
s
 t
o
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
 c
a
s
e
 s
tu
d
ie
s
 t
o
 i
llu
s
tr
a
te
 h
o
w
 e
a
c
h
 o
f 
th
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 w
e
 

h
a
v
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 w
o
u
ld
 a
ff
e
c
t 
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 a
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 s
e
c
to
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 d
u
ty
 t
h
e
s
e
 a
re
 a
tt
a
c
h
e
d
 a
t 
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
. 

 T
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 t
a
b
le
 s
u
m
m
a
ri
s
e
s
 t
h
e
 e
s
ti
m
a
te
d
 e
ff
e
c
ts
: 
it
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
 a
re
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
, 
a
s
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
, 
b
u
t 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
ir
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
 b
y
 a
n
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 o
f 
£
4
.4
9
 p
e
r 
w
e
e
k
 o
r 
2
9
%
. 

 

 
 T
h
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 a
re
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 a
 f
o
re
c
a
s
ti
n
g
 u
ti
lit
y
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 s
o
ft
w
a
re
 s
u
p
p
lie
r.
 A
s
 t
h
e
 s
o
ft
w
a
re
 i
s
 

re
g
u
la
rl
y
 u
p
d
a
te
d
 i
t 
is
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 a
b
o
v
e
 f
ig
u
re
s
 m
a
y
 v
a
ry
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 p
ri
o
r 
to
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 f
in
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
. 

Page 39



- 
8
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

5
. 

H
o
w
 h
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l?
 

A
s
 o
u
tl
in
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t,
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
 w
it
h
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
, 
e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l,
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
re
c
e
p
to
rs
 a
n
d
 i
n
te
re
s
t 
g
ro
u
p
s
. 
 T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 o
th
e
r 
lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 

in
 D
e
v
o
n
 t
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 a
 c
o
m
m
o
n
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
w
 s
c
h
e
m
e
. 
 P
a
rt
 o
f 
th
is
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

p
la
n
 w
h
e
re
 a
ll 
D
e
v
o
n
 a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 w
o
u
ld
 g
o
 o
u
t 
to
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 6
 A
u
g
u
s
t 

2
0
1
2
, 
a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
 c
o
o
rd
in
a
te
d
 c
o
u
n
ty
-w
id
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
. 

 T
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 a
im
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b
o
ro
u
g
h
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 g
ro
u
p
s
) 

h
a
d
 a
n
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
ir
 s
a
y
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
re
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t.
  
T
h
e
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 w
e
re
 t
o
: 

 
o
 
C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
te
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
s
ig
n
 a
 l
o
c
a
l 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
o
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t,
 w
it
h
 a
 1
0
%
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 f
u
n
d
in
g
. 

o
 
T
o
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
e
 v
ie
w
s
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
re
c
ip
ie
n
ts
; 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 v
ie
w
s
 a
n
d
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 o
f 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
, 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 

o
 
T
o
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 u
n
d
e
rp
in
n
in
g
 a
 f
u
tu
re
 s
c
h
e
m
e
, 
v
ie
w
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 m
o
d
e
l,
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
in
c
e
n
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
. 

o
 
T
o
 u
s
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 d
a
ta
 t
o
 s
h
a
p
e
 a
 f
in
a
l 
re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 f
u
ll 
C
o
u
n
c
il,
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
n
g
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
im
p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 d
e
s
ig
n
in
g
 a
n
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
, 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
a
n
d
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 s
c
h
e
m
e
. 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
ra
ft
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
o
o
k
 t
h
e
 f
o
rm
 o
f 
a
 s
u
rv
e
y
. 
R
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 w
e
re
 a
s
k
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
ir
 v
ie
w
s
 o
n
 

e
a
c
h
 o
f 
th
e
 f
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
k
in
g
 t
h
e
m
 t
o
 s
ta
te
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 e
ff
e
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
ir
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
. 
  

 T
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
 w
a
s
 o
p
e
n
 f
o
r 
8
 w
e
e
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 6
th
 A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
1
2
 a
n
d
 1
s
t 
O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
 a
n
d
 w
a
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

fo
llo
w
in
g
 f
o
rm
s
: 

 
o
 
A
 l
e
tt
e
r 
w
a
s
 s
e
n
t 
to
 a
ll 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 (
9
,6
7
8
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
) 
w
h
o
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
, 
a
d
v
is
in
g
 

th
e
m
 o
f 
th
e
 f
o
rt
h
c
o
m
in
g
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
. 
 T
h
e
 l
e
tt
e
r 
e
x
p
la
in
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
n
 o
n
lin
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 

a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
p
a
p
e
r 
q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
s
 w
e
re
 a
ls
o
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
ro
m
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
re
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
s
. 
 

o
 
1
,0
6
8
 s
u
rv
e
y
s
 w
e
re
 s
e
n
t 
to
 a
 r
a
n
d
o
m
 s
a
m
p
le
 o
f 
b
o
th
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
c
la
im
a
n
ts
 a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 p
a
y
e
rs
. 
 

F
ro
m
 t
h
is
 6
6
0
 w
e
re
 p
o
s
te
d
 t
o
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 n
o
t 
in
 r
e
c
e
ip
t 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r
e
m
a
in
in
g
 4
0
8
 w
e
re
 s
e
n
t 
to
 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 i
n
 r
e
c
e
ip
t 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
w
h
o
 h
a
d
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 l
e
tt
e
rs
. 

o
 
A
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
5
0
0
 l
e
tt
e
rs
 w
e
re
 h
a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 t
o
 c
la
im
a
n
ts
 w
it
h
 v
is
it
in
g
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
. 

o
 
L
e
tt
e
rs
 w
e
re
 s
e
n
t 
to
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 c
la
im
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
w
h
ils
t 
th
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
a
s
 o
p
e
n
. 

o
 
T
h
e
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
 w
a
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 v
ia
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 w
e
b
s
it
e
. 

o
 
P
a
p
e
r 
s
u
rv
e
y
s
 w
e
re
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 v
ia
 t
h
e
 l
ib
ra
ri
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
re
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
s
. 

o
 
C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
d
v
is
o
rs
 h
a
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 a
n
d
 w
e
re
 d
ir
e
c
ti
n
g
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
. 

o
 
C
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 w
e
re
 g
iv
e
n
 a
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
le
te
 w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
y
 h
a
d
 a
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
p
p
o
in
tm
e
n
t.
 

 

Page 40



- 
9
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

 
 

o
 
T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 V
ie
w
p
o
in
t 
p
a
n
e
l 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 w
e
re
 c
o
n
ta
c
te
d
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 t
h
e
m
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 w
e
re
 

in
v
it
e
d
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 p
a
rt
. 

o
 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
ls
o
 w
e
n
t 
o
u
t 
v
ia
 t
h
e
 m
e
m
b
e
r’
s
 b
u
lle
ti
n
 a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
 w
e
re
 a
b
le
 t
o
 c
o
lle
c
t 
c
o
p
ie
s
 o
f 
th
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 

o
u
t 
to
 t
h
e
ir
 c
o
n
s
ti
tu
e
n
ts
. 

o
 
L
e
a
fl
e
ts
 a
n
d
 p
o
s
te
rs
 w
e
re
 s
e
n
t 
o
u
t 
to
 a
 v
a
ri
e
ty
 o
f 
a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 W
e
s
tc
o
u
n
tr
y
 H
o
u
s
in
g
, 
S
a
n
c
tu
a
ry
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

C
it
iz
e
n
’s
 A
d
v
ic
e
 B
u
re
a
u
. 

 D
u
e
 t
o
 a
 l
o
w
e
r 
th
a
n
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 r
a
te
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
in
d
o
w
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
s
ta
ff
 a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
e
d
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 

in
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
re
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
s
 t
o
 b
o
o
s
t 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
a
p
e
r 
s
u
rv
e
y
s
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 

 A
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
r 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 e
v
e
n
t 
a
im
e
d
 a
t 
lo
c
a
l 
in
te
re
s
t 
g
ro
u
p
s
, 
v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 s
e
c
to
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 p
re
c
e
p
ti
n
g
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 B
ri
x
h
a
m
 T
o
w
n
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 P
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 F
ir
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
) 
w
a
s
 h
e
ld
. 
 T
h
e
 e
v
e
n
t 
to
o
k
 p
la
c
e
 o
n
 t
h
e
 2
3
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
 a
n
d
 o
u
tl
in
e
d
 w
h
a
t 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 a
re
 a
n
d
 w
h
a
t 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 o
n
 t
h
e
ir
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 
 A
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

e
v
e
n
t 
w
a
s
 g
o
o
d
 w
it
h
 o
v
e
r 
3
0
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
tt
e
n
d
in
g
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 1
3
 o
rg
a
n
is
ti
o
n
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 A
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
C
h
ild
re
n
, 
C
o
a
lit
io
n
 o
f 

D
is
a
b
le
d
 P
e
o
p
le
, 
C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 C
e
n
tr
e
’s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 T
o
rb
a
y
 a
n
d
 S
o
u
th
e
rn
 D
e
v
o
n
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 C
a
re
 N
H
S
 T
ru
s
t.
 

 T
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 w
a
s
 b
a
c
k
e
d
 u
p
 b
y
 a
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
 v
ia
 p
re
s
s
 r
e
le
a
s
e
s
 t
o
 o
b
ta
in
 a
s
 m
u
c
h
 p
u
b
lic
 

in
te
re
s
t 
a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
. 

 

6
. 

O
u
tl
in
e
 t
h
e
 k
e
y
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 

  

H
e
lp
in
g
 y
o
u
 c
o
p
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 T
a
x
 –
 S
u
rv
e
y
 R
e
s
u
lt
s
 

 6
2
2
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
s
 w
e
re
 r
e
tu
rn
e
d
 -
 2
9
7
 o
n
lin
e
 a
n
d
 3
2
5
 p
a
p
e
r.
  
A
 f
u
ll 
a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 w
a
s
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 l
a
te
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
T
h
e
 h
e
a
d
lin
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 a
re
 a
s
 f
o
llo
w
s
: 
- 

 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
O
n
e
: 
E
v
e
ry
o
n
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 p
a
y
 s
o
m
e
th
in
g
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 t
h
e
ir
 c
o
u
n
c
il
 t
a
x
 

•
 
5
6
.1
%
 a
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
th
a
t 
e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 p
a
y
 s
o
m
e
th
in
g
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
. 

•
 
4
4
.7
%
 a
g
re
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 p
a
y
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
2
5
%
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
 b
ill
, 
w
h
ile
 4
3
.2
%
 

d
is
a
g
re
e
d
. 
  

•
 
N
e
a
rl
y
 h
a
lf
 (
4
6
.1
%
) 
o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 s
a
id
 t
h
e
y
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l.
 

 P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
T
w
o
: 
L
im

it
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il
 T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 a
 B
a
n
d
 D
 c
h
a
rg
e
 

•
 
5
9
.8
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 a
g
re
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 l
iv
e
 i
n
 h
ig
h
e
r 
b
a
n
d
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 a
n
d
 c
la
im
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 

p
a
y
 m
o
re
. 
  

•
 
5
4
.5
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 a
g
re
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
a
p
p
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
B
a
n
d
 D
. 
  

•
 
M
o
s
t 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 (
8
5
.2
%
) 
s
a
id
 t
h
e
y
 w
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l.
 

   

Page 41



- 
1
0
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
T
h
re
e
: 
R
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 l
im

it
 f
ro
m
 £
1
6
,0
0
0
 t
o
 £
6
,0
0
0
 f
o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
-a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 

•
 
4
7
.5
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 a
g
re
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
th
a
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
h
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
b
e
 p
a
id
 t
o
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 

s
a
v
in
g
s
. 
  

•
 
4
4
.8
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 a
g
re
e
d
 w
it
h
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 l
im
it
 t
o
 £
6
,0
0
0
 f
ro
m
 £
1
6
,0
0
0
, 
w
h
ile
 4
2
.1
%
 d
is
a
g
re
e
d
. 

•
 
N
e
a
rl
y
 a
ll 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 (
9
3
.9
%
) 
s
a
id
 t
h
e
y
 w
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l.
 

 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
F
o
u
r:
 R
e
m
o
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 S
e
c
o
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 R
e
b
a
te
 

•
 
4
4
%
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 a
g
re
e
d
 w
it
h
 r
e
m
o
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 S
e
c
o
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 R
e
b
a
te
, 
w
h
ile
 3
2
.9
%
 d
is
a
g
re
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l.
  
 

•
 
N
e
a
rl
y
 a
ll 
re
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 (
9
2
.1
%
) 
w
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l.
 

 T
h
e
 f
u
ll 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 a
re
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 a
 s
e
p
a
ra
te
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t.
 

  C
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
E
v
e
n
t 
–
 S
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
r 
E
v
e
n
t 
F
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

 K
e
y
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 e
v
e
n
t 
b
y
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
is
 a
s
 f
o
llo
w
s
: 
- 

 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
O
n
e
: 
E
v
e
ry
o
n
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 p
a
y
 s
o
m
e
th
in
g
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 t
h
e
ir
 c
o
u
n
c
il
 t
a
x
 

•
 
G
re
a
te
r 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 a
n
d
 i
n
a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 p
a
y
 t
h
e
 b
ill
, 
g
iv
e
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 o
u
tg
o
in
g
s
 i
.e
. 
fo
o
d
 u
ti
lit
y
 b
ill
s
. 

•
 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 o
th
e
r 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 i
.e
. 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 p
la
c
e
 g
re
a
te
r 
p
re
s
s
u
re
 o
n
 p
e
o
p
le
. 
 

•
 
C
o
n
c
e
rn
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 s
tr
e
s
s
 t
h
is
 w
ill
 p
la
c
e
 o
n
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
. 

•
 
C
o
n
c
e
rn
 t
h
a
t 
c
lie
n
ts
 m
a
y
 n
o
t 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b
ill
s
. 

 P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
T
w
o
: 
L
im

it
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il
 T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 a
 B
a
n
d
 D
 c
h
a
rg
e
 

•
 
A
ff
e
c
t 
c
lie
n
t 
w
e
e
k
ly
 o
u
tg
o
in
g
s
 /
 g
re
a
te
r 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
. 

•
 
A
ff
e
c
t 
o
n
 l
a
rg
e
r 
fa
m
ili
e
s
. 

 P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
T
h
re
e
: 
R
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 l
im

it
 f
ro
m
 £
1
6
,0
0
0
 t
o
 £
6
,0
0
0
 f
o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
-a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 

•
 
C
lie
n
ts
 h
a
v
e
 l
it
tl
e
 o
r 
n
o
 s
a
v
in
g
s
. 

•
 
A
ff
e
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 i
ll 
/ 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 w
h
o
 m
a
n
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 l
e
ft
 m
o
n
e
y
, 
w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
y
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 t
o
 u
s
e
. 

•
 
P
e
n
a
lis
in
g
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 s
a
v
e
d
. 

 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
F
o
u
r:
 R
e
m
o
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 S
e
c
o
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 R
e
b
a
te
 

•
 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
is
 n
o
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 a
ff
e
c
t 
m
a
n
y
 c
lie
n
ts
. 

•
 
F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
s
tr
a
in
. 

   

Page 42



- 
1
1
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

O
th
e
r 
k
e
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
: 

•
 
C
lie
n
ts
 m
a
y
 h
id
e
 /
 i
g
n
o
re
 t
h
e
ir
 b
ill
s
. 
 

•
 
D
e
m
a
n
d
s
 p
la
c
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 H
a
rd
s
h
ip
 F
u
n
d
. 

•
 
C
lie
n
ts
 w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 w
h
o
 a
re
 n
o
t 
a
b
le
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 c
a
n
n
o
t 
a
ff
o
rd
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
. 

 H
o
w
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 w
ill
 a
ff
e
c
t 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
: 
 

•
 
In
c
re
a
s
e
d
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 f
o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 t
h
o
s
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
. 

•
 
T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
to
 c
re
a
te
 m
o
re
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
w
o
u
ld
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 i
n
 b
u
d
g
e
ti
n
g
 

a
n
d
 w
o
u
ld
 n
e
e
d
 g
re
a
te
r 
le
v
e
ls
 o
f 
fa
m
ily
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
. 

•
 
O
n
e
 o
rg
a
n
iz
a
ti
o
n
 h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 “
m
a
jo
r 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 [
o
u
r]
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
a
n
d
 w
ill
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 m

a
n
y
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 o
f 
c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 

n
e
e
d
in
g
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
”.
 

 H
o
w
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
ir
 c
lie
n
ts
: 
 

•
 
R
e
fe
rr
in
g
 c
lie
n
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 h
e
lp
 t
h
e
m
 i
n
 f
in
d
in
g
 o
u
t 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 t
h
e
 H
a
rd
s
h
ip
 F
u
n
d
 

a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
y
 c
a
n
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
h
is
. 

•
 
O
n
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 s
a
id
 t
h
e
y
 w
o
u
ld
 r
e
v
ie
w
 a
ll 
o
f 
th
e
ir
 w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 c
lie
n
ts
 t
o
 “
e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
ir
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 

a
c
c
u
ra
te
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
.”
 

•
 
C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 o
u
tr
e
a
c
h
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 s
h
a
re
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
d
v
ic
e
. 

 T
h
e
 f
u
ll 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 a
re
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 a
 s
e
p
a
ra
te
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t.
 

 

7
. 

W
h
a
t 
a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m

a
y
 

b
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 

th
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
?
 

 

A
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 a
b
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 m
a
d
e
: 
- 

 

•
 
R
e
a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
 P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
T
w
o
 –
 L
im
it
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 a
 B
a
n
d
 D
 

c
h
a
rg
e
. 

•
 
E
n
s
u
re
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 k
e
y
 a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 c
a
s
c
a
d
e
 o
f 
k
e
y
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 a
llo
w
 f
o
r 
b
e
tt
e
r 
s
ig
n
p
o
s
ti
n
g
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 p
ro
te
c
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
s
 f
a
r 
a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
. 

•
 
S
o
ft
w
a
re
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 a
d
a
p
t 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 b
ill
s
 s
o
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 a
re
 m
o
re
 u
s
e
r 
fr
ie
n
d
ly
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 k
e
y
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 c
lie
n
ts
. 

•
 
L
o
o
k
 i
n
to
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 w
a
y
s
 f
o
r 
c
lie
n
ts
 t
o
 p
a
y
 t
h
e
ir
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 w
e
e
k
ly
 o
r 
fo
rt
n
ig
h
tl
y
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 

a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 d
o
o
rs
te
p
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

    

 

Page 43



- 
1
2
 -

 

P
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
n
d
 N
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
ts
  

 
 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

8
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
n
d
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 

im
p
a
c
ts
 o
n
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 

It
 i
s
 n
o
t 
e
n
o
u
g
h
 t
o
 s
ta
te
 t
h
a
t 
a
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
w
ill
 a
ff
e
c
t 
e
v
e
ry
o
n
e
 e
q
u
a
lly
. 
 T
h
e
re
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 m

o
re
 i
n
-d
e
p
th
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 t
o
 s
e
e
 i
f 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
g
ro
u
p
s
 a
re
 m

o
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 t
h
a
n
 o
th
e
rs
 –
 u
s
e
 t
h
e
 t
a
b
le
 b
e
lo
w
. 
 Y
o
u
 s
h
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 

w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
 I
f 
y
o
u
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
re
 t
o
 b
e
 n
o
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 o
r 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 u
s
e
 t
h
e
 ‘
n
e
u
tr
a
l’ 
c
o
lu
m
n
 t
o
 e
x
p
la
in
 w
h
y
. 

 
P
o
s
it
iv
e
 I
m
p
a
c
t 

N
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 I
m
p
a
c
t 

N
e
u
tr
a
l 
Im
p
a
c
t 

A
ll 
g
ro
u
p
s
 i
n
 s
o
c
ie
ty
 

g
e
n
e
ra
lly

 
L
o
c
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 f
o
llo
w
 t
h
e
 

u
n
d
e
rl
y
in
g
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
 a
s
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 

D
C
L
G
 a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
r 
in
c
e
n
ti
v
e
s
 a
t 
a
 l
o
c
a
l 

le
v
e
l 
to
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
y
 a
n
d
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 t
h
e
 u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 b
a
c
k
 t
o
 w
o
rk
. 

 T
h
e
re
 a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 1
8
,1
2
6
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

c
la
im
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
in
 T
o
rb
a
y
. 
 

O
f 
th
e
s
e
, 
9
,8
6
6
 (
5
4
.4
3
%
) 
a
re
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

in
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
. 

 T
h
e
 d
ra
ft
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 a
 h
a
rd
s
h
ip
 

fu
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
p
ro
v
id
e
s
 a
 s
a
fe
ty
 n
e
t 
s
o
 t
h
a
t 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 c
a
n
 b
e
 

a
w
a
rd
e
d
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
a
l 
n
e
e
d
. 

  

T
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 h
a
s
 t
o
 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to
 c
o
n
te
x
t 
w
it
h
 

th
e
 w
id
e
r 
w
e
lf
a
re
 r
e
fo
rm
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

ri
s
k
s
 t
h
a
t 
w
it
h
 o
th
e
r 
c
o
s
t 
o
f 
liv
in
g
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
s
 

a
n
d
 p
re
s
s
u
re
s
 o
n
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 a
n
d
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 

w
it
h
in
 T
o
rb
a
y
, 
p
e
o
p
le
’s
 a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 p
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 m
a
y
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
ro
m
is
e
d
. 

 T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 t
h
e
 r
is
k
 t
h
a
t 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
b
u
rd
e
n
s
 a
re
 

p
la
c
e
d
 o
n
 o
th
e
r 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
ru
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
, 
c
h
ild
 p
o
v
e
rt
y
, 

c
h
ild
re
n
’s
 a
n
d
 a
d
u
lt
s
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 a
s
 p
e
o
p
le
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
re
 p
u
t 
u
n
d
e
r 
e
x
tr
a
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
s
tr
a
in
. 
  

      

T
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
w
ill
 e
n
s
u
re
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

a
p
p
ly
in
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
o
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
. 
  

 T
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 

to
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 k
e
y
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
: 
- 

 
�
 
E
v
e
ry
 w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 a
d
u
lt
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 p
a
y
 s
o
m
e
th
in
g
 

(p
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
 w
ill
 b
e
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
) 
 

�
 
P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 (
in
 l
in
e
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
s
y
s
te
m
) 
 

�
 
T
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
 i
n
c
e
n
ti
v
is
e
 

w
o
rk
 w
h
e
re
v
e
r 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
  

�
 
T
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
, 
a
s
 f
a
r 
a
s
 

p
o
s
s
ib
le
, 
a
llo
w
 f
o
r 
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 

g
ro
w
th
 i
n
 d
e
m
a
n
d
  

�
 
A
 d
is
c
re
ti
o
n
a
ry
 f
u
n
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

c
re
a
te
d
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 p
ro
te
c
t 
th
e
 

m
o
s
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

O
ld
e
r 
o
r 
y
o
u
n
g
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 
 

P
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
 w
ill
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
s
 o
u
tl
in
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d
ra
ft
 r
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
s
 

p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 D
C
L
G
. 
 I
t 
is
 t
h
e
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
ts
 v
ie
w
 l
o
w
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 

p
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
 w
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
b
e
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
o
 

w
o
rk
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 t
h
e
ir
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 a
n
d
 

w
ill
 b
e
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 f
ro
m
 a
n
y
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
th
is
 r
e
fo
rm
. 

 In
 T
o
rb
a
y
 p
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
t 
2
3
.6
%
 o
f 

In
 t
h
e
 w
id
e
r 
c
o
n
te
x
t 
o
f 
w
e
lf
a
re
 r
e
fo
rm
 t
h
is
 w
ill
 

a
d
d
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
p
re
s
s
u
re
 o
n
 w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 

p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
. 

 T
h
e
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
fo
r 
a
ll 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
s
 t
h
e
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
t 
w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
 i
s
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 f
ro
m
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
3
. 

 

 

Page 44



- 
1
3
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

th
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 (
C
e
n
s
u
s
 2
0
1
1
) 
a
n
d
 

4
5
.5
7
%
 o
f 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
. 
 

 A
s
k
in
g
 n
o
n
-w
o
rk
in
g
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 

a
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 i
s
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 m
a
in
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 o
f 
c
re
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 

ri
g
h
t 
in
c
e
n
ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 g
e
t 
m
o
re
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
to
 

w
o
rk
 b
y
 e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 w
o
rk
 a
lw
a
y
s
 p
a
y
s
. 
 

 

In
 t
h
is
 c
a
te
g
o
ry
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 c
la
im
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
g
e
d
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 2
0
 a
n
d
 6
4
 (
6
0
.3
7
%
) 
is
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 h
ig
h
e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
e
 T
o
rb
a
y
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 (
5
5
.3
%
) 
  
 

 R
e
s
tr
ic
ti
o
n
 t
o
 B
a
n
d
 D
 

C
a
s
e
 s
tu
d
ie
s
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d
ra
ft
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 h
ig
h
lig
h
t 
a
 

d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 w
h
e
re
 

a
 B
a
n
d
 D
 r
e
s
tr
ic
ti
o
n
 c
o
m
b
in
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 7
5
%
 

lim
it
a
ti
o
n
 a
p
p
lie
s
. 

 T
h
e
re
 a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 2
0
3
 l
iv
e
 c
a
s
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
w
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l,
 w
h
ic
h
 c
o
n
s
is
ts
 

o
f 
1
1
3
 o
w
n
e
r 
o
c
c
u
p
ie
rs
 a
n
d
 9
0
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

liv
in
g
 i
n
 r
e
n
te
d
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

 

B
a
n
d
 

N
u
m
b
e
r 

E
 

1
5
8
 

F
 

3
6
 

G
 

9
 

H
 

0
 

 U
n
e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 s
in
g
le
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 c
o
u
p
le
s
 t
h
a
t 

d
o
 n
o
t 
fa
ll 
in
to
 a
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 c
a
te
g
o
ry
 w
ill
 b
e
 

a
ff
e
c
te
d
 m
o
re
 t
h
a
n
 a
n
y
 o
th
e
r 
g
ro
u
p
, 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

lo
s
s
 o
f 
re
s
id
u
a
l 
in
c
o
m
e
 r
e
la
ti
v
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
p
e
rt
y
 b
a
n
d
 c
h
a
rg
e
. 

 R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 c
a
p
it
a
l/
s
a
v
in
g
s
 l
im

it
 f
ro
m
 

£
1
6
,0
0
0
 t
o
 £
6
,0
0
0
 

A
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
th
is
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 t
h
e
re
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
 

d
if
fe
re
n
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
re
a
tm
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
o
s
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 

a
 p
a
s
s
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
e
n
e
fi
t,
 p
a
id
 b
y
 t
h
e
 D
W
P
 a
n
d
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 c
a
s
e
s
, 
w
h
ic
h
 a
re
 c
a
lc
u
la
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

c
o
u
n
c
il.
  
T
h
e
re
 i
s
 a
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t 
fo
r 

th
o
s
e
 o
n
 p
a
s
s
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
s
 t
h
e
ir
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 

is
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
c
a
p
it
a
l 
o
v
e
r 
£
6
,0
0
0
, 

Page 45



- 
1
4
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

th
ro
u
g
h
 t
a
ri
ff
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
s
. 
 I
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 

a
d
m
in
is
tr
a
ti
v
e
ly
 p
ro
h
ib
it
iv
e
 t
o
 r
e
-v
e
ri
fy
 t
h
e
 

c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 o
f 
a
ll 
o
f 
th
o
s
e
 o
n
 p
a
s
s
p
o
rt
e
d
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
. 
It
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 u
n
u
s
u
a
l 
fo
r 
s
o
m
e
o
n
e
 o
n
 a
 

p
a
s
s
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
to
 h
a
v
e
 i
n
 e
x
c
e
s
s
 o
f 

£
6
,0
0
0
. 
 

 M
it
ig
a
ti
o
n
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 f
o
c
u
s
e
d
 o
n
 e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 l
o
c
a
l 

s
k
ill
s
 a
n
d
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
 a
re
 c
o
n
d
u
c
te
d
; 

lin
k
s
 a
re
 m
a
d
e
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 D
W
P
 a
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 a
n
d
 w
id
e
r 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 a
re
 

ta
k
e
n
 t
o
 m
a
x
im
is
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
jo
b
 

s
e
a
rc
h
 a
n
d
 c
re
a
ti
o
n
, 
tr
a
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 m
e
n
to
ri
n
g
. 

H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 t
h
e
s
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 i
n
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

c
lim
a
te
. 

 D
o
c
u
m
e
n
te
d
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 c
le
a
rl
y
 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
c
h
ild
 p
o
v
e
rt
y
 h
a
s
 g
ro
w
n
 

e
x
p
o
n
e
n
ti
a
lly
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 r
e
c
e
n
t 
y
e
a
rs
 o
f 

a
u
s
te
ri
ty
 a
n
d
 m
a
y
 b
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
w
id
e
r 
w
e
lf
a
re
 r
e
fo
rm
s
. 

 F
ro
m
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
3
, 
th
e
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
 ‘
c
a
p
’ 
(a
 

m
a
x
im
u
m
 l
im
it
) 
o
n
 t
h
e
 t
o
ta
l 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
b
e
n
e
fi
t 

p
a
id
, 
w
h
e
re
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
is
 r
e
s
tr
ic
te
d
 t
o
 £
5
0
0
 p
e
r 

w
e
e
k
 f
o
r 
c
o
u
p
le
s
 a
n
d
 £
3
5
0
 f
o
r 
s
in
g
le
 p
e
o
p
le
. 
 

In
 T
o
rb
a
y
 t
h
e
 D
W
P
 h
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 8
8
 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
is
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
. 
 T
o
 m
it
ig
a
te
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
o
s
e
 

m
o
re
 s
e
v
e
re
ly
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
is
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 

D
is
c
re
ti
o
n
a
ry
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 c
a
n
 b
e
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
. 

 F
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
r 

e
v
e
n
t 
h
e
ld
 o
n
 t
h
e
 2
3

rd
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
 a
ls
o
 

h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
a
d
u
lt
s
 a
g
e
d
 6
5
 a
n
d
 u
n
d
e
r 

re
c
e
iv
in
g
 c
a
re
 w
h
o
 m
a
y
 h
a
v
e
 t
o
 s
ta
rt
 p
a
y
in
g
 

a
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 

Page 46



- 
1
5
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

b
e
 r
e
-a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
m
o
n
e
ta
ry
 o
u
tg
o
in
g
s
. 
 T
h
is
 m
a
y
 

th
e
n
 m
e
a
n
 a
 g
re
a
te
r 
s
tr
a
in
 o
n
 t
h
e
 A
d
u
lt
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 b
u
d
g
e
t.
 

P
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 c
a
ri
n
g
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 

P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
o
s
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 a
 c
a
re
rs
 

a
llo
w
a
n
c
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
. 

 In
 T
o
rb
a
y
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 8
2
8
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 c
la
im
in
g
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
n
d
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 a
 

c
a
re
rs
 a
llo
w
a
n
c
e
 o
r 
u
n
d
e
rl
y
in
g
 

e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 a
 c
a
re
rs
 a
llo
w
a
n
c
e
, 
w
h
ic
h
 

is
 j
u
s
t 
o
v
e
r 
8
%
 o
f 
th
e
 c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
. 
  
  

   

D
a
ta
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 F
a
m
ily
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

2
0
0
9
/1
0
 S
u
rv
e
y
 s
u
g
g
e
s
ts
 t
h
a
t 
a
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 

p
e
o
p
le
 c
la
im
in
g
 s
o
c
ia
l 
s
e
c
u
ri
ty
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 h
a
v
e
 

a
t 
le
a
s
t 
o
n
e
 a
d
u
lt
 o
r 
c
h
ild
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 d
is
a
b
le
d
, 

a
re
 c
a
re
rs
, 
o
r 
re
q
u
ir
in
g
 i
n
fo
rm
a
l 
c
a
re
. 

 It
 a
ls
o
 h
ig
h
lig
h
ts
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
m
a
y
 h
a
v
e
 c
a
ri
n
g
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
. 
 

A
ro
u
n
d
 1
8
%
 o
f 
u
n
d
e
r 
6
5
’s
 r
e
p
o
rt
 c
a
ri
n
g
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 w
it
h
 1
7
%
 o
f 
re
c
ip
ie
n
ts
 u
n
d
e
r 

6
5
 w
it
h
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
o
n
e
 a
d
u
lt
 r
e
q
u
ir
in
g
 i
n
fo
rm
a
l 

c
a
re
. 

 A
s
 d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
's
 i
n
c
o
m
e
s
 r
e
d
u
c
e
, 
th
e
ir
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 t
o
 p
a
y
 f
o
r 
s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 i
s
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 

im
p
a
c
te
d
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 a
 k
n
o
c
k
 o
n
 e
ff
e
c
t 
o
n
 

c
a
re
rs
. 
 M
a
n
y
 c
a
re
rs
 w
o
rk
 p
a
rt
 t
im
e
 b
u
t 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 W
o
rk
in
g
 T
a
x
 C
re
d
it
 i
s
 n
o
w
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
rs
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 h
a
v
e
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 s
o
 a
n
y
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 

w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 a
 d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
ly
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 

o
n
 t
h
is
 g
ro
u
p
. 

 

 

P
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty

 
 

P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
ill
 b
e
 i
n
 

lin
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

s
c
h
e
m
e
. 
 D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
, 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 

D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 L
iv
in
g
 A
llo
w
a
n
c
e
, 
w
ill
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 

to
 b
e
 f
u
lly
 d
is
re
g
a
rd
e
d
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 t
h
e
 

a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
a
llo
w
a
n
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 

p
re
m
iu
m
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
w
a
rd
e
d
 t
o
 

p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
. 

    

It
 i
s
 a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
re
 

h
is
to
ri
c
a
lly
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 a
n
d
 f
a
c
e
 g
re
a
te
r 

b
a
rr
ie
rs
 w
h
e
n
 a
c
c
e
s
s
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 

th
e
re
fo
re
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 t
o
 b
e
 m
o
re
 

v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 t
h
a
n
 o
th
e
r 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
. 

 P
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 o
ft
e
n
 n
e
e
d
 m
o
re
 

m
o
n
e
y
 f
o
r 
b
a
s
ic
 l
iv
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

n
a
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 i
lln
e
s
s
 o
r 
d
is
a
b
ili
ty
, 
th
e
re
fo
re
 

w
it
h
o
u
t 
a
n
y
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
is
 g
ro
u
p
 t
h
e
 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
a
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
ir
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 

s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
in
 m
a
n
y
 c
a
s
e
s
. 

  

Page 47



- 
1
6
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

               

T
h
e
 F
a
m
ily
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 S
u
rv
e
y
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
 

in
d
ic
a
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
4
8
%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 u
n
d
e
r 
6
5
, 

re
c
e
iv
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
in
 E
n
g
la
n
d
 

h
a
v
e
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
o
n
e
 a
d
u
lt
 o
r 
c
h
ild
 w
h
o
 i
s
 

d
is
a
b
le
d
. 
 

 In
 T
o
rb
a
y
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 3
,7
5
4
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
, 

c
o
n
s
is
ti
n
g
 o
f 
p
a
s
s
p
o
rt
e
d
 a
n
d
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 c
a
s
e
s
 

re
c
e
iv
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t.
  
T
h
e
re
 a
re
 a
ls
o
 

3
7
5
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

th
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 a
 d
is
a
b
le
d
 c
h
ild
. 

  F
ro
m
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
3
 t
h
e
 P
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
e
 

P
a
y
m
e
n
t 
(P
IP
) 
w
ill
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 L
iv
in
g
 

A
llo
w
a
n
c
e
. 
N
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
 t
h
is
 i
s
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 

a
p
p
ro
x
im
a
te
ly
 5
0
0
,0
0
0
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 

re
c
e
iv
e
 D
L
A
, 
e
it
h
e
r 
lo
s
in
g
 e
lig
ib
ili
ty
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
ly
 o
r 
fa
c
in
g
 a
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
t.
  
T
h
e
s
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 w
ill
 b
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 

c
o
m
p
o
u
n
d
e
d
 i
f 
th
e
re
 i
s
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 f
o
r 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 

th
e
ir
 c
a
re
rs
 v
ia
 a
n
y
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t.
 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 o
u
r 
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 

p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 i
lln
e
s
s
e
s
 o
r 

p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fo
r 
in
c
re
a
s
e
s
 i
n
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 m
e
n
ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
 A
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 d
e
s
c
ri
b
e
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 

o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
ta
x
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 

w
it
h
 u
ti
lit
y
 b
ill
 a
n
d
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
c
o
s
t 
o
f 
liv
in
g
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 w
ill
 p
u
t 
a
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
s
tr
a
in
 o
n
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 a
n
d
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 B
a
y
. 
 A
s
 a
 

re
s
u
lt
 a
n
x
ie
ty
, 
d
e
p
re
s
s
io
n
 a
n
d
 r
is
k
 o
f 
s
u
ic
id
e
s
 

m
a
y
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
. 

 

Page 48



- 
1
7
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

W
o
m
e
n
 o
r 
m
e
n
 

 

 
A
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
 f
o
r 
T
o
rb
a
y
 i
s
 t
o
 g
e
t 

p
e
o
p
le
 o
ff
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 b
a
c
k
 i
n
to
 w
o
rk
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 c
lim
a
te
. 
 A
c
c
o
rd
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

L
a
b
o
u
r 
S
u
p
p
ly
 s
u
rv
e
y
 2
0
1
1
-2
0
1
2
 (
s
o
u
rc
e
 

O
N
S
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
) 
T
o
rb
a
y
 h
a
s
 

a
n
 u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te
 o
f 
8
.7
%
, 
th
e
 h
ig
h
e
s
t 
in
 

th
e
 S
o
u
th
 W
e
s
t 
a
n
d
 h
ig
h
e
r 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

ra
te
 (
8
.1
%
)4
  
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 n
o
 

s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
d
if
fe
re
n
c
e
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 

u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te
 o
f 
m
a
le
s
 (
8
.4
%
) 
to
 

fe
m
a
le
s
 (
8
.2
%
).
 

 A
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
th
e
 d
a
ta
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 i
s
 a
 

h
ig
h
e
r 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 f
e
m
a
le
s
 

c
la
im
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
(5
9
.6
2
%
) 

c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
ir
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

T
o
rb
a
y
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 (
5
1
.7
5
%
).
  
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 t
h
e
re
 

is
 o
n
e
 c
la
im
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 o
n
 b
e
h
a
lf
 o
f 
th
e
 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 w
o
u
ld
 

e
x
te
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

fr
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
b
o
th
 g
e
n
d
e
rs
. 
 

 F
u
rt
h
e
rm
o
re
, 
th
e
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 

w
o
m
e
n
 w
h
o
 a
re
 l
o
n
e
 p
a
re
n
ts
, 
w
h
ic
h
 t
o
ta
ls
 

2
,8
3
2
 (
9
3
.6
8
%
) 
c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 1
9
1
 m
a
le
s
 i
s
 

d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
. 
  

 T
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 l
o
n
e
 

p
a
re
n
t 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 c
la
im
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
is
 3
0
.6
4
%
 

 K
e
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 t
w
o
 g
ro
u
p
s
 w
h
o
 w
ill
 b
e
 

s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
lly
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
ly
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 w
e
lf
a
re
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 -
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 w
o
m
e
n
 

(a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
, 
b
y
 d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
, 
c
o
u
p
le
 a
n
d
 l
o
n
e
 

p
a
re
n
t 
fa
m
ili
e
s
).
 

T
h
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 g
e
n
d
e
r.
  

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
in
c
o
m
e
 d
is
re
g
a
rd
s
, 
w
h
ic
h
 

te
n
d
 t
o
 f
a
v
o
u
r 
m
o
re
 w
o
m
e
n
 t
h
a
n
 m
e
n
, 

s
u
c
h
 a
s
 c
h
ild
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
d
is
re
g
a
rd
s
 w
ill
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 b
e
 a
 f
e
a
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
. 
 

     

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

4
 O

N
S
 a

n
n

u
a

l 
p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 s

u
rv

e
y
 (

A
p

r 
2

0
1

1
-M

a
r 

2
0

1
2

),
 M

o
d

e
l 
B

a
se

d
 U

n
e

m
p

lo
y
m

e
n

t 
ra

te
 

Page 49



- 
1
8
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

     

P
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 a
re
 B
la
c
k
 

o
r 
fr
o
m
 a
 M
in
o
ri
ty
 

E
th
n
ic
 b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
 

(B
M
E
) 

 

T
h
e
 C
T
S
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
p
re
c
lu
d
e
 

p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

th
e
ir
 B
M
E
 b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
. 
 U
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
, 
e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
t 
is
 s
o
le
ly
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

th
e
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 i
n
c
o
m
e
, 
c
o
m
p
o
s
it
io
n
 a
n
d
 

lia
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 p
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
. 

 T
o
rb
a
y
’s
 B
M
E
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 

in
 r
e
c
e
n
t 
y
e
a
rs
. 
T
h
e
 B
M
E
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

in
c
lu
d
e
s
 a
ll 
b
u
t 
th
e
 W
h
it
e
 B
ri
ti
s
h
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
. 
In
 2
0
0
9
 7
.8
%
 o
f 
th
e
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
e
re
 b
la
c
k
 o
r 
fr
o
m
 a
 m
in
o
ri
ty
 

e
th
n
ic
 b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
. 
  

 F
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
re
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 
th
o
s
e
 w
h
e
re
 

th
e
 s
p
o
k
e
n
 o
r 
w
ri
tt
e
n
 E
n
g
lis
h
 i
s
 e
it
h
e
r 
n
o
t 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 o
r 
a
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
. 

C
la
im
a
n
ts
 f
ro
m
 B
M
E
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 m
a
y
 b
e
 

m
o
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 f
ro
m
 l
a
rg
e
 o
r 

m
u
lt
ig
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 B
a
n
d
 D
 r
e
s
tr
ic
ti
o
n
 a
s
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 

m
o
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 l
iv
in
g
 i
n
 l
a
rg
e
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
. 

 

T
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
 o
f 
th
e
 T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 

d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
te
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 B
M
E
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
. 
 H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 w
e
 d
o
 n
o
t 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 h
o
ld
 a
n
y
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
d
a
ta
 a
t 

c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
n
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 B
M
E
 

b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
 f
o
r 
C
T
B
 c
la
im
a
n
ts
. 

R
e
lig
io
n
 a
n
d
 B
e
lie
f 

T
h
e
 C
T
S
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
p
re
c
lu
d
e
 

p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 r
e
c
e
iv
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

th
e
ir
 r
e
lig
io
n
 o
r 
b
e
lie
f.
  
U
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 n
e
w
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
, 
e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
t 
is
 s
o
le
ly
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

th
e
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 i
n
c
o
m
e
, 
c
o
m
p
o
s
it
io
n
 a
n
d
 

lia
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 p
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
. 

 A
c
c
o
rd
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 2
0
1
1
 O
N
S
 C
e
n
s
u
s
 

7
6
.1
9
%
 o
f 
th
e
 T
o
rb
a
y
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w
e
re
 

C
h
ri
s
ti
a
n
. 
 F
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
re
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 

th
o
s
e
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
 s
p
o
k
e
n
 o
r 
w
ri
tt
e
n
 E
n
g
lis
h
 

is
 e
it
h
e
r 
n
o
t 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 o
r 
a
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 

la
n
g
u
a
g
e
. 

C
la
im
a
n
ts
 f
ro
m
 T
o
rb
a
y
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 w
h
e
re
 

th
e
ir
 r
e
lig
io
u
s
 b
e
lie
fs
 m
e
a
n
 t
h
e
y
 m
a
y
 b
e
 m
o
re
 

lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 f
ro
m
 l
a
rg
e
r 
o
r 
m
u
lt
ig
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 B
a
n
d
 D
 

re
s
tr
ic
ti
o
n
 a
s
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 m
o
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 l
iv
in
g
 

in
 l
a
rg
e
 p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
. 

T
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
 o
f 
th
e
 T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 

d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
te
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

th
e
ir
 r
e
lig
io
n
 o
r 
b
e
lie
f.
  
H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 w
e
 

d
o
 n
o
t 
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 h
o
ld
 a
n
y
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 

d
a
ta
 a
t 
c
a
s
e
lo
a
d
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
n
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 a
 

p
e
rs
o
n
’s
 r
e
lig
io
n
 o
r 
b
e
lie
f 
fo
r 
C
T
B
 

c
la
im
a
n
ts
. 

 

P
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

le
s
b
ia
n
, 
g
a
y
 o
r 

b
is
e
x
u
a
l 

S
a
m
e
 s
e
x
 c
o
u
p
le
s
 a
n
d
 c
iv
il 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 

w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 n
e
w
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 

in
 t
h
e
 s
a
m
e
 w
a
y
 a
s
 h
e
te
ro
s
e
x
u
a
l 
c
o
u
p
le
s
 

a
n
d
 m
a
rr
ia
g
e
s
. 

 
T
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
 o
f 
th
e
 T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 

d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
te
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

th
e
ir
 s
e
x
u
a
l 
o
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
. 
 T
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 

Page 50



- 
1
9
 -

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
k
e
e
p
 c
a
s
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
d
a
ta
 o
n
 a
 

p
e
rs
o
n
’s
 s
e
x
u
a
l 
o
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
s
 i
t 
w
o
u
ld
 

n
o
t 
b
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t.
 

 

P
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

tr
a
n
s
g
e
n
d
e
re
d
 

T
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 

th
o
s
e
 h
a
v
in
g
 g
o
n
e
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 g
e
n
d
e
r 

re
a
s
s
ig
n
m
e
n
t.
  
P
ro
v
is
io
n
 c
a
n
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 f
o
r 

th
o
s
e
 u
n
d
e
rg
o
in
g
 t
h
e
 g
e
n
d
e
r 

re
a
s
s
ig
n
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 w
it
h
 r
e
g
a
rd
 t
o
 t
h
e
ir
 

a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
is
 

p
e
ri
o
d
. 

 
T
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
 o
f 
th
e
 T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 

d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
te
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 

u
n
d
e
rg
o
n
e
 g
e
n
d
e
r 
re
a
s
s
ig
n
m
e
n
t.
 

 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
d
a
ta
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
tr
a
n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 h
ig
h
e
r 
le
v
e
ls
 o
f 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l/
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 

e
x
c
lu
s
io
n
 t
h
a
n
 o
th
e
r 
g
ro
u
p
s
. 

P
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 a
re
 i
n
 a
 

m
a
rr
ia
g
e
 o
r 
c
iv
il 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip

 

M
a
rr
ie
d
 c
o
u
p
le
 a
n
d
 c
iv
il 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 a
re
 

re
c
o
g
n
is
e
d
 e
q
u
a
lly
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
. 
T
h
e
 e
q
u
a
l 
a
n
d
 f
a
ir
 

tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t 
o
f 
c
o
u
p
le
s
 w
ill
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 u
n
d
e
r 

th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 n
e
w
 s
c
h
e
m
e
. 

 
 

W
o
m
e
n
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

p
re
g
n
a
n
t 
/ 
o
n
 

m
a
te
rn
it
y
 l
e
a
v
e
 

T
h
e
 t
re
a
tm
e
n
t 
o
f 
in
c
o
m
e
 a
n
d
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 o
f 

w
o
m
e
n
 e
x
p
e
c
ti
n
g
 c
h
ild
re
n
 i
s
 a
 f
e
a
tu
re
 o
f 

th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 

a
n
d
 w
ill
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 n
e
w
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
. 

 
 

 

Page 51



- 
2
0
 -

 

 

9
. 

Is
 t
h
e
re
 s
c
o
p
e
 f
o
r 
y
o
u
r 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
to
 e
li
m
in
a
te
 

d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
, 
p
ro
m
o
te
 

e
q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 

a
n
d
/o
r 
fo
s
te
r 
g
o
o
d
 

re
la
ti
o
n
s
?
 

A
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
it
s
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 w
it
h
 o
th
e
r 
D
e
v
o
n
 a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
ili
ty
 P
o
lic
y
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

to
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
re
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 a
s
 f
a
r 
a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
. 
 O
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
lo
w
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 p
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
 

th
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
h
a
s
 n
o
t 
p
re
s
c
ri
b
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 o
th
e
r 
g
ro
u
p
s
 t
h
a
t 
lo
c
a
l 
c
o
u
n
c
ils
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
. 
 T
h
e
re
fo
re
 T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
h
a
s
 t
a
ilo
re
d
 

it
s
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 v
a
ri
o
u
s
 s
ta
tu
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 p
ro
te
c
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 

 In
 T
o
rb
a
y
 t
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
re
 d
e
fi
n
e
d
 a
s
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

s
c
h
e
m
e
: 
- 
 

 

G
ro
u
p
 

L
e
g
is
la
ti
o
n
 

C
o
u
p
le
s
 w
it
h
 c
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 l
o
n
e
 p
a
re
n
ts
 

C
h
ild
 P
o
v
e
rt
y
 A
c
t 
2
0
1
0
 

D
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
rs
o
n
s
 

D
is
a
b
le
d
 P
e
rs
o
n
s
 A
c
t 
(S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 &
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
) 
A
c
t 
1
9
8
6
 

H
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 A
c
t 
1
9
9
6
 

C
a
re
rs
 

E
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 A
c
t 
2
0
1
0
 

W
a
r 
p
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
 (
u
n
d
e
r 
p
e
n
s
io
n
a
b
le
 a
g
e
) 

A
rm
e
d
 F
o
rc
e
s
 C
o
v
e
n
a
n
t 
(L
o
c
a
l)
 

 T
h
e
 t
a
b
le
 b
e
lo
w
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
e
 d
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
la
im
a
n
ts
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
 ‘
lo
c
a
l’ 
d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 o
f 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
ili
ty
 i
s
 a
p
p
lie
d
: 

 

C
la
im

a
n
t 
G
ro
u
p
 

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
C
a
s
e
s
 

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 –
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

5
,3
4
1
 

5
4
.1
4
%
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 –
 n
o
n
-v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

4
,5
2
5
 

4
5
.8
6
%
 

T
o
ta
l 

9
,8
6
6
 

1
0
0
%
 

 T
h
e
 p
u
rp
o
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
ili
ty
 P
o
lic
y
 i
s
 f
o
r 
T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
to
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
it
s
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 d
e
fi
n
e
 a
n
d
 a
s
s
is
t 
th
o
s
e
 d
e
e
m
e
d
 a
s
 

v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
. 
 I
n
 d
o
in
g
 s
o
 i
t 
s
e
e
k
s
 t
o
: 
- 

 

•
 
P
ro
te
c
t 
th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 o
f 
s
ta
te
 p
e
n
s
io
n
 c
re
d
it
 a
g
e
. 

•
 
H
e
lp
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 t
ry
in
g
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 t
h
e
m
s
e
lv
e
s
. 

•
 
E
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
to
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t.
 

 In
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 
c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 h
a
v
e
 e
q
u
a
l 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
, 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
h
a
s
 a
d
o
p
te
d
 a
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
h
ic
h
 a
im
s
 t
o
 r
e
a
c
h
 a
ll 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 a
n
d
 h
a
rd
 t
o
 r
e
a
c
h
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 i
n
 o
u
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
. 
 I
n
 d
o
in
g
 t
h
is
, 
w
e
 w
ill
 e
n
s
u
re
 

th
a
t:
 -
 

 

•
 
A
ll 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 f
o
rm
a
ts
 a
n
d
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
s
 o
n
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t.
 

•
 
A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
rm
s
 f
o
r 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 o
n
lin
e
 o
r 
b
y
 v
is
it
in
g
 o
n
e
 o
f 
o
u
r 
C
o
n
n
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
ff
ic
e
s
. 

•
 
C
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 c
a
n
 c
o
n
ta
c
t 
u
s
 b
y
 t
e
le
p
h
o
n
e
 o
r 
e
m
a
il.
 

•
 
A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 o
n
 o
u
r 
w
e
b
s
it
e
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 p
u
b
lic
is
e
d
 i
n
 l
e
a
fl
e
ts
. 

 

Page 52



- 
2
1
 -

 

•
 
W
e
 w
ill
 w
o
rk
 c
lo
s
e
ly
 w
it
h
 w
e
lf
a
re
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 t
h
a
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
y
 c
a
n
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
. 

 T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
 m
a
in
ta
in
 t
h
e
 k
e
y
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 a
n
d
, 
a
s
 

s
u
c
h
, 
p
ro
v
id
e
s
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
. 
 O
u
r 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
in
c
lu
d
e
 

in
c
o
m
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
lly
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 a
s
 i
s
 t
h
e
 c
a
s
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
. 
T
h
is
 m
e
a
n
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 

in
c
o
m
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 f
ro
m
 D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 L
iv
in
g
 A
llo
w
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 P
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
e
 P
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 b
e
 d
is
re
g
a
rd
e
d
. 
 T
h
e
 e
ff
e
c
t 
o
f 

th
is
 i
s
 t
h
a
t 
m
o
re
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 r
e
la
te
d
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
ta
in
e
d
 b
e
fo
re
 d
is
a
b
le
d
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r’
s
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
s
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
. 

 In
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 t
o
 t
h
is
, 
th
e
 c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 w
ill
 a
ls
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
ll 
o
f 
th
e
 p
re
m
iu
m
s
 w
h
ic
h
 e
x
is
te
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t,
 i
.e
. 

D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 P
re
m
iu
m
, 
S
e
v
e
re
 D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 P
re
m
iu
m
, 
E
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 P
re
m
iu
m
, 
w
o
rk
 r
e
la
te
d
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 c
o
m
p
o
n
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

c
o
m
p
o
n
e
n
t.
 

 T
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
a
ls
o
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
s
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
m
a
in
ta
in
in
g
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
p
o
n
e
n
ts
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
h
ic
h
 

a
ff
o
rd
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
. 
 T
h
e
s
e
 a
llo
w
 f
o
r 
th
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 t
y
p
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 d
is
re
g
a
rd
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
: 
- 

 

•
 
A
ll 
C
h
ild
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

•
 
A
ll 
C
h
ild
 m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 

A
ll 
o
th
e
r 
in
c
o
m
e
 p
a
y
a
b
le
 t
o
 d
e
p
e
n
d
a
n
t 
c
h
ild
re
n
  
 *
th
e
re
 m
a
y
 b
e
 s
o
m
e
, 
v
e
ry
 r
a
re
, 
e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 

•
 
U
p
 t
o
 £
1
7
5
.0
0
 p
e
r 
w
e
e
k
 f
o
r 
o
n
e
 c
h
ild
 a
n
d
 £
3
0
0
.0
0
 p
e
r 
w
e
e
k
 f
o
r 
tw
o
 o
r 
m
o
re
 c
h
ild
re
n
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 c
h
ild
c
a
re
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
, 
fo
r 

w
o
rk
in
g
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
. 

 T
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
w
ill
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
n
y
 a
p
p
lic
a
n
t 
w
h
o
 i
s
 f
o
u
n
d
 t
o
 b
e
 u
n
in
te
n
ti
o
n
a
lly
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
o
u
r 
d
u
ty
 w
ill
 b
e
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
d
 

a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
, 
o
n
c
e
 t
h
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
 T
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
w
ill
 e
n
s
u
re
 

th
a
t 
a
n
y
 a
p
p
lic
a
n
t 
a
t 
ri
s
k
 o
f 
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 w
h
o
 i
s
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 i
s
 a
s
s
is
te
d
 w
it
h
 a
n
y
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
. 

 A
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 o
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 i
n
 r
e
c
e
ip
t 
o
f 
W
a
r 
D
is
a
b
le
m
e
n
t 
P
e
n
s
io
n
 o
r 
W
a
r 
W
id
o
w
s
 p
a
y
m
e
n
t 
w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
is
 p
a
y
m
e
n
t 
d
is
re
g
a
rd
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 c
a
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 
in
c
o
m
e
 w
h
e
n
 a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
 e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
. 
T
h
is
 m
ir
ro
rs
 t
h
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 

w
it
h
in
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t.
  

 T
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 k
e
e
n
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 b
a
c
k
 i
n
to
 w
o
rk
. 
T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 d
o
e
s
 t
h
is
 i
n
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 a
ll 

c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 o
n
 a
 l
o
w
 i
n
c
o
m
e
, 
n
o
t 
ju
s
t 
th
o
s
e
 i
n
 r
e
c
e
ip
t 
o
f 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
. 
 

 T
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 r
e
ta
in
in
g
 c
o
re
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
. 
T
h
is
 m
e
a
n
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
s
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
 b
a
s
e
d
 u
p
o
n
 a
 2
0
%
 

w
it
h
d
ra
w
a
l 
ra
te
. 
 W
h
e
re
 a
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r’
s
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 e
x
c
e
e
d
s
 t
h
e
ir
 l
iv
in
g
 a
llo
w
a
n
c
e
 a
 d
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
2
0
p
 f
o
r 
e
v
e
ry
 £
1
 w
ill
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 

fr
o
m
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

 [P
le

a
s
e
 r

e
fe

r 
to

 t
h
e
 D

ra
ft
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 S

u
p

p
o
rt

 S
c
h
e
m

e
 V

u
ln

e
ra

b
ili

ty
 P

o
lic

y
 f
o
r 

m
o
re

 d
e
ta

il]
 

 

Page 53



- 
2
2
 -

 

T
h
e
 c
re
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
 H
a
rd
s
h
ip
 F
u
n
d
 m
e
e
ts
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 o
b
lig
a
ti
o
n
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 A
c
t.
  
W
e
 r
e
c
o
g
n
is
e
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 o
f 

p
ro
te
c
ti
n
g
 o
u
r 
m
o
s
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 a
n
d
 a
ls
o
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
th
e
s
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 h
a
v
e
. 
W
e
 h
a
v
e
 c
re
a
te
d
 t
h
e
 f
u
n
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 

w
e
 p
ro
te
c
t 
a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
o
s
e
 m
o
s
t 
in
 n
e
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 e
n
a
b
le
 t
h
e
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
to
 m
a
k
e
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

 T
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 H
a
rd
s
h
ip
 F
u
n
d
 w
ill
; 

 

•
 
A
llo
w
 a
 s
h
o
rt
 p
e
ri
o
d
 o
f 
ti
m
e
 f
o
r 
s
o
m
e
o
n
e
 t
o
 a
d
ju
s
t 
to
 u
n
fo
re
s
e
e
n
 s
h
o
rt
-t
e
rm
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
c
ir
c
u
m
s
ta
n
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 

th
e
m
 t
o
 “
b
ri
d
g
e
 t
h
e
 g
a
p
” 
d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
is
 t
im
e
 

•
 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 m
a
n
a
g
in
g
 t
h
e
ir
 f
in
a
n
c
e
s
 

•
 
H
e
lp
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
c
ri
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
 e
v
e
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 
a
ff
e
c
t 
th
e
ir
 f
in
a
n
c
e
s
 

•
 
P
re
v
e
n
t 
e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
a
l 
h
a
rd
s
h
ip
 

•
 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
tr
a
n
s
it
io
n
 t
o
 a
d
u
lt
 l
if
e
. 

•
 
H
e
lp
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 t
ry
in
g
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 t
h
e
m
s
e
lv
e
s
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
lly
 

•
 
A
lle
v
ia
te
 p
o
v
e
rt
y
 

•
 
S
u
s
ta
in
 t
e
n
a
n
c
ie
s
 a
n
d
 p
re
v
e
n
t 
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
. 

•
 
K
e
e
p
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 

•
 
E
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 o
b
ta
in
 a
n
d
 s
u
s
ta
in
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

•
 
G
iv
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
lly
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

 [P
le

a
s
e
 r

e
fe

r 
to

 t
h
e
 D

ra
ft
 E

x
c
e
p
ti
o
n

a
l 
H

a
rd

s
h

ip
 F

u
n
d
 P

o
lic

y
 f
o
r 

m
o
re

 d
e
ta

il]
 

 
 

  S
e
c
ti
o
n
 3
: 
S
te
p
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
im
p
a
c
ts
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

 

N
o
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

1
0
. 

S
u
m
m
a
ri
s
e
 a
n
y
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 

im
p
a
c
ts
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
y
 w
il
l 

b
e
 r
e
a
li
s
e
d
 m

o
s
t 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
?
 

 

T
o
 c
o
n
c
lu
d
e
, 
it
 i
s
 o
u
r 
v
ie
w
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 a
n
y
 g
ro
u
p
 w
it
h
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 p
e
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
. 
 D
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
e
 h
a
v
e
 t
ri
e
d
 

h
a
rd
 t
o
 b
a
la
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 r
e
a
lit
y
 o
f 
a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
c
u
t 
in
 c
e
n
tr
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
fu
n
d
in
g
 t
o
 p
ro
te
c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 

o
u
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
s
 f
a
r 
a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
. 
 T
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
h
a
t 
b
e
in
g
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 a
c
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
re
c
ip
ie
n
ts
 o
f 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 m
o
re
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 s
h
o
rt
fa
ll 
b
u
t 
a
ls
o
 l
o
o
k
s
 t
o
 p
ro
te
c
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 a
s
 m
u
c
h
 a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
. 

 O
v
e
ra
ll,
 t
h
e
 m
a
in
 f
e
a
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 p
ro
te
c
ti
n
g
 p
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
ly
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 o
n
 t
h
is
 g
ro
u
p
. 
 O
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 

th
a
t 
w
e
 h
a
v
e
 t
ri
e
d
 t
o
 m
ir
ro
r 
a
s
 m
u
c
h
 o
f 
w
h
a
t 
c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 e
x
is
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
s
y
s
te
m
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
C
T
S
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
. 
 D
if
fe
re
n
t 
fa
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 t
re
a
tm
e
n
t 
o
f 
in
c
o
m
e
 a
n
d
 a
llo
w
a
n
c
e
s
 o
f 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 w
o
m
e
n
 w
it
h
 c
h
ild
re
n
 a
re
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 

o
v
e
r 
in
to
 o
u
r 
lo
c
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 s
o
 i
t 
is
 o
u
r 
v
ie
w
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 a
d
v
e
rs
e
 o
r 
d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 w
it
h
 

p
ro
te
c
te
d
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
. 

  

Page 54



- 
2
3
 -

 

1
1
. 

S
u
m
m
a
ri
s
e
 a
n
y
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 

im
p
a
c
ts
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
s
e
 

w
il
l 
b
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
d
?
 

 

T
h
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
im
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
n
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 m
u
s
t 
b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 w
id
e
r 
c
o
n
te
x
t 
o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
a
u
s
te
ri
ty
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 i
m
p
e
n
d
in
g
 w
e
lf
a
re
 r
e
fo
rm
 i
.e
. 
re
d
u
c
e
d
 e
lig
ib
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 t
a
x
 c
re
d
it
; 
b
e
n
e
fi
t 
c
a
p
; 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
, 

a
lo
n
g
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 w
e
ll 
d
o
c
u
m
e
n
te
d
 w
id
e
r 
d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 o
n
 d
is
a
b
le
d
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
r 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
it
h
 

c
h
ild
re
n
 u
n
d
e
r 
fi
v
e
. 
 

 A
s
 m
e
n
ti
o
n
e
d
 e
ls
e
w
h
e
re
 i
n
 t
h
is
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
th
e
 g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
h
a
s
 s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
c
o
u
n
c
ils
 s
h
o
u
ld
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
d
e
s
ig
n
in
g
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 

th
a
t 
p
ro
te
c
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 g
ro
u
p
s
 b
e
y
o
n
d
 p
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
. 
 T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
re
g
a
rd
s
 C
T
B
 c
la
im
a
n
ts
 a
s
 s
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
 v
e
ry
 p
o
o
re
s
t 
o
f 
o
u
r 

c
it
iz
e
n
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 b
y
 d
e
fi
n
it
io
n
 a
ll 
C
T
B
 c
la
im
a
n
ts
 a
re
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
. 
 F
u
rt
h
e
rm
o
re
, 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h
a
s
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 d
u
ti
e
s
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 c
h
ild
re
n
, 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
. 
 A
ls
o
, 
a
s
 p
e
n
s
io
n
e
rs
 a
re
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
h
e
 

lo
s
s
 o
f 
fu
n
d
in
g
 w
ill
 d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
ly
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 c
la
im
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t,
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 w
ill
 b
e
 m
u
c
h
 g
re
a
te
r 
th
a
n
 1
0
%
. 
  
 

 T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
ili
ty
 P
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 H
a
rd
s
h
ip
 F
u
n
d
 a
re
 m
it
ig
a
ti
n
g
 f
e
a
tu
re
s
 o
f 
th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
o
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
 a
n
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 a
s
 m
e
n
ti
o
n
e
d
 a
b
o
v
e
. 
 F
u
rt
h
e
r 
to
 t
h
is
, 
re
s
tr
ic
te
d
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 b
a
n
d
s
 

(i
.e
. 
P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
T
w
o
 –
 L
im
it
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 a
 B
a
n
d
 D
 c
h
a
rg
e
) 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

d
e
la
y
e
d
 f
o
r 
1
2
 m
o
n
th
s
 a
s
 i
t 
m
a
y
 d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
ly
 a
ff
e
c
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 l
a
rg
e
 f
a
m
ili
e
s
, 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
rs
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
. 
 T
h
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 i
n
 2
0
1
3
 f
o
r 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 i
n
 2
0
1
4
/1
5
 t
h
e
re
b
y
 g
iv
in
g
 t
h
o
s
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 t
im
e
 t
o
 l
o
o
k
 i
n
to
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
. 

 

  

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 4
: 
C
o
u
rs
e
 o
f 
A
c
ti
o
n

 
 

N
o
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

1
2
. 

S
ta
te
 a
 c
o
u
rs
e
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 

 [p
le
a
s
e
 r
e
fe
r 
to
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

p
la
n
 o
n
 p
a
g
e
 2
6
] 

T
h
e
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 c
o
n
ta
in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
is
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
re
g
a
rd
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 l
o
c
a
lis
e
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 f
o
r 
T
o
rb
a
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
h
a
s
 c
o
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
: 
- 

 O
u

tc
o

m
e
 2

: 
A

d
ju

s
tm

e
n

ts
 t

o
 r

e
m

o
v
e
 b

a
rr

ie
rs

 –
 A
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 r
e
m
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 b
a
rr
ie
rs
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

ta
k
e
n
 o
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
tt
e
r 
p
ro
m
o
te
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
. 
 

 T
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 m
e
c
h
a
n
is
m
s
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 
im
p
a
c
ts
 a
re
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 –
 p
le
a
s
e
 r
e
fe
r 
to
 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 5
. 

   

Page 55



- 
2
4
 -

 

 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 5
: 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 

 

1
3
 

O
u
tl
in
e
 p
la
n
s
 t
o
 m
o
n
it
o
r 
th
e
 a
c
tu
a
l 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
y
o
u
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 
R
e
p
o
rt
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
u
n
 o
n
 a
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 b
a
s
is
 s
h
o
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
re
a
k
d
o
w
n
s
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 c
la
im
a
n
ts
 t
o
 s
e
e
 i
f 
th
e
re
 a
re
 a
n
y
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 

tr
e
n
d
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 c
la
im
in
g
 e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 a
t 
w
h
a
t 
ra
te
. 
 A
n
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
th
e
 t
y
p
e
 o
f 
c
la
im
a
n
ts
 a
w
a
rd
e
d
 H
a
rd
s
h
ip
 F
u
n
d
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 a
ls
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 u
s
 

to
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 y
e
a
rs
. 

 T
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 w
ill
 b
e
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 b
y
 e
a
c
h
 o
f 
th
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
s
 t
o
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
m
e
; 

 

•
 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
la
im
a
n
ts
  

•
 
C
la
im
a
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 
p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 f
u
ll 
ra
te
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
 

•
 
C
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
s
 

•
 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
m
is
s
e
d
/d
e
fa
u
lt
e
d
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
  

•
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 

•
 
T
a
k
e
 u
p
 o
f 
H
a
rd
s
h
ip
 F
u
n
d
 

•
 
S
p
e
c
ia
l 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
  

 

 

Page 56



- 
2
5
 -

 

A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 –
 D
ra
ft
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 S
c
h
e
m
e
  

  N
o
. 
A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
a
s
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 /
 c
o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
y
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
il
it
y
 
D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 d
a
te
 

1
 

F
in
a
lis
e
 H
a
rd
s
h
ip
 F
u
n
d
 P
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
fi
rm
 d
e
ta
ils
. 

 

T
o
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
a
 H
a
rd
s
h
ip
 F
u
n
d
 t
h
a
t 

re
c
o
g
n
is
e
s
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
p
ro
te
c
ti
n
g
 o
u
r 

m
o
s
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 a
n
d
 a
ls
o
 t
h
e
 

im
p
a
c
t 
th
e
s
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 h
a
v
e
. 
T
h
e
 f
u
n
d
 w
ill
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
o
s
e
 m
o
s
t 
in
 n
e
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
s
 a
 s
h
o
rt
-

te
rm
 e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 f
u
n
d
 u
s
e
d
 w
h
ils
t 
th
e
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
e
k
s
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 s
o
lu
ti
o
n
s
. 

    O
ff
ic
e
 t
im
e
 

    R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 a
n
d
 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 T
e
a
m
 

    6
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
1
2
  

2
 

E
n
s
u
re
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 k
e
y
 

a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 c
a
s
c
a
d
e
 o
f 

k
e
y
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
. 
  
 

 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
o
u
s
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
it
h
 k
e
y
 a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 

w
ill
 a
llo
w
 f
o
r 
b
e
tt
e
r 
s
ig
n
p
o
s
ti
n
g
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 p
ro
te
c
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 a
s
 f
a
r 
a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
. 

  O
ff
ic
e
 t
im
e
 

  R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 a
n
d
 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 T
e
a
m
 

 

  C
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
 1
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
1
3
  

3
 

S
o
ft
w
a
re
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 a
d
a
p
t 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 b
ill
s
  

T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 b
ill
s
 a
re
 m
o
re
 u
s
e
r 

fr
ie
n
d
ly
 t
h
a
t 
in
c
lu
d
e
s
 k
e
y
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 c
lie
n
ts
. 

 O
ff
ic
e
 t
im
e
 

 R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 a
n
d
 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 T
e
a
m
 

 C
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
 1
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
1
3
  

4
 

L
o
o
k
 i
n
to
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 w
a
y
s
 f
o
r 

c
lie
n
ts
 t
o
 p
a
y
 t
h
e
ir
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
. 
  
 

 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 p
a
y
e
rs
, 
e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 

th
o
s
e
 f
in
d
in
g
 t
h
e
m
s
e
lv
e
s
 h
a
v
in
g
 t
o
 p
a
y
 f
o
r 

th
e
 f
ir
s
t 
ti
m
e
, 
w
it
h
 a
 v
a
ri
e
ty
 o
f 
p
a
y
m
e
n
t 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 w
e
e
k
ly
 o
r 

fo
rt
n
ig
h
tl
y
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 d
o
o
rs
te
p
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

  O
ff
ic
e
 t
im
e
 

  R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 a
n
d
 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 T
e
a
m
 

 

  C
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
 1
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
1
3
  

5
 

S
e
t 
u
p
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 m
e
c
h
a
n
is
m
s
: 
- 

•
 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
c
la
im
a
n
ts
. 
 

•
 
C
la
im
a
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 
p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 

re
c
e
iv
e
d
 f
u
ll 
ra
te
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
 

•
 
N
o
n
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
s
. 
 

•
 
T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
m
is
s
e
d
 

p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
. 
 

•
 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 

c
o
lle
c
te
d
. 

•
 
T
a
k
e
 u
p
 o
f 
H
a
rd
s
h
ip
 F
u
n
d
. 

•
 
S
p
e
c
ia
l 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
  

 In
c
lu
d
in
g
 b
re
a
k
d
o
w
n
 b
y
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 

c
h
a
ra
c
te
ri
s
ti
c
 w
h
e
re
 a
p
p
lic
a
b
le
. 

T
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 i
s
 n
o
t 
o
ft
e
n
 f
e
lt
 u
n
ti
l 

s
e
v
e
ra
l 
m
o
n
th
s
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 s
c
h
e
m
e
. 
 

T
h
e
s
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 w
ill
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
n
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
g
ro
u
p
s
 i
s
 h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 i
n
 

a
 t
im
e
ly
 m
a
n
n
e
r 
a
n
d
 i
s
 t
h
e
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
e
d
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
ly
. 

         

   O
ff
ic
e
 t
im
e
 

   R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 a
n
d
 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 T
e
a
m
 

   1
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
3
 

c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

Page 57



- 
2
6
 -

 

6
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 r
e
a
s
s
e
s
s
 P
ro
p
o
s
a
l 

T
w
o
 –
 L
im
it
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 a
 B
a
n
d
 D
 c
h
a
rg
e
. 

 

T
h
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
la
y
e
d
 f
o
r 
1
2
 

m
o
n
th
s
 a
s
 i
t 
m
a
y
 d
is
p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
ly
 a
ff
e
c
t 

p
e
o
p
le
 c
la
im
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
. 
 T
h
is
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
w
ill
 

b
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 2
0
1
3
 f
o
r 
im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

2
0
1
4
/1
5
 t
h
e
re
b
y
 g
iv
in
g
 t
h
o
s
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
ti
m
e
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 

a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

    O
ff
ic
e
 t
im
e
 

    R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 a
n
d
 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 T
e
a
m
 

 

    C
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
 1
 A
p
ri
l 

2
0
1
3
 

         

Page 58



- 27 - 

Appendix A 
 

Case Study – Pension Age 
 
Pensioner - Couple 
 
Claimant aged 75 and partner 77. 
 
They are owner occupiers and live in Torquay. 
 
The property is a Band F property (£2,159).  
 
The couple receive state pensions, a private pension and have savings of £9,000. 
 
Council Tax Benefit is paid at £37.00 per week. 
 
 
July 2012: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

State pensions 
 

£240 Council Tax (£2,159) £42 

Private Pension 
 

  £25   

Council Tax Benefit 
 

  £37   

Total Weekly Income £302 Total Weekly Outgoings £42 

  
Residual Income £260 

 
 
April 2013: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

State pensions 
 

£240 Council Tax (£2,159) 
(Less CT Support £1,924) 

£5 

Private Pension 
 

  £25   

Council Tax Benefit 
 

  £0   

Total Weekly Income £265 Total Weekly Outgoings £5 

  
Residual Income 

£260 

 
 
No change to income as pensioners are protected 
 
 

Page 59



- 28 - 

Appendix A 
 

Case Study – Limit Maximum Level of Support to 75% 
 
Working Age – Working Single Person 
 
Claimant aged 37 and lives alone. 
 
The property is a one bedroom flat in Paignton which is rented at £105.00 per week. 
 
The Council Tax Banding is A with a single person discount (£747). 
 
Currently employed and earns £400.00 net per month.  There are no savings. 
 
Housing Benefit is paid at £70.00 per week.  
 
Council Tax Benefit is paid at £11.00 per week. 
 
 
July 2012: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income   £92 Council Tax  
(£996 less 25% £249) 
 

  £14 

Housing Benefit 
 

  £70 Rent £105 

Council Tax Benefit 
 

  £11   

Total Weekly Income £173 Total Weekly Outgoings £119 

  
Residual Income   £54 

 
 
April 2013: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

  £92 Council Tax  
(£996 less 25% £249) 
(Less CT Support £394)  

£7 

Housing Benefit 
 

  £70 Rent £105 

Council Tax Benefit   £0   

Total Weekly Income £162 Total Weekly Outgoings £112 

  
Residual Income £50 

 
 
£4 per week worse off (7%) 

Page 60



- 29 - 

Appendix A 
 

 Case Study – Limit Maximum Level of Support to 75% 
 

 

Working Age – Couple 
 
Claimant and partner, both are aged 20 and have no children. 
 
The property is a one bedroom flat in Torquay which is rented at £600.00 per calendar month. 
 
The Council Tax Banding is C (£1,329). 
 
The claimant currently works 16 hours a week at £10 per hour (£160 per week net). 
 
Housing Benefit is paid at £70.00 per week.  
 
Council Tax Benefit is paid at £18.00 per week. 
 
 
July 2012: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

£160  Council Tax  
(£1,329) 
 

£26 

Housing Benefit 
 

£70  Rent £138 

Council Tax Benefit £18    

Total Weekly Income £248 Total Weekly Outgoings £164 

  
Residual Income £84 

 
 
April 2013: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

£160 Council Tax  
(£1,329 ) 
(Less CT Support £588) 

£14 

Housing Benefit 
 

£70 Rent £138 

Council Tax Benefit   £0   

Total Weekly Income £230 Total Weekly Outgoings £152 

  
Residual Income £78 

 
 
£6 per week worse off (7%) 

Page 61



- 30 - 

Appendix A 
 

Case Study – Limit Maximum Level of Support to 75% 
 
Working Age – Unemployed Single Person 
 
Claimant aged 56 and lives alone. 
 
The property is in Torquay and owned by the claimant. 
 
The Council Tax Banding is B with a single person discount (£872). 
 
Currently unemployed and receives Job Seekers at £71.00 per week. 
 
Council Tax Benefit is paid at £17.00 per week. 
 
 
July 2012: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income   £71 Council Tax  
(£1,163 less 25% £291) 
 

  £17 

Council Tax Benefit 
 

  £17   

    

Total Weekly Income £88 Total Weekly Outgoings £17 

  
Residual Income   £71 

 
 
April 2013: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

  £71 Council Tax  
(£1,163 less 25% £291) 
(Less CT Support £654) 

£4 

    

Council Tax Benefit   £0   

Total Weekly Income £71 Total Weekly Outgoings £4 

  
Residual Income £67 

 
 
£4 per week worse off (6%) 

Page 62



- 31 - 

Appendix A 
 

Case Study – Limit Maximum Level of Support to 75% 
 
Working Age – Lone Parent 
 
Claimant aged 39, no partner with a 15 year old son. 
 
The property is a two bedroom semi-detached house in Torquay which is rented at £625.00 per calendar 
month. 
 
The Council Tax Banding is C with a single person discount (£996). 
 
Currently works 16 hours a week at £7 per hour (£112 per week net). 
 
Also receives Child Benefit at £20.30 and Tax Credits at £160.00 per week.  Has £1,500 in savings.  
 
Housing Benefit is paid at £82.00 per week.  
 
Council Tax Benefit is paid at £4.00 per week. 
 
 
July 2012: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

  £292 Council Tax  
(£1,329 less 25% £332) 
 

£19 

Housing Benefit 
 

  £82 Rent £144 

Council Tax Benefit   £4   

Total Weekly Income £378 Total Weekly Outgoings £163 

  
Residual Income £215 

 
 
April 2013: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

  £292 Council Tax  
(£1,329 less 25% £332) 
(Not entitled to CT Support) 

£19 

Housing Benefit 
 

  £82 Rent £144 

Council Tax Benefit   £0   

Total Weekly Income £374 Total Weekly Outgoings £163 

  
Residual Income £211 

 
 
£4 per week worse off (2%) 

Page 63



- 32 - 

Appendix A 
 

Case Study – Limit Maximum Level of Support to 75% 
 
Working Age – Disabled Couple 
 
Claimant aged 46 and partner 47. 
 
The property is a two bedroom flat in Torquay which is rented at £103.00 per week. 
 
The Council Tax Banding is B (£1,162). 
 
The claimant receives an occupational pension £511 per month. 
 
Also receives Disability Living Allowance totaling £132 and Incapacity Benefit at £113 per week.   
 
The partner receives a Carers Allowance of £58 per week.  There are no savings.  
 
Housing Benefit is paid at £51.00 per week.  
 
Council Tax Benefit is paid at £6.00 per week. 
 
 
July 2012: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

  £421 Council Tax  
(£1,162) 
 

£22 

Housing Benefit 
 

  £51 Rent £103 

Council Tax Benefit   £6   

Total Weekly Income £478 Total Weekly Outgoings £125 

  
Residual Income £353 

 
 
April 2013: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

  £421 Council Tax  
(£1,162) 
(Less CT Support £52) 

£21 

Housing Benefit 
 

  £51 Rent £103 

Council Tax Benefit   £0   

Total Weekly Income £472 Total Weekly Outgoings £124 

  
Residual Income £348 

 
 
£5 per week worse off (1%) 
 
 

Page 64



- 33 - 

 

Appendix A 
 

Case Study – Limit Maximum Level of Support to 75% 
 
Working Age Couple with Disabled Child 
 
Claimant aged 41 and partner 39 with three children, one disabled, aged between 13 and 16. 
 
The property is a three bedroom terraced house in Paignton which is rented at £606 per calendar month. 
 
The Council Tax Banding is C (£1,329). 
 
Claimant currently works 30 hours a week at £7 per hour (£210 per week net).  The partner has a part 
time job, working 5 hours a week at £7 per hour (£35 per week net). 
 
Receives Child Benefit at £47.10 and Tax Credits at £193.00 per week  
 
Also receives a Carer’s Allowance for their disabled child at £58.00 per week.  Has £1,600 in savings.  
 
Housing Benefit is paid at £110.00 per week.  
 
Council Tax Benefit is paid at £16.00 per week. 
 
 
July 2012: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

  £543 Council Tax  
(£1,329) 
 

£26 

Housing Benefit 
 

  £110 Rent £140 

Council Tax Benefit   £16   

Total Weekly Income £669 Total Weekly Outgoings £166 

  
Residual Income £503 

 
 
April 2013: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

  £543 Council Tax  
(£1,329) 
(Less CT Support £520) 

£16 

Housing Benefit 
 

  £110 Rent £140 

Council Tax Benefit   £0   

Total Weekly Income £653 Total Weekly Outgoings £156 

  
Residual Income £497 

 
 
£6 per week worse off (1%) 

Page 65



- 34 - 

Appendix A 
 

Case Study – Reduce Upper Savings Limit from £16,000 to £6,000  
 
Working Age – Couple 
 
Claimant aged 35 and partner aged 31, with no children. 
 
They are owner occupiers and live in Brixham. 
 
The Council Tax Banding is D (£1,524). 
 
The claimant currently works 30 hours a week at £8 per hour (£240 per week net). 
 
Also receives Tax Credits totaling £30 per week.   
 
The partner receives a Disability Living Allowance at £54 per week. 
 
They have £7,045 in savings.  
 
Council Tax Benefit is paid at £13.00 per week. 
 
 
July 2012: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

£324  Council Tax  
(£1,524) 
 

£29 

Council Tax Benefit £13    

Total Weekly Income £337 Total Weekly Outgoings £29 

  
Residual Income £308 

 
 
April 2013: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

£324 Council Tax  
(£1,524 ) 
(Not entitled to CT Support) 

£29 

Council Tax Benefit   £0   

Total Weekly Income £324 Total Weekly Outgoings £29 

  
Residual Income £295 

 
 
£13 per week worse off (4%) 

Page 66



- 35 - 

Appendix A 
 

Case Study – Reduce Upper Savings Limit from £16,000 to £6,000  
 
Working Age – Lone Parent 
 
Claimant aged 56, with two children. 
 
The property is a three bedroom terraced house in Torquay which is rented at £660 per calendar month. 

The Council Tax Banding is B (£1,163). 

The claimant is currently unemployed but does receive Job Seekers Allowance. 

Child Tax Credit at £244 per week.  

Also receives Child Benefit at £20.30 per week, Disability Living Allowance at £20.55 per week and 
Employment and Support Allowance at £71.00 per week.  

One child is 22 and is unemployed and is treated as a non dependant (no deduction applicable) 

She has £13,970 in savings.  

Housing Benefit is paid at £155.00 per week. 

Council Tax Benefit is paid at £20.00 per week. 
 
 
October 2012: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

£366 Council Tax  
(£1,163) 

£22 

Housing Benefit £155   

Council Tax Benefit £20  

 

Total Weekly Income £541 Total Weekly Outgoings £22 

  
Residual Income £519 

 
April 2013: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income £366 Council Tax  
(£1,163 ) 
(Not entitled to CT Support) 

£22 

Housing Benefit £155   

Council Tax Benefit £0  
 

Total Weekly Income £521 Total Weekly Outgoings £22 

  
Residual Income £499 

 
 
£20 per week worse off (6%) 
 

Page 67



- 36 - 

Appendix A 
 

Case Study – Band D Restriction and 75% Limitation 
 
Working Age – Unemployed Single Person 
 
Claimant aged 48 and lives alone. 
 
The property is in Torquay and owned by the claimant. 
 
The Council Tax Banding is F with a single person discount (£1,619). 
 
Currently unemployed and receives Job Seekers at £71.00 per week. 
 
Council Tax Benefit is paid at £31.00 per week. 
 
 
July 2012: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

£71  Council Tax  
(£2,159 less 25% £540) 
 

£31 

Council Tax Benefit £31    

Total Weekly Income £102 Total Weekly Outgoings £31 

  
Residual Income £71 

 
 
April 2013: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

£71 Council Tax  
(£2,159 less 25% £540) 
(Based on Band D 
£1,495 less 25% £374) 
(Less CT Support £841) 

£15 

Council Tax Benefit   £0   

Total Weekly Income £71 Total Weekly Outgoings £15 

  
Residual Income £56 

 
 
£15 per week worse off (21%) 

Page 68



- 37 - 

Appendix A 
 

Case Study – Band D Restriction and 75% Limitation 
 
Working Age – Unemployed Couple 
 
Claimant aged 40 and partner aged 37, with no children. 
 
The property is in Torquay and owned by the claimant. 
 
The Council Tax Banding is E (£1,827). 
 
Currently unemployed and receives Job Seekers Allowance at £111.00 per week. 
 
Council Tax Benefit is paid at £35.00 per week. 
 
 
October 2012: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

£111 Council Tax  
 

£35 

Council Tax Benefit £35   

Total Weekly Income £146 Total Weekly Outgoings £35 

  
Residual Income £111 

 
 
April 2013: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

£111 Council Tax (£1,827) 
(Based on Band D £1,495) 
(Less CT Support £1,121) 

£14 

Council Tax Benefit £0   

Total Weekly Income £111 Total Weekly Outgoings £14 

  
Residual Income £97 

 
 
£14 per week worse off (13%) 
 

Page 69



- 38 - 

Appendix A 

 

Case Study – Band D Restriction and 75% Limitation 
 
Working Age – Disabled Couple 
 
Claimant aged 59 and partner aged 57, with no children. 
 
The property is in Paignton and owned by the claimant. 
 
The Council Tax Banding is F (£2,159). 
 
Currently unemployed and receives Income Support at £155.00 per week. 
 
Claimant receives a Carer’s Allowance at £34  
 
Partner receives Disability Living Allowance High Care at £77 per week and Disability Living Allowance 
(Mobility) at £54 per week. 
 
Council Tax Benefit is paid at £41.00 per week. 
 
 
October 2012: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

£320 Council Tax  
 

£41 

Council Tax Benefit £41   

Total Weekly Income £361 Total Weekly Outgoings £41 

  
Residual Income £320 

 
 
April 2013: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

£320 Council Tax (£2,159) 
(Based on Band D £1,495) 
(Less CT Support £1,121) 

£20 

Council Tax Benefit £0   

Total Weekly Income £320 Total Weekly Outgoings £20 

  
Residual Income £300 

 
 
£20 per week worse off (6%) 

Page 70



- 39 - 

Appendix A 
 

Case Study – Band D Restriction and 75% Limitation 
 
Working Age – Working Couple 
 
Claimant aged 55 and partner aged 57, with no children. 
 
The property is in Brixham and owned by the claimant. 
 
The Council Tax Banding is G (£2,539). 
 
The claimant currently works 30 hours a week at £16 per hour (£372 net). 
 
Council Tax Benefit is paid at £2.00 per week. 
 
 
October 2012: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

£372 Council Tax  
 

£49 

Council Tax Benefit £2   

Total Weekly Income £374 Total Weekly Outgoings £49 

  
Residual Income £325 

 
 
April 2013: 
 

Household Weekly Income Household Weekly Outgoings 

Total Income 
 

£372 Council Tax (£2,539) 
(Based on Band D £1,524) 
(Less CT Support £0.00) 

£49 

Council Tax Benefit £0   

Total Weekly Income £372 Total Weekly Outgoings £49 

  
Residual Income £323 

 
 
£2 per week worse off (less than 1%) 
 

 

 

Page 71



 
 

Title: Review of Allocations Policy and Local Tenancy Strategy 
  

Wards Affected: All Wards 
  

To: Overview and Scrutiny Board On: 21 November 2012 
    
Contact Officer: Julie Sharland 
℡ Telephone: 01803 20 
�  E.mail: julie.sharland@torbay.gov.uk  
 
1. Key points and Summary 
 
1.1 Social housing in Torbay currently offers a strong and valuable safety net for 

vulnerable groups and should continue to do so. Social housing should support 
those who need it most for as long as they need it.  In addition, social housing also 
has broader social and economic roles in terms of area renewal and economic 
renewal, supporting strong communities, and tackling child poverty, worklessness 
and unemployment. 

 
1.2 A fresh and more flexible approach to social housing could help the system to work 

better and allow wider groups of people to access the sector. 
 
1.3 The review of our existing scheme has enabled and proposes local flexibilities for 

eligibility and priority to be applied.  However due to the very small number of 
properties available outside of meeting the priority needs requirement it is unlikely 
to be viable to create an additional process at this time. 

 
1.4 Housing policy should focus on the broader social and economic goals of housing 

across different tenures rather than concentrating exclusively on social housing. 
 
1.5 Identifying housing for key priority needs groups in Torbay specifically families and 

those requiring adapted properties is reflected in the Local Tenancy Strategy. 
 
1.6 The cost of returning to a bespoke Torbay allocations scheme would need to be 

funded – all initial set up costs for the existing scheme have been paid and the on 
going costs are covered by Landlord fees per every advert/ house let. The costs of 
administering the application and the register within the housing options team are 
part of the overall staffing budget. Occasional one off costs can occur e.g when 
legal advice is required. 

 
1.7 The Council at its meeting on 6 December will consider the following 

recommendations: 
 

1. That the Council continue with the Devon Home Choice partnership 
agreement and allocations policy and review the future policy 
approach when next review of Devon Home Choice completed.  

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 72



2. That the Local Tenancy Strategy be published in January 2013 and 
local registered housing providers be encouraged to have due regard 
to Torbay’s Local Tenancy Strategy. 

 
1.8 The Overview and Scrutiny Board is asked to consider the report and provide 

views and/or make any recommendations to the Council. 

 
2. Introduction 
 
2.1 The Localism Act 2011 has given local authorities new powers to shape the way in 

which they approach allocations, manage their waiting lists and make use of 
tenancies for social housing. Although, local authorities will still be required to 
operate and publish an allocations scheme, this no longer has to be open to all 
applicants. The Act still requires local authorities to grant priority to households 
meeting the existing reasonable preference criteria; but in addition to this, local 
authorities will be given greater flexibilities and discretion to shape their approach 
to allocations. 

 
2.2 The Act is a key tool in implementing the government’s proposals for social 

housing reform. Government states that the aim of the Act is to support 
communities to identify and drive local priorities and shape what local services look 
like and how they are delivered. The Act aspires to devolve power and funding to 
the lowest possible level. 

 
2.3 The Localism Act will: 
 

• give landlords new powers to grant tenancies for a fixed term to new tenants, 
where they choose to do so 

• allow local authorities greater control over who they admit to waiting lists for 
social housing in their area ( see appendix 1) 

• enable local authorities to more easily discharge their duties to homeless 
people into the private rented sector   

• reform social housing regulation with greater emphasis on local 
accountability and tenant scrutiny 

• support greater tenant mobility across the social housing sector 

• require local authorities to develop a tenancy strategy in partnership with 
local registered providers. ( see appendix 2 ) 

 

Relationship between the tenancy strategy, allocations policies and 
individual tenancy policies 

 
2.4 The Localism Act creates a statutory requirement for all local authorities 

to develop a tenancy strategy which must include the high level 
objectives that registered providers in that area are to ‘have regard to’ 
when considering their own tenancy policies.  Local authorities should 
develop their tenancy strategy in tandem with their allocation scheme.   

 
2.5 This joined up approach is necessary to ensure an integrated and 

effective approach to housing options within a locality. 
 

Evidence based approaches 
 

Page 73



2.6 In order to be effective and transparent, the tenancy strategy must be based on 
clear evidence drawn from local intelligence to inform long-term decision that will 
have local impacts.  The tenancy strategy should be developed in conversation with 
local registered providers, partners working in health and the local economy and 
communities themselves.  It should reflect the housing, and wider social and 
economic needs of an area.  Local authorities should consider how their tenancy 
strategy: 

 

• Meets housing need and demand locally 
 

• Contributes to wider community objectives, such as health, education, 
employment and enterprise 

 

• Reflects social, economic and household requirements which may arise 
out of the welfare reform. 

 
In addition, the housing regulator, the HCA, requires registered individual providers 
to publish a tenancy policy.  This document is intended to set out how that provider 
will use the new range of options that are available to them, with regard to 
tenancies of different types and length, when letting properties to new tenants.  An 
individual registered provider’s tenancy policy should also be developed in 
consideration of the local authority’s allocation scheme and its tenancy strategy to 
ensure a joined up approach locally. 

 

Equality and diversity 
 
2.7 Local authorities play a key role in supporting diversity locally.  They promote 

understanding and good relations between people who have different backgrounds 
and experiences, and this enhances the quality of life in local areas. The pursuit of 
equality depends on more than the criteria within the locally agreed scheme: it also 
requires the active involvement of groups that might be affected by the scheme or 
its formulation, including groups that might be under-represented or not fully visible 
to authorities.  In assessing eligibility and making allocations, local authorities and 
their staff should have procedures which ensure compliance with the Equality Act 
2010 and which avoid unfair discrimination, while complying with new allocations 
guidance and with relevant Housing Acts. 

 

Providing advice and information 
 
2.8 The publication of accessible and free information is vital in enabling people to take 

responsibility for their own housing solutions.  This should additionally include 
information about housing options that exist within a local area.  Where local 
authorities have stock or have nomination rights to partners’ stock, it is important 
how that stock will be used and who is eligible for help is clear to everyone.  This 
will be particularly important in the light of the local variations and additions that 
government is proposing to allow local authorities to introduce.  The variety of local 
differences will mean that clarity of the local conditions and eligibility will be even 
more important to help people navigate local circumstances and make effective and 
empowered choices for themselves. 

 
 
 
 

Page 74



 

Managing transfers 
 
2.9 The allocation guidance gives local authorities freedom to set their own transfer 

policies (Torbay does not hold any stock of its own) including giving existing social 
tenants who are under-occupying their accommodation appropriate priority for a 
transfer.  However, housing benefit reforms and proposed welfare reforms could 
mean that households deemed to be under-occupying their homes or experiencing 
a reduction in income may generate requests for internal transfers.  Not all areas 
will have an appropriate supply of smaller properties from their stock profile to meet 
these requests.  Partnership working with other registered providers and across 
local authority boundaries may be necessary to address this issue. 

 

Using flexible tenancies 
 
2.10 The Localism Act 2012 gives local authorities the option to make greater use of 

flexible tenancies to support households in low paid work and to incentivise others 
to take up employment and training.  Flexible tenancies provide new opportunities 
to link housing with wider social and economic goals locally.  However, local 
authorities will need to be vigilant to ensure greater use of flexible tenancies does 
not create instability in communities or other negative social effects; for example: 
unstable housing for children or the possibility that children might have to change 
schools more often. 

 

Choice-based lettings (Devon Home Choice) 
 
2.11 The allocation guidance replaces earlier guidance on choice-based letting (CBL) 

schemes, but does not provide detailed guidance on how local authorities should 
integrate CBL schemes with new approaches to allocations.  Local authorities will 
need to consider how to do this to ensure effective choice and access to a range of 
housing options locally. 

 

Recent customer feedback tells us: 
65% of applications are made via the website 
66% felt that Devon Home Choice was a fair way of letting  homes 
84% felt that the way applications are assessed and placed in different bands is fair 

 

Page 75



New approaches to allocations 
 
2.12 The Localism Act and allocation guidance gives local authorities much greater 

freedom to determine ‘qualifying persons’ for their allocation scheme.  A range of 
different considerations could be taken into account when establishing a rationale 
for considering new approaches to allocations.  For example: 

 
Rationale for a new approach to allocations Priority factors 

• Addressing an evidenced need to provide 
affordable housing for employees 

• Creating mixed income communities 

• In work or seeking work 

• Tackling child poverty 
 

• Encouraging tenants’ aspirations 

• Contributing to local economic growth 

• In education or training 

• Encouraging involvement in the community 

• Supporting the Big Society agenda 

• Supporting community led enterprise 

• Making a positive contribution to the 
community in terms of social, voluntary or 
other entrepreneurial action 

• Tackling anti-social behaviour and crime 

• Supporting safe and sustainable 
neighbourhoods 

• Rewarding good behaviour 

• Troubled Families 

• Making best use of stock 

• Supporting aspirations of tenants 

• Helping tenants to balance income and 
affordability 

• Encouraging downsizing 

• Promoting choice 

• Making best use of stock 

• Savings for health and occupational health 
budgets 

• Moving on from supported housing or 
adapted properties which are no longer 
needed 

• Reducing the use of residential care, 
avoiding hospital discharge delays 

 

Discharge of homeless duties into the private rented sector 
 

2.13 This is a new duty with effect from 9 November 2012.  Under the new rules 
households accepted as homeless will be able to be housed into good quality 
private rented accommodation of a 12 month minimum let. With the homeless 
cases able to be housed in the private rented sector this will ‘free up’ more capacity 
for  social tenants and other high housing need groups. This will mean that 
potentially other councils can discharge their duty in Torbay if deemed suitable. 
This may increase demand for housing support services where people meet 
relevant eligibility criteria including having a local connection with Torbay. The 
homeless cases will not be penalised but will no longer gain a ‘head start’ over 
others in housing need merely by being accepted as being owed a homeless duty 
by the Council.  They will be able to apply for social housing equally with all other 
applicants but their homeless status will no longer give them an advantage over 
tenants and other households in urgent housing need. 

 
2.14 Homelessness legislation is not changing and will still be a safety net for those 

vulnerable groups in priority need.  The Government’s regulations on the suitability 
of private rented accommodation offered to homeless people has yet to be 
confirmed. 

 
2.15 Where people are housed is important – sending people to other areas can put 

huge pressure on receiving local authorities as well as being detrimental for 
families.  There is evidence that some councils are increasingly placing people in 
distant local authorities. The Government’s position is that local authorities, when 
considering the suitability of accommodation for homeless people, should take into 
account location, particularly distance from the previous home and disruption to 

Page 76



schooling, employment, medical care, amenities and support. This would also help 
to avoid putting pressure on the authorities that would receive households placed 
out of area. 

 
2.16 This may increase demand for housing support services where people meet 

relevant eligibility criteria including having a local connection. 

Why have these changes taken place? 
 

2.17 The way in which we allocate social housing in England presents key challenges for 
government, local authorities and housing providers.  Social housing is a scarce 
resource with constricted supply and it is not being used as effectively as it could be 
to meet housing needs: the table below shows the situation in Torbay over the past 
6 years 

 
Year 06/07 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 

New Affordable  
housing 
completions 

 
144 

 
149 

 
119 

 
117 

 
127 

 
35 

Number of 
lets 

 
317 

 
285 

 
303 

 
371 

 
344 

 
371 

Social Housing 
Register 
numbers  

 
3995 

 
5221 

 
6493 
Review  
Undertaken
prior to DHC

 
2482 

 
3966 

 
3425 

 

Register banding/ need spilt 4/4/2012 

Bedroom Need 1 2 3 4 5 6 7   

Band A (Emergency) 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 3 

Band B (High) 155 98 37 27 16 4 1 338 

Band C (Medium)  223 309 170 70 7 0 0 779 

Band D (Low) 626 247 90 36 7 2 0 1008 

Band E (No Housing 

Need) 585 465 236 19 1 0 0 1306 

Total of Band 1590 1119 533 154 31 6 1 3434 

 
2.18 A needs based approach to allocations has concentrated deprivation in some 

areas. There is insufficient housing support for low income households (incomes 
between £12,000 and £25,000, known as in-betweens) who are unable to access 
social housing and whose housing options are often limited to the private rented 
sector.  Within our register the average income is below £12,000.  There is a need 
for greater mobility in the social housing sector to support aspirations and local 
economies. 

 
2.19 As a result of radical reforms to local housing allowance (LHA), the Localism Act 

and the Welfare Reform Act, the housing benefit system is entering a period of 
dramatic change which will include a new ‘size criteria’ for social housing 
occupancy and benefit payments delivered under 'Universal Credit'. 

 
2.20 Universal Credit will be capped at £26,000 and maximum LHA in all areas has been 

reduced which could lead to many unaffordable homes and the potential relocation 
of those in areas where property costs are high to lower cost areas. 

 

What is the Housing Allocation Policy? 

Page 77



 
2.21 It is the rules the Council sets to decide who gets priority for social housing in 

Torbay. Social Housing includes properties and any Registered Provider (Housing 
Association) properties that the Council have nomination rights for. By law, the 
council has to have an Allocations Policy which must be a public document and 
kept under review.  

 
2.22 Devon Home Choice is a choice based letting scheme and a partnership between 

the 10 Devon Local Authorities and Registered Providers working in Devon.  The 
scheme has been in existence since 2010 and the local administration of the 
scheme transferred from Sanctuary Housing to the local authority Housing Options 
team in June 2012. This was to ensure that requirements within the localism act 
could be delivered together with a more effective and comprehensive housing 
advice service to all those wishing to join the register as a housing option.  

 
2.23 The policy sets out  

• How to apply for housing  

• Who is eligible for housing  

• How applicants will be assessed and prioritised 
 

and has recently undergone a review to take account of the new guidance/changes. 
All applicants are assessed in the same way, using the rules set out in this policy to 
ensure fairness and consistency.  Whilst all applicants are assessed in the same 
way, some partner housing associations may have different criteria to let their 
homes (for example the number of people that can live in a home of particular size 
etc). Where this is the case any differences will be made available on the Devon 
Home Choice website.  

 
Aims of Devon Home Choice  

 
2.24 The aims of Devon Home Choice are to provide:  
 

• Choice for people seeking housing and the ability to move within Devon  

• A common scheme across Devon that is transparent, easy to understand 
and accessible to all 

 
2.25 Under Devon Home Choice there is a common: 

• Application form 

• Housing register 

• Approach to assessing housing need and awarding priority 

• Approach to advertising available properties  
 
2.26 Local authority and housing association homes available to let will be advertised 

every week. Households with active applications on the Devon Home Choice 

Page 78



housing register can look at details of the homes. They can then ‘bid’ for homes 
that they are eligible for.  

 
2.27 The successful household will be selected from those that applied for a home 

based on: 

• Whether they meet any preferences for particular types of applicant that 
may have been specified in the advert  

• The band in which their application has been placed, which reflects their 
housing need  

• Their band start date within that band  
 
2.28 Devon Home Choice enables people to move within the county. This will greatly 

help people who need to move to get work or to benefit from support.  
 
2.29 429 homes were let in Torbay between 1 April 2011 and 31 March 2012. Of these:  

• 327 (77%) were let to households previously living in Torbay 

• 71 were let to households moving in from one of the other 9 Devon local 
authorities. Of these households, only 1 was reported to not have a local 
connection to Torbay. The vast majority of these moves into Torbay were 
from households who had previously lived in local authorities that border 
Torbay. Moves from Teignbridge, Exeter and South Hams accounted for  
(89%) of all moves into Torbay from other Devon local authorities.  

• 14 (3%) were let to households moving in from outside Devon. None of 
these households was reported to not have a local connection to Torbay.  

 
88 households moved from Torbay to one of the other nine Devon local authorities 
between 1 April 2011 and 31 March 2012.  Of these, 16 households were reported 
to have no local connection to the local authority area they moved to.  60% of these 
moves were either to the South Hams (23 households, 32%) or Teignbridge (20 
households, 28%). 

 
Changes to our housing options approach and how we reduce the register 
numbers 

 
2.30 Most of the people on our Housing Register will never have any chance of being 

offered a social housing home but this is not made clear by the system. The new  
enhanced options approach and allocation policy makes it clearer realistically who 
the council can and cannot house. 

 
2.31 Of around an average of 3,500 households on the Register at any one time (which 

includes 1,300 assessed as no need), the reality is only 370 (on average) 
households per year are successful and find suitable accommodation. The 
introduction of the no need band  will better inform expectations, but there will still 
be significant waiting times (for example, 3 – 5 years for a three-plus bedroom 
house). 

 
 

Page 79



2.32 While social housing build has slowed, additional units of extra care housing for 
older people and, in some instances, other vulnerable groups will be developed 
over the next three years going some way towards meeting the care and support 
needs of frail older people.  We are also intending to offer specific housing options 
service for the elderly and those requiring Specialist/accessible (adapted) homes. 
This will also need to link with the availability and accessibility of Disabled Facilities 
Grants and any other planned remodelling of Older Persons Services eg Homecare 
assessments etc. The majority of older people live in the private sector so that will 
not only reduce the need for residential care, facilitate hospital discharge and 
promote independence but should also reduce reliance on social housing.  

 
2.33 The council could if it wishes make a local priority applicants who have a housing 

need and who are working and on a very low income and/or households who can, 
or do, contribute to making Torbay a stronger and more successful place. 

 
2.34 Our Allocation Policy is the fundamental ‘building block’ of sustainable social 

housing communities. The previous policy/ approach resulted largely in housing 
people, who although in high housing need, may not work could undermine the 
Council’s objective to create sustainable balanced housing communities. If the 
Council only house applicants who are not working the balance on the social 
housing estates between those who work and those on benefits is potentially tilted 
too far towards benefit dependent households. 

 
2.35 However Torbay has recognised high levels of deprivation and child poverty and we 

need to provide housing that is affordable to encourage social mobility and break 
the poverty cycles. 

 
2.36 The proposed revised Devon Home Choice Policy states Local authorities and 

landlords will agree locally whether to advertise some homes with a preference to 
working households or those making a positive community contribution, rather than 
by providing additional priority in the policy to such households.  This could be 
applied to new local lettings plans for new affordable housing provision. 

 
2.37 This could encourage people who can, to work which will contribute to raising levels 

of aspiration and ambition. This can be achieved through offering increased priority 
to families and individuals who are working, on apprenticeships but are on a very 
low income who may never be able to afford to buy a home and for whom renting in 
the private sector will mean they are hardly better off financially from continuing to 
work.  

 
2.38 The policy can also be used to encourage those who do, or could, make a positive 

contribution to the local community. Customers who have a need for social housing 
and are volunteering, working, training, fostering could be helped although the 
Policy overall would still need to make sure that the majority of homes are let to 
those in the greatest housing need. Sometimes customers may be less able to do 
community work because of their age or disability so we would need to take this 
into account when making decisions. 

 
2.39 Positive Community Contribution cases could include the following. These are 

examples only: 

• Those employed on a low income or undertaking training. 

Page 80



• Applicants that can demonstrate a contribution to the local community 
such as certain types of voluntary work, or who contribute through 
relevant community groups. This could be specific to the area where a 
local letting policy is deployed, or could be voluntary work regardless of 
which part of the  community benefits. 

 
2.39 Applicant/s that are defined as a Key Worker by the Council - this could be in the 

health services, social care/ social workers, transport, Community Support officer, 
members of the Territorial Army or volunteer Fire Officers, etc who need 
accommodation. Specific roles and income limits may need to be defined and 
reviewed on a regular basis. 

 
2.40 Whilst offering choice to applicants wherever possible, allocation schemes must 

still ensure that reasonable preference is given to applicants who fall into one of 
the following groups over those who do not: 

 

• People who are homeless (within the meaning of Part 7 of the 1996 
Housing Act as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002). This includes 
people who are intentionally homeless and those who are not in priority 
need 

 

• People who are owed a (homeless) duty by ANY local authority under 
section 190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) of the 1996 Act (or under section 65(2) 
or 68(2) of the Housing Act 1985) or who are living in accommodation 
secured by ANY housing authority under section 192(3). The letter 
detailing the outcome of a homeless application will specify whether 1 of 
these sections applies  

 

• People occupying unsanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living 
in unsatisfactory housing conditions 

 

• People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds including a 
disability 

 

• People who need to move to a particular locality in Devon, were failure to 
move would cause hardship to themselves or others 

 
2.41 The Localism Act will allow councils to set their own local reasonable eligibility 

rules. The following outlines the current rules within Devon Home Choice.  The 
Localism Act 2011 provides local authorities with the power to determine for 
themselves what classes of persons are, or are not, persons qualifying to be 
allocated social housing in their areas.  

 
2.42 The Localism Act does not change the fact however that certain people from 

abroad with limited rights to remain in the United Kingdom are not eligible to be 
allocated social housing.  These groups of people are set out in ‘The Allocation of 
Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) Regulations 2006’ (as amended).  

 
2.43 In addition to such people from abroad people assessed by Devon local authorities 

as being guilty of unacceptable behaviour will continue to be denied the right to 
register with Devon Home Choice. This will apply where a Devon local authority is 
satisfied that the applicant, or a member of their household, have been guilty of 
unacceptable behaviour serious enough to make the applicants unsuitable to be a 

Page 81



tenant and who, in the circumstances at the time their application is considered, are 
unsuitable to be a tenant because of the unacceptable behaviour. This behaviour 
must normally have occurred in the previous two years  

 
2.44 Behaviour is unacceptable if it is behaviour that would, if the applicant had been a 

secure tenant, allow the housing authority to obtain an outright possession order 
under section 84 of the Housing Act 1985 in relation to Grounds in Part 1 of 
Schedule 2 other than Ground 8. 

 
2.45 Cases will be considered on an individual basis. The following criteria will be 

applied in determining whether an individual or household should be denied the 
right to register with Devon Home Choice, because of their behaviour: 

• There must be reliable evidence of violent or anti-social behaviour, 
domestic, racist or homophobic abuse 

• The behaviour need not have led to possession, prosecution or other 
enforcement action by a statutory agency, provided there is reasonable 
probability that, had the applicant been a tenant, an outright possession 
order would have been granted because of that unacceptable 
behaviour. 

• In normal circumstances the behaviour concerned should have occurred 
within the last two years. In cases of a more serious nature, for example, 
those involving criminal prosecution, a longer time-scale may be 
appropriate. 

• There must be reasonable grounds for believing that the behaviour 
could continue or be repeated. For example, the applicant may have 
issued threats or there might be a history of repeat offending. 

 
2.46 Households with significant rent arrears that led to a local authority or housing 

association in the previous 2 years obtaining an outright possession order under 
section 84 of the Housing Act 1985 in relation to Grounds in Part 1 of Schedule 2 
other than Ground 8 will normally be excluded from the Devon Home Choice 
register. 

 
2.47 Applicants with rent arrears below this level to any social landlord, that were 

accrued in the previous two years on their current or a previous tenancy, will not 
normally be offered a property.  

 
2.48 Applicants with rent arrears to any social landlord above £500 will be placed in the 

No housing need band (E). Both will apply unless there are exceptional 
circumstances or until: 

• They clear their debt, or 

• The landlord is satisfied that the applicant is entitled to an amount of 
benefit sufficient to clear the arrears, or 

• The applicant has shown a clear intention to pay. That payments are 
made in accordance with an agreed repayment schedule during a period 
of at least 3 months. In exceptional circumstances that period may be 
reduced with the agreement of the local authority, or 

Page 82



• If there are exceptional circumstances relating to need 
 
2.49 Applicants with rent arrears to a private landlord will be considered on a case-by-

case basis by Devon local authorities. Applicants who have rent arrears to a private 
landlord over £500 who have been (or would be) assessed as having accrued these 
rent arrears intentionally will be placed in the No housing need band (E). 
‘Intentionally’ means that the applicant deliberately did something (or failed to do 
something) that resulted in the rent arrears.  

 
2.50 Household Income:  Applicants with a household income more than five times 

higher than the relevant Local Housing Allowance level prevailing in Devon at the 
time will normally be considered to be able to meet their housing need, through 
either renting privately or owner occupation. Such applicants will have their 
applications placed in the No housing need band (E).  

 
2.51 Capital, Savings and Equity:  The capital, savings and equity available to an 

applicant’s household will be assessed. If it is determined that, given:  

• The applicant’s capital, savings and equity  

• The size and composition of the applicant’s household  

• The local housing market (for example prices to buy or rent privately) an 
applicant can resolve their own housing need within their local housing 
market they will be placed in the No housing need band (E).    

 
2.52 Local authorities will not take any lump sum received by a member of the Armed 

Forces as compensation for an injury or disability sustained on active service into 
account when assessing whether they have sufficient resources to meet their own 
housing need  

 
2.53 If we elect to end our partnership agreement in Devon Home Choice and create a 

Torbay bespoke allocations process and policy the indicative cost would be 
£20,500 approx running costs based on a 10

th
 of current, plus we would need to 

purchase software approx costs of £25000 – £30,000. In addition this would make it 
more difficult, and complicated, with limited choice for Torbay residents to bid for 
homes outside of Torbay within Devon.  

 
 

 
Nigel Denning 
Head of Family Services 
 
 
Appendices 
Appendix 1  Devon Home Choice Policy Review July 2012 
Appendix 2  Draft Local Tenancy Scheme 
 
 
 

 

Page 83



 

Appendix 1  
 
Devon Home Choice Policy Review July 2012 
Introduction 
 
The Devon Home Choice Management Board undertook the second annual review of the 
policy and operation of the scheme. The review was undertaken in light of the Localism 
Act.  
This briefing summarises the decisions that were agreed.  
 
It is anticipated that the changes will be implemented and that the revised policy will come 
into effect in August. This will be confirmed as soon as possible.  
 
Local authorities will contact those applicants affected by the agreed changes in advance 
of the revised policy taking effect.  
 
Banding: 
 
- All underoccupiers will have their applications placed in Band B regardless of how 

many bedrooms they are freeing up. Please note that the Operational Group (4 
July) will agree how this will be applied.  

 
- A new Band B category will be introduced for 'Severe overcrowding'. This will 

include the current Band B categories (lacking 2 bedrooms and 2 children lacking a 
bedroom), as well as those households assessed as a Category 1 hazard due to 
overcrowding.  

 
- The Band D reasons of ‘Non Stat Homeless’ and ‘Rough Sleeper/NFA’ will be 

combined and re-named ‘No Permanent Home’.  

 
- The banding reasons of Agricultural workers in tied accommodation, Moves for work 

and Staying access to children will be removed. Existing cases will retain their 
banding 

 
- The additional banding and waiting times awarded for cumulative need will no 

longer be given (e.g. applications will not be given 6 months extra time or moved up 
a band if they have 2 or 3 needs in the same band). 

 
- Devon Home Choice will continue to register Band E households subject to the 

following:  
o The application form will be redesigned so that Band E households only 

need to complete a limited number of questions  
o Online applications from Band E households will be automatically made 

active, without any need for housing officers to review/ activate them 
o The renewal date for Band E households will be automatically set for 3 

years in advance. A new folder will be created for Band E applications 
that have reached their renewal date and have not bid in the previous 6 
months. It will then be possible for local authorities to batch close the 
applications  

o Band E households will not be included in housing need figures 

 

Page 84



- Households who need to move to larger accommodation to become foster carers or 
adopt will have their applications placed in Band B under ‘Supporting another 
priority service’ subject to procedures being agreed with Social Services 

 
- People who formerly served in the regular UK armed forces and are in the new 

Band D category of 'No permanent home' will have their application moved to Band 
C to reflect the government’s forthcoming legislation.  

 
- Priority for housing defects/ hazards will continue to be awarded to households in 

Band A (e.g. where there is a Prohibition order) and Band B (e.g. where there is a 
Cat 1 hazard). Procedures will be agreed with the Private Sector Housing Group. 
Existing social tenants will continue to be excluded from any priority for housing 
defects/ hazards 

 
- Local authorities and landlords will agree locally whether to advertise some homes 

with a preference to working households or those making a positive community 
contribution, rather than by providing additional priority in the policy to such 
households.   

 
- Local authorities will contact (or at least review) all applicants in Bands A & B every 

6 months 

 
Bed Need 
- Devon Home Choice will adopt the Government bedroom standard for assessing 

bedroom need. This will mean that: 
o Children can share a bedroom up until 10 regardless of sex 
o Same sex children can share a bedroom up to 20 
o People require their own room when they are 21   

 

Application form 
- The application form will be redesigned so that:  

o There are an initial set of questions to establish whether the application 
will fall into one of the reasonable preference groups (Bands A - D), and 
to make it clear that if not, the application will be placed in Band E 

o Band E applicants will not need to complete all of the form 
o The paper application is as easy as possible to understand and complete 

 
Accessible homes 
- Accessible homes will continue to be advertised through Devon Home Choice and 

will only be let using direct match in exceptional circumstances  
 
- Local authorities will complete the missing accessibility need information for 

applicants in Bands B & C by 1 September, and applicants in Band D by 1 
December 

 
- An applicant’s accessibility need will be included in both the initial registration and 

the renewal letter, with a request that applicants make contact if they feel this is 
wrong 

 
- A business case for a pilot central Occupational Therapy resource will be developed 

for consideration by the Devon Home Choice Management Board 
 

Page 85



- Each partner local authority and landlord will identify a named person to lead on 
accessible homes 

 
- The 6 accessibility categories will be left as they are 
 
- Supporting information will be required before any applicant is assessed as being in 

need of wheelchair accessible or part wheelchair accessible accommodation 
 
- All landlords will develop and maintain an up-to-date record of accessible/ adapted 

properties (and those that are adaptable), and report back to the Management 
Board on progress with this. Where an up-to-date database isn't available landlords 
will undertake a pre-void inspection before properties are advertised 

 
- Additional fields will be added to the property advert (e.g. to clarify the bathing 

facilities, whether there is a stairlift etc) 
 
- At least 1 photo must be added to each advert (this relates to all homes and not just 

accessible homes) 
 
- At the point where a local authority sets an advert as 'Ready to advertise' they can 

indicate whether they would like to be consulted before an accessible/ adapted 
property is let. Please note that it was agreed that this is only a request to be 
consulted and that shortlisting remains the responsibility of the landlord 

 
- If an advert for a wheelchair/part wheelchair accessible property (or one with major 

adaptations) includes a preference to applicants with a local connection (because 
the LA is above the 2% limit on cross border moves), but nobody with a local 
connection has a need for that type of property, preference will then be given to 
those with a need for that type of property, rather than those with a local connection 
but no need for that type of property 

 
No local connection to Devon 
 
Applicants who have no local connection to Devon will have their application placed in 
either:  
 

- The Low housing need band (D) if they are assessed as having a housing 
need (whether this be high, medium or low need), or   

- The No housing need band (E) if they are assessed as having no housing 
need 

 
However exceptions to this will include where:  
 

- They have been accepted by 1 of the Devon local authorities as 
statutorily homeless, and local connection has been waived for specific 
reasons such as the applicant is fleeing domestic violence 

- They need to move to Devon to give or receive support where failure to 
do so would cause hardship  

- There are special circumstances such as health or support needs that are 
only available within Devon 

- An applicant has no local connection in any district within the United 
Kingdom, then they will be deemed to have a local connection to Devon  

 

Page 86



In such circumstances applicants will be banded in line with the above policy, 
regardless of the fact that they have no local connection to Devon.  
 
To demonstrate a local connection (defined in Part VII of the Housing Act 1996) with 
Devon applicants will:  
 

- Normally be resident in Devon. Local Government Association guidelines 
define this as having resided in the area for six of the last twelve months, 
or three out of the last five years, where residence has been out of 
choice. In line with the Housing and Regeneration Act (2008) service 
personnel who have been based and living in Devon will be considered to 
have local connection with Devon. Their local connection will be to the 
local authority area where they are based or where they have been 
assessed.  

 
- Work in Devon. The Local Government Association guidelines define this 

as employment other than of a casual nature. For the purposes of this 
policy this will be defined as having had permanent work with a minimum 
of a 16 hour contract per week for the previous 6 months, and without a 
break in the period of employment for more than three months. 

 
- Have family connections in Devon. The Local Government Association 

guidelines define this as immediate family members (parents, siblings 
and non-dependent children) who have themselves lived in the area for 
five years. 

 
Applicants will be required to provide proof of their local connection to Devon before 
their banding is assessed.  
 
A number of housing associations with homes in Devon operate across a wider 
regional or national area. Tenants of such associations may on occasion wish to 
transfer to Devon from outside the county, but will not meet the local connection criteria 
(e.g. they do not have a local connection to Devon). In such cases the local connection 
to Devon criteria shall not be applicable. In such circumstances the tenant will be 
placed in the band determined by their housing needs, in the same way as applicants 
with a local connection to Devon. They will then be able to bid for homes in the same 
way as other applicants.  
 
Similarly the local connection to Devon criteria will not be applied to:  
 

(a) members of the Armed Forces and former Service personnel, where the 
application is made within five years of discharge  

(b) bereaved spouses and civil partners of members of the Armed Forces 
leaving Services Family Accommodation following the death of their spouse 
or partner  

(c) serving or former members of the Reserve Forces who need to move 
because of a serious injury, medical condition or disability sustained as a 
result of their service 

 
If a home is subject to more specific local connection to Devon criteria however these 
will still apply to both tenants of partner landlords with no local connection to Devon 
and members of the armed forces and reserve forces. For example Section 106 

Page 87



planning conditions that mean the home can only be let to someone with a local 
connection to a specific local area. 

 
Members of the Armed and Reserve Forces 

 
In addition to the local connection provision for members of the armed forces and 
former service personnel etc (see 3.9.7. above) , Devon Home Choice will take on 
legislation that is proposed to be introduced in Autumn 2012 relating to members of the 
armed and reserve forces. 
 
The government propose that all local authorities provide additional preference to the 
following categories of people who fall within one or more of the reasonable preference 
categories and who have urgent housing needs:  

(a) former members of the Armed Forces  

(b) serving members of the Armed Forces who need to move because of a 
serious injury, medical condition or disability sustained as a result of their 
service  

(c) bereaved spouses and civil partners of members of the Armed Forces 
leaving Services Family Accommodation following the death of their spouse 
or partner  

(d) serving or former members of the Reserve Forces who need to move 
because of a serious injury, medical condition or disability sustained as a 
result of their service 

 
Specifically, any household within these categories who is assessed as having ‘No 
permanent home’ (within Band D – see 3.7.1 above), will have their application placed 
in Band C. This will ensure that such households who fall within the reasonable 
preference groups and have urgent housing needs are provided with additional priority.  
 
It is felt that Devon Home Choice already provides a sufficient level of priority to other 
households within these categories who have urgent housing needs. For example 
former members of the armed or reserve forces who are accepted as homeless by one 
of the Devon local authorities.  
 
Devon Home Choice will also seek to meet the housing needs of serving or former 
Service personnel as follows: 

- Local authorities and landlords will agree locally whether to advertise 
some homes with a preference to certain groups (see 4.7 below). This 
could include former members of the armed forces.  

- Local authorities will not any lump sum received by a member of the 
Armed Forces as compensation for an injury or disability sustained on 
active service into account when assessing whether they have sufficient 
resources to meet their own housing need (see 2.6 above).  

 

Changes to Devon Home Choice 
- Changes to the policy will only be implemented once a year, except in exceptional 

circumstances 
 

Page 88



- Any agreed changes will have a set date to be implemented 
 
- An agreed approach to applying policy changes will be developed and agreed (for 

example where the changes will lead to some applications receiving reduced/ 
increased priority etc) 

 
- Any changes to the policy agreed by the Management Board will only require sign 

off (by email) by local authorities who did not attend. 
 
- The policy will display a ‘from’ date so that applicants and partners are sure that 

they have the most up-to-date version. 
 

Participation in Devon Home Choice 
- Local authorities will undertake regular analysis of those applicants in Bands A – C 

who are not bidding/ logging onto the website, to identify the reasons for this and 
put in place any appropriate support  

 
- A common short survey form will be developed for applicants in Bands A – C who 

are not bidding, to enable the results to be collated and analysed 
 

Consultation with customers 
- Consultation be carried out on how the quality of adverts affects the bidding for 

accessible homes (with both applicants and housing staff) 
 

Quality Assurance 
- The creation of a central administration team to process and assess all applications 

will be considered 
 
- A Quality Assurance (QA) process will be developed, focusing on assessment of 

applications, differences in the proportion of applications in different bands/ 
categories, shortlisting etc. The Operational Group will take the lead for the QA 
process 

 
- The implementation of the Health & Wellbeing element of the policy will be 

reviewed 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



Appendix 2 
 
TORBAY COUNCIL DRAFT LOCAL TENANCY STRATEGY 
 
1. Background 
 

This tenancy strategy fulfils the requirements of the Localism Act (2011) for local 
authorities to have a tenancy strategy, setting out the matters to which social 
landlords in the area must have regard when setting their own policies.  The 
Localism Act gives local authorities new powers to ensure that social housing in 
their areas is meeting need and priorities as identified by the Council. In particular it 
is important to us that local housing is available for local people.  A key aim for the 
Council is to ensure that more of the social housing in the district is let to those with 
a strong local connection. 
 
Torbay Council is part of the Devon sub-region and supports the Devon-wide 
framework for tenancy strategies.  The Framework enables local authorities to 
adopt different approaches where these support local priorities.   
 
The Devon-wide framework was the subject of wide consultation between local 
authorities, Registered Providers and other interested parties. This draft strategy 
will also be subject to consultation with Registered Providers working in Torbay and 
with other interested parties during the autumn 2012.  Initial consultation with 
partners commenced at our Homelessness forum event held end of March 2012 
 

2. Context 
 
2.1 Corporate Priorities 
 

The Localism Act (2011) requires local authorities when preparing their strategies to 
take into account the council’s key corporate priorities including homelessness 
strategies. This strategy also takes into account the Council’s key corporate 
priorities.  These include:  

The Torbay Community Plan 2011+.  A Healthy, Prosperous and Happy Bay 
identified in the Torbay Community Plan 2011+.  The Community Plan has 
identified improving the economy, responding to the downturn and improving quality 
of life for the least well off as key challenges.   

 

2.2 Torbay Local Development plan – A Landscape for Success: The Plan for 
Torbay to 2031 
 
This Plan has five headline aspirations: 
 

• A better connected, accessible Torbay 

• Economic recovery and success; 

• Protect and enhance a superb environment; 

• Make of the most of opportunities as a result of climate change;  

• More sustainable communities and better places. 
 

Page 90



2.3 Homelessness Priorities 

Preventing homelessness and promoting the independence of vulnerable 
people. 

This will be achieved through the following actions:  

1. Provide and commission services to prevent homelessness. 

2. Help people obtain information and access support services early to 
prevent homelessness. 

3. Ensure that safeguarding of adults and children is an integral part of 
service delivery, including where they are housed in the private rented 
sector. 

4. Expand on the joint commissioning of services and improve their cost 
effectiveness by involving people in shaping their services in 
partnership with user led organisations. 

5. Assist those affected by the recession, welfare reforms and 
unemployment (the wider needs of homelessness). 

6. Drive forward improvement to local service delivery that meets 
changing local need. 

7. Ensure housing supply and type plays a key role in recovery and re-
ablement supporting people to become, or remain, independent in 
their own homes.. 

8. Work in partnership with health and social care commissioners and 
providers to plan for increased provision of support, care and 
treatment in community settings and a managed reduction in 
residential care.  

9. Consider the impact of changes in health and social care leading to 
an increase in care, support and treatment in the community and a 
planned reduction in the use of residential care.  

10. Ensure that 5% of all new affordable homes are fully adapted for 
wheelchair use. 

 

 
2.4 Aims of the strategy 
 

Together, these aspirations and priorities set the key overall aims for our tenancy 
strategy, as set out below. 

- Encouraging sufficient range of housing options to support households at 
different stages in their lives, and with different levels of income, whilst 
supporting local people to access social and affordable housing where 
they live; 

 

Page 91



- Making best use of the available social housing stock, including reducing 
overcrowding, tackling under-occupation, and making best use of adapted 
housing for those with a disability;  

 
- Ensuring that vulnerable households are able to access appropriate 

accommodation and where needed, ensure that accommodation is 
available for life; 

 
- Maximising choice for applicants, within the available resources, and 

promoting mobility within social housing and between social housing and 
other housing tenures. 

 
3. Affordability 
 

The Council has adopted the definition of affordable housing as set out in draft 
National Planning Policy Framework ‘Social Rent, Affordable Rent and Intermediate 
housing provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by the market. 
Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices.’ 
 
The Council recognises that developing associations will be charging affordable 
rents on new developments and on a proportion of relets.  The Council supports the 
Devon-wide Framework which suggests that the “baseline” maximum rent charged 
for affordable housing should be no greater than the relevant Local Housing 
Allowance.  The Council would also like to see Registered Providers carrying out an 
affordability assessment when letting properties at rents which are close to the 
current Local Housing Allowance, to ensure that the tenancy will be sustainable 
over time.  

 
4. Disposals 
 

The Council recognises that as part of good asset management, Registered 
Provides will want, from time to time, to dispose of stock.  The Council supports the 
Devon-wide Framework which encourages Registered Providers who are disposing 
of stock to consider disposing to other Registered Providers, rather than out of 
sector.  The Council expects Registered Providers to consult with the local authority 
when considering disposing of stock, so that the Council can assess the impact of 
the disposal on its ability to meet housing need in the district. 
 
The Council will not support the disposal of the following types of housing 
without a very strong case being made:  
 

� Larger homes, which are defined as: 
o Three bedroom houses with potential for use as 4 

bedroom homes. For example they may have a dining 
room and living room or they may have three double 
bedrooms, 

o Larger homes capable of accommodating 6 people or 
more. 

� Properties that may be suitable for ‘downsizing’ initiatives. See 
paragraph below on Downsizing and under occupation. 

� Properties which have had extensive adaptations (see below 
for definition) 

� Supported or specialist housing. 

Page 92



 

5. Conversions to Affordable Rent 
 

Torbay Council recognises that the number of conversions has already been 
determined in agreements between Registered Providers and the Homes and 
Communities Agency.  However, Registered Providers do have some flexibility 
when considering which specific properties to convert.   
 
Registered Providers should have regard to the following when considering 
which properties will be re-let at an ‘Affordable Rent’: 
 

o The pattern of re-lets by location, property size and type. 
o The need to ensure that under-occupiers wishing to downsize are 

not put off by having to pay a higher rent or being given reduced 
tenancy rights. 

o The need to ensure a reasonable supply of family-sized 
accommodation at social rents. 

o The need to ensure that a reasonable supply of properties can be 
let to those working in the area with low incomes. 

o The shortage of wheelchair accessible accommodation.  
 
The Council expects to be consulted over criteria for conversion or the overall 
approach being taken by the Registered Provider, rather than being consulted 
over each individual conversion.   
 
The Council understands that the Homes and Communities Agency has 
indicated that it may be willing to allow Registered Providers to let properties 
suitable for down-sizers at social rents, even where they are new properties built 
under the National Affordable Housing Programme.  The Council strongly 
encourages Registered Providers to consider this option where a property has 
been built to be attractive to those down-sizing and where the rent differential 
would be off-putting.  The Council understands that one or more additional relets 
would then need to be let at affordable rents in order to deliver the overall rental 
income required. 
 
Registered providers are reminded that they can offer properties let at social 
rent on flexible tenancies where this supports the aims of this tenancy strategy 
e.g. offering a larger property on a “fixed term tenancy” in order to minimise 
future under-occupation.   Similarly they may offer an assured tenancy on a 
property let at affordable rents. 

 

6. Type of tenancy to be granted 
 
The Council expects landlords to offer tenancies in line with the new tenancy 
standards i.e. “tenancies which are compatible with the purpose of the 
accommodation, the needs of individual households, the sustainability of the 
community and the efficient use of their housing stock” 
 
The Council acknowledges that landlords will continue to offer a range of tenancy 
types for different circumstances.  However, the Council strongly encourages 
landlords to offer flexible tenancies where this will help to make best use of the 
stock.  In particular, the Council expects landlords to offer flexible tenancies on 
larger properties (3 bedroom and above) to ensure that in future, if a household is 

Page 93



under-occupying the property, they can be supported to move on and the property 
offered to a family needing that larger accommodation.  Similarly, the Council 
expects landlords to offer flexible tenancies on properties which have been 
significantly adapted for use by someone with a disability, so that if in future the 
person who needs those adaptations is no longer living there, the remaining family 
can be moved to alternative accommodation and the property offered to someone 
who needs those adaptations. 
 
In addition, when deciding on which tenancy type to offer, landlords should 
consider: 
 

• The age and frailty of the prospective tenant.  

• The vulnerability of the prospective tenant and their household.  
 
The Localism Act offers limited protection for existing tenants who are transferring 
to new properties let at affordable rents.  The Council would like to see Registered 
Providers offering a tenancy which is as close as possible to the existing tenancy of 
a transferring tenant, where this does not conflict with the statements above.  In 
particular, tenants who are down-sizing should be offered a tenancy (and ideally a 
rent level) which incentivizes the move.   
 
The Localism Act also changes the right of succession for new tenancies, with 
opportunities for landlords to offer additional rights through the tenancy agreement. 
 The Council asks landlords who are considering offering additional succession 
rights to be mindful of the arguments for flexible tenancies and to avoid creating 
rights which might hinder making best use of stock. 
 
The Council expects landlords who offer introductory tenancies to continue to do 
so. 
 

7. Minimum length of tenancy 
 

The legislation states that 5 years should normally be the minimum term for a 
flexible tenancy.  Landlords are discouraged from offering a longer tenancy term.  A 
shorter tenancy period can be given in exceptional circumstances; the Council 
would expect any landlord considering offering a tenancy period of less than 5 
years to discuss this with the Council before making a final decision. 
 
Where a landlord offers an introductory tenancy, it is anticipated that the flexible 
tenancy would be offered upon successful completion of the introductory tenancy, 
normally one year.   
 

8. Mobility 
 

The Council is keen to promote mobility within social housing, and expects 
landlords to actively promote schemes to facilitate mutual exchange.  Landlords will 
need to be aware of the provisions within the legislation for affecting mutual 
exchange between tenants with different tenancy types and to ensure that their 
policies reflect these requirements. 
 

9. Circumstances in which a tenancy might not be renewed 
 

Page 94



The Council expects that the vast majority of flexible tenancies will be renewed 
upon review following an appropriate sensitive assessment.. 
There are two different circumstances in which a flexible tenancy would not be 
renewed.  The first is where the property is no longer suitable, in which case the 
landlord would be expected to facilitate an offer of alternative accommodation.  The 
second is where the household circumstances have changed and no offer of 
alternative accommodation is being made. 
 
Circumstances in which the Council expects that the tenancy is not renewed but 
where an alternative offer will be made are: 
 

o Size: Tenancies should not normally be granted for properties that are 
significantly larger than the household requires unless set out in Local 
Lettings Policies. Exceptions might include examples such as where it is 
necessary to accommodate a full or part-time live-in carer, to enable 
access to dependent children where care is shared or to limit occupation 
because of local housing management issues. Any under-occupation 
should have regard to local housing market conditions; examples might 
include remoter rural settlements. 

 
o Extensive Adaptations: Tenancies should not be renewed if the properties 

include the provision of extensive adaptations that are no longer required 
 by anyone living in the household 

 
Circumstances in which the Council expects the tenancy not to be renewed and no 
offer of alternative accommodation to be made are: 
 
o Income: Tenancies should not be granted if the income of the household is 

above the income limit as set out in Devon Home Choice policy, or a local 
limit set by the Local Housing Authority.  The Registered Provider may 
choose to encourage the household to remain in the property but on different 
terms eg paying full market rent, part or full owner 

 
o Possession Proceedings: If breach of tenancy conditions is to be used as a 

ground for non-renewal of the tenancy it is expected that Registered 
Providers will have already started possession proceedings. This will help 
demonstrate that the Registered Providers believe that the decision not to 
renew is proportionate and in pursuit of a legitimate claim.  We expect 
Registered Providers to have looked at all the options i.e. exhausted other 
remedies before withholding the renewal of a tenancy on these grounds. 

 
The Council asks Registered Providers to notify the Housing Options Service  
where a tenancy is being brought to an end and no alternative accommodation is 
being offered.  A protocol for the notification process is in place.   

 
10. Tenancy management, sustainment and tackling tenancy fraud 
 

The Council expects all Registered Providers to work proactively to manage and 
sustain tenancies.  This should include regular contact with the tenant, regardless 
of tenancy type.  For those on flexible tenancies this contact should be at least 
annually and should include a reminder of the tenancy end date and the grounds 
for not renewing the tenancy.  The Council also expects Registered Providers to 
adhere to other protocols as agreed, for example the pre-eviction protocol. 

Page 95



 
The Council expects landlords to take reasonable precautions to tackle tenancy 
fraud, incorporating some form of check into tenancy sign-up and subsequent 
regular contact. 
 

11. Equality impact assessment 
 

Approach to be agreed. This could involve Torbay’s user led groups. 

 
12. Reviewing this policy 
 

It is intended to review this strategy as part of the future reviews of our Allocation 
Policy and the Choice Based Lettings approach, in the light of information about the 
impact it is having and any specific areas in which difficulties have arisen.  A more 
fundamental review will be carried out by April 2020 at the latest.  This period has 
been suggested as it is unlikely that many flexible tenancies will have been brought 
to an end by then and advice and assistance offered. 

 

 
 

Page 96



- 
1
 -

 
1

E
q

u
a

li
ty

 I
m

p
a

c
t 

A
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

(E
IA

):
  

  S
in

c
e
 t
h
e
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 A

c
t 

2
0
1
0
 c

a
m

e
 i
n
to

 f
o
rc

e
 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 t
o
 b

e
 c

o
m

m
it
te

d
 t

o
 e

n
s
u
ri
n
g
 w

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
m

e
e
t 

th
e
 d

iv
e
rs

e
 

n
e
e
d
s
 o

f 
o
u
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 a

s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 e

n
s
u
re

 w
e
 a

re
 a

n
 o

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 

is
 s

e
n
s
it
iv

e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
in

d
iv

id
u
a
ls

 w
it
h
in

 o
u
r 

w
o
rk

fo
rc

e
. 
T

h
is

 E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
(E

IA
) 

h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 a

s
 a

 t
o
o
l 
to

 e
n
a
b
le

 b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 u

n
it
s
 t
o
 f

u
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 d

e
c
is

io
n
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
. 

  
 T

h
is

 E
IA

 w
ill

 e
v
id

e
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 

y
o
u
 h

a
v
e
 f

u
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
h
e

 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 

y
o
u
r 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
/ 
s
tr

a
te

g
y
 a

n
d
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 k

e
y
 

s
ta

k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

. 
T

h
e
 E

IA
 w

ill
 a

llo
w

 C
o
u
n
c
ill

o
rs

 a
n
d
 S

e
n
io

r 
O

ff
ic

e
rs

 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 i
n
fo

rm
e
d
 d

e
c
is

io
n
s
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 d

e
c
is

io
n
-m

a
k
in

g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
. 
 

   R
e
le

v
a
n

c
e
 T

e
s
t 

–
 ‘
A

 P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
a
te

 A
p

p
ro

a
c
h

’ 
 N

o
t 

a
ll 

o
f 

th
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 o
r 

s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
 w

e
 p

u
t 
fo

rw
a
rd

 w
ill

 b
e
 ‘
re

le
v
a
n
t’
 i
n
 t

e
rm

s
 o

f 
th

e
 a

c
tu

a
l 
o
r 

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
im

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
 

e
q
u
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 g
ro

u
p
s
. 

F
o
r 

in
s
ta

n
c
e
, 
a
 r

e
p
o
rt

 o
n
 c

h
a
n
g
in

g
 a

 s
u
p
p
lie

r 
o
f 

c
o
p
ie

r 
p
a
p
e
r 

m
a
y
 n

o
t 

re
q
u
ir
e
 a

n
 E

IA
 t
o
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 w

h
e
re

a
s
 a

 
re

p
o
rt

 o
u
tl
in

in
g
 a

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
fo

r 
a
 n

e
w

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 s

w
im

m
in

g
 p

o
o
l 
o
r 

a
 r

e
p
o
rt

 p
ro

p
o
s
in

g
 a

 c
lo

s
u
re

 o
f 

a
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 w

o
u
ld

. 
 

 T
h
e
re

fo
re

 b
e
fo

re
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
n
g
 t

h
e
 E

IA
 p

le
a
s
e
 a

n
s
w

e
r 

th
e
 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 q

u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
. 
If

 y
o
u
 a

n
s
w

e
r 

‘y
e
s
’ 
to

 a
n
y
 o

f 
th

e
 q

u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 b

e
lo

w
 y

o
u
 m

u
s
t 

c
o
m

p
le

te
 a

 
fu

ll 
E

IA
. 

 

1
)  

D
o
e
s
 t
h
is
 r
e
p
o
rt
 r
e
la
te
 t
o
 a
 k
e
y
 d
e
c
is
io
n
?
  

Y
e
s
 

N
 

2
) 

W
il
l 
th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
(i
.e
. 
a
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 o
r 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 e
ff
e
c
t/
c
h
a
n
g
e
) 
o
n
 a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 

fo
ll
o
w
in
g
: 

•
 
T
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 u
p
o
n
 t
h
e
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 o
r 
e
q
u
a
li
ty
 g
ro
u
p
s
) 

•
 
O
u
r 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

•
 
T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 o
u
r 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
, 
‘k
n
o
c
k
-o
n
’ 
e
ff
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
o
th
e
r 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 u
n
it
s
, 
o
u
r 

re
p
u
ta
ti
o
n
, 
fi
n
a
n
c
e
s
, 
le
g
a
l 
o
b
li
g
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
) 

  Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

 

  N
 

N
 

N
 

 

  N
a
m
e
 o
f 
R
e
p
o
rt
/P
ro
p
o
s
a
l/
S
tr
a
te
g
y
: 

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
A

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 P

o
lic

y
 a

n
d
 L

o
c
a
l 
T

e
n
a
n
c
y
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

N
a
m
e
 (
K
e
y
 O
ff
ic
e
r/
A
u
th
o
r)
: 

J
u
lie

 S
h
a
rl
a
n
d
 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 U
n
it
: 

H
o
u
s
in

g
/ 

C
h
ild

re
n
’s

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

P
o
s
it
io
n
: 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 H
o
u
s
in

g
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

T
e
l:
 

0
1
8
0
3
 2

0
8
0
6
5
 

D
a
te
: 

8
th

 N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
2
 

E
m
a
il
: 

J
u
lie

.s
h
a
rl
a
n
d
@

to
rb

a
y
.g

o
v
.u

k
 

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1

Page 97



- 
2
 -

 
2

 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 1
: 
P
u
rp
o
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l/
s
tr
a
te
g
y
/d
e
c
is
io
n
 

 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

1
. 

C
le
a
rl
y
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
th
e
 

p
u
rp
o
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 

O
u
tl
in

e
 e

x
a
c
tl
y
 w

h
a
t 
th

e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
is

 /
 w

h
e
th

e
r 

th
e
re

 i
s
 a

n
y
 c

h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 c

h
a
n
g
e
. 
L
is

t 
th

e
 k

e
y
 o

b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
 

o
f 
th

e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l/
s
tr

a
te

g
y
. 

 T
h
e
 L
o
c
a
li
s
m
 A
c
t 
2
0
1
1
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 a
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 (
J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
2
) 
re
q
u
ir
e
 a
 

re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
o
u
r 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 a
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 p
o
li
c
y
 (
D
e
v
o
n
 H
o
m
e
 C
h
o
ic
e
) 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
li
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
 L
o
c
a
l 
T
e
n
a
n
c
y
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 (
n
e
w
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t)
. 
 T
h
e
 A
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 P
o
li
c
y
 a
n
d
 L
o
c
a
l 
T
e
n
a
n
c
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 o
n
ly
 r
e
la
te
 t
o
 S
o
c
ia
l 

H
o
u
s
in
g
/ 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
. 

T
h
e
 a
im
 i
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 w
e
 l
o
c
a
ll
y
 s
h
a
p
e
 o
u
r 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 a
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
m
a
n
a
g
e
 w
a
it
in
g
 l
is
ts
 a
n
d
 m
a
k
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 

te
n
a
n
c
ie
s
. 

  T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
, 
h
ig
h
li
g
h
t 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
A
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 P
o
li
c
y
( 
s
ta
tu
to
ry
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t)
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
li
s
h
 a
 L
o
c
a
l 
te
n
a
n
c
y
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
h
a
t 
re
fl
e
c
ts
, 
lo
c
a
l 
n
e
e
d
. 

T
o
 m
a
k
e
 R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
o
li
c
y
 p
e
n
d
in
g
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 

fu
tu
re
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
s
. 
 

 R
e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 –
 r
e
fe
r 
to
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 3
 

    

2
. 

W
h
o
 i
s
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 

/ 
w
h
o
 w
il
l 
b
e
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
?
 

W
h
o
 a

re
 t
h
e
 k

e
y
 s

ta
k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 /
 w

h
ic

h
 i
n
d
iv

id
u
a
ls

 /
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 g
ro

u
p
s
 m

a
y
 b

e
n
e
fi
t 
fr

o
m

 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
o
r 

w
h
o
 w

ill
 b

e
 m

o
s
t 

a
ff
e
c
te

d
?
 

 T
o
rb
a
y
’s
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
, 
e
s
p
e
c
ia
ll
y
 t
h
o
s
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 a
s
 e
li
g
ib
le
 a
n
d
 w
a
it
in
g
 f
o
r 
s
o
c
ia
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
, 
D
e
v
o
n
 L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
S
o
c
ia
l 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 

     

Page 98



- 
3
 -

 
3

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

 

3
. 

W
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
n
d
e
d
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
?
 

It
 i
s
 i
m

p
o
rt

a
n
t 
to

 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 t
h
e
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 t
h
a
t 
th

is
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
in

te
n
d
s
 t
o
 d

e
liv

e
r.
 

 T
o
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
li
s
m
 A
c
t 
2
0
1
1
, 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ll
y
 t
h
e
 s
o
c
ia
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 r
e
fo
rm
, 
re
v
is
e
d
 

a
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 p
u
b
li
s
h
 a
 L
o
c
a
l 
T
e
n
a
n
c
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

  T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 w
e
 m
a
x
im
is
e
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
s
o
c
ia
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
to
c
k
 t
o
 :
 

 

•
 
M
e
e
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 n
e
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
ll
y
 

•
 
C
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
s
 t
o
 w
id
e
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
, 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 h
e
a
lt
h
, 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

e
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 

•
 
R
e
fl
e
c
ts
 s
o
c
ia
l,
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
h
ic
h
 m
a
y
 a
ri
s
e
 o
u
t 
o
f 
th
e
 w
e
lf
a
re
 r
e
fo
rm

. 

   

Page 99



- 
4
 -

 
4

 
S
e
c
ti
o
n
 2
: 
E
q
u
a
li
ti
e
s
, 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

 

T
o
rb

a
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 a

 m
o
ra

l 
o
b
lig

a
ti
o
n
 a

s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 a

 d
u
ty

 u
n
d
e
r 

th
e
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 A

c
t 

2
0
1
0
 t

o
 e

lim
in

a
te

 d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o
n
, 
p
ro

m
o
te

 g
o
o
d
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 a

d
v
a
n
c
e
 

e
q
u
a
lit

y
 o

f 
o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
y
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 s

h
a
re

 a
 p

ro
te

c
te

d
 c

h
a
ra

c
te

ri
s
ti
c
 a

n
d
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 d

o
 n

o
t.

  
 T

h
e
 E
q
u
a
li
ti
e
s
, 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

s
e
c
ti
o
n
 e

n
s
u
re

s
 t
h
a
t,

 a
s
 a

 c
o
u
n
c
il,

 w
e
 t

a
k
e
 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
th

e
 P

u
b
lic

 S
e
c
to

r 
E

q
u
a
lit

y
 D

u
ty

 a
t 

a
n
 e

a
rl
y
 

s
ta

g
e
 a

n
d
 p

ro
v
id

e
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

w
e
 f

u
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 

o
u
r 

d
e
c
is

io
n
s
 /
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 o
n
 t
h
e
 T

o
rb

a
y
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
. 

 E
v
id
e
n
c
e
, 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

  

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

4
. 

H
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 t
h
e
 

a
v
a
il
a
b
le
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
?
  

C
o
n
s
id

e
r 

d
a
ta

 a
n
d
 r

e
s
e
a
rc

h
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 l
o
c
a
lly

 a
n
d
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
lly

. 
Y

o
u
r 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 u

n
d
e
r-

p
in

n
e
d
 b

y
 u

p
-t

o
-

d
a
te

 a
n
d
 r

e
lia

b
le

 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

b
o
u
t 
th

e
 d

if
fe

re
n
t 
g
ro

u
p
s
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
is

 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 a

ff
e
c
t.
 F

o
r 

in
s
ta

n
c
e
, 
p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 p

ro
fi
le

, 
s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 d

a
ta

, 
d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 s

ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 a

n
d
 h

o
w

 t
h
is

 h
e
lp

s
 t
o
 b

u
ild

 a
 p

ic
tu

re
 a

ro
u
n
d
 y

o
u
r 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l.
 

 Y
e
s
, 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 R
e
g
is
te
r 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 w
h
ic
h
 p
ro
v
id
e
s
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 
g
ro
u
p
s
, 

d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 c
h
il
d
 p
o
v
e
rt
y
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
, 
h
o
m
e
le
s
s
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
s
 c
o
n
d
u
c
te
d
 o
n
 a
 r
e
g
u
la
r 
b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
D
e
v
o
n
 H
o
m
e
 C
h
o
ic
e
. 

  

5
. 

H
o
w
 h
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l?
 

H
a
v
e
 y

o
u
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 
a
n
y
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 y

o
u
r 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
a
n
d
 i
f 
s
o
 h

o
w

?
 F

o
c
u
s
 g

ro
u
p
s
 /
 s

u
rv

e
y
 /
 e

v
e
n
ts

?
 R

e
m

e
m

b
e
r 

th
a
t 
it
 

m
a
y
 b

e
 i
m

p
o
rt

a
n
t 
to

 a
ls

o
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
 o

n
 a

n
y
 a

lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
. 
A

ls
o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 w

h
o
 y

o
u
 h

a
v
e
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 w

it
h
 a

n
d
 i
f 
a
p
p
lic

a
b
le

 
w

h
ic

h
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 g
ro

u
p
s
 y

o
u
 h

a
v
e
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 w

it
h
 (

i.
e
. 
g
ro

u
p
s
 w

h
o
 m

a
y
 b

e
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

a
lly

 a
ff
e
c
te

d
 b

y
 y

o
u
r 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l,
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 
e
q
u
a
lit

y
 o

r 
h
a
rd

 t
o
 r

e
a
c
h
 g

ro
u
p
s
).
 

 T
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
T
e
n
a
n
c
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 (
 a
n
d
 D
e
v
o
n
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
) 
w
il
l 
b
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 o
n
c
e
 i
t 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

fo
r 
a
 p
e
ri
o
d
 o
f 
ti
m
e
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
d
a
ta
 t
o
 b
e
 a
v
a
il
a
b
le
. 

 A
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 P
o
li
c
y
, 
a
n
d
  
L
o
c
a
l 
T
e
n
a
n
c
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 h
a
v
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 3
 m
o
n
th
s
 o
f 
in
te
rn
a
l 
a
n
d
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 v
a
ri
o
u
s
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
n
d
 g
ro
u
p
s
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 a
n
d
 h
a
rd
 t
o
 r
e
a
c
h
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 

  

6
. 

O
u
tl
in
e
 t
h
e
 k
e
y
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 

 
In

c
lu

d
e
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 o

n
 y

o
u
r 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 w

h
e
re

 y
o
u
 h

a
v
e
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 o

n
 a

n
y
 a

lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
. 
A

ls
o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

ra
te

s
, 
n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
a
tt
e
n
d
e
e
s
 t
o
 e

v
e
n
ts

 /
 f
o
c
u
s
 g

ro
u
p
s
, 
o
u
tl
in

e
 o

f 
s
p
e
c
if
ic

 i
n
te

re
s
t 
g
ro

u
p
s
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
. 
U

s
e
 b

u
lle

t 
p
o
in

ts
 t

o
 

Page 100



- 
5
 -

 
5

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

 
s
u
m

m
a
ri
s
e
 t
h
e
 k

e
y
 c

o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
s
. 

A
ll
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 t
o
 T
o
rb
a
y
 i
s
 n
o
t 
a
v
a
il
a
b
le
 a
s
 c
o
n
d
u
c
te
d
 a
c
ro
s
s
 a
ll
 D
e
v
o
n
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
. 
 

F
o
c
u
s
 g
ro
u
p
s
 l
o
c
a
ll
y
 r
a
n
g
e
 f
ro
m
 1
0
 –
 3
0
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
. 
F
u
ll
 m
e
m
b
e
r 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 t
a
k
e
n
 p
la
c
e
 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 h
a
s
 i
n
fo
rm

e
d
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
te
x
t 
to
 t
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 s
e
e
 b
e
lo
w
 f
o
r 
m
a
in
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 t
o
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

  

7
. 

W
h
a
t 
a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
y
 

b
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 

th
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
?
 

 

H
a
s
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 e

n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
p
ro

c
e
s
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a

n
y
 c

h
a
n
g
e
s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l?

 H
a
v
e
 y

o
u
 

h
a
d
 t
o
 a

lt
e
r 

y
o
u
r 

d
e
c
is

io
n
 a

n
d
 l
o
o
k
 a

t 
a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
?
 

-
 
Y
e
s
 ,
 t
h
e
 o
ri
g
in
a
l 
d
ra
ft
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 “
 T
h
e
 p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 D

e
v
o
n
 H

o
m
e
 C

h
o
ic
e
 P

o
li
c
y
 

s
ta

te
s
 L

o
c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 l
a
n
d
lo

rd
s
 w

il
l 
a
g
re

e
 l
o
c
a
ll
y
 w

h
e
th

e
r 
to

 a
d
v
e
rt
is
e
 s
o
m
e
 

h
o
m

e
s
 w

it
h
 a
 p

re
fe

re
n
c
e
 t
o
 w

o
rk

in
g
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 o

r 
th

o
s
e
 m

a
k
in

g
 a
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 c

o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
, 
ra

th
e
r 
th

a
n
 b
y
 p
ro

v
id

in
g
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
p
ri
o
ri
ty

 i
n
 t
h
e
 p

o
li
c
y
 t
o
 s
u
c
h
 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
. 
“
 s

u
g
g
e
s
te

d
 t

h
a
t 

a
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
a
n
e
l 
c
o
u
ld

 b
e
 u

s
e
d
 t

o
 i
d
e
n
ti

fy
 a

n
 a

d
d
it

io
n
a
l 

e
li
g

ib
il
it

y
 c

ri
te

ri
a
 a

n
d
 p

re
fe

re
n
c
e
. 

-
 
D
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
m
a
ll
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
v
a
il
a
b
le
 r
e
 –
 l
e
ts
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
p
p
li
e
d
 t
o
 i
t 
w
a
s
 f
e
lt
 n
o
t 
to
 b
e
 

re
a
li
s
ti
c
  
o
r 
v
ia
b
le
 a
t 
th
is
 t
im
e
. 

-
 
A
n
n
u
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
s
 o
f 
D
e
v
o
n
 H
o
m
e
 C
h
o
ic
e
 w
il
l 
b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
re
g
a
rd
in
g
 a
n
y
 f
u
tu
re
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
  

   
 

Page 101



- 
6
 -

 
6

 

P
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
n
d
 N
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
ts
  

 
 

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

8
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
n
d
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 

im
p
a
c
ts
 o
n
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 

It
 i
s
 n

o
t 
e
n
o
u
g
h
 t
o
 s

ta
te

 t
h
a
t 
a
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
w

ill
 a

ff
e
c
t 
e
v
e
ry

o
n
e
 e

q
u
a
lly

. 
T

h
e
re

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

o
re

 i
n
-d

e
p
th

 c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 e
v
id

e
n
c
e
 t
o
 s

e
e
 i
f 
p
a
rt

ic
u
la

r 
g
ro

u
p
s
 a

re
 m

o
re

 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 b

e
 a

ff
e
c
te

d
 t
h
a
n
 o

th
e
rs

 –
 u

s
e
 t
h
e
 t
a
b
le

 b
e
lo

w
. 
Y

o
u
 s

h
o
u
ld

 
a
ls

o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

w
o
rk

fo
rc

e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
If
 y

o
u
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
e
re

 t
o
 b

e
 n

o
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
 o

r 
n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m

p
a
c
ts

 u
s
e
 t
h
e
 ‘
n
e
u
tr

a
l’ 

c
o
lu

m
n
 t
o
 e

x
p
la

in
 

w
h
y
. 

 

 
P
o
s
it
iv
e
 I
m
p
a
c
t 

N
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 I
m
p
a
c
t 

N
e
u
tr
a
l 
Im
p
a
c
t 

A
ll 
g
ro
u
p
s
 i
n
 s
o
c
ie
ty
 

g
e
n
e
ra
lly

 
 Y

e
s
 

 
 

O
ld
e
r 
o
r 
y
o
u
n
g
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le

 
 

 Y
e
s
 

 
  

P
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 c
a
ri
n
g
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 

 Y
e
s
 

 
  

P
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty

 
 

 Y
e
s
 

 
  

W
o
m
e
n
 o
r 
m
e
n
 

 
Y

e
s
 

 
 

  

P
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 a
re
 b
la
c
k
 o
r 

fr
o
m
 a
 m
in
o
ri
ty
 e
th
n
ic
 

b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
 (
B
M
E
) 

 

(p
le

a
s
e

 n
o

te
 G

y
p

s
ie

s
 /

 R
o

m
a

 a
re

 w
it
h
in

 t
h

is
 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
) 

 

 
   

R
e
lig
io
n
 o
r 
b
e
lie
f 
(i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 

la
c
k
 o
f 
b
e
lie
f)

 
  

 
 

P
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 a
re
 l
e
s
b
ia
n
, 
g
a
y
 

o
r 
b
is
e
x
u
a
l 

 
 

  
P
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

tr
a
n
s
g
e
n
d
e
re
d
 

 
 

  
P
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 a
re
 i
n
 a
 

m
a
rr
ia
g
e
 o
r 
c
iv
il 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip

 
 

 
  

W
o
m
e
n
 w
h
o
 a
re
 p
re
g
n
a
n
t 
/ 

o
n
 m
a
te
rn
it
y
 l
e
a
v
e
 

 
 

  

9
. 

Is
 t
h
e
re
 s
c
o
p
e
 f
o
r 
y
o
u
r 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
to
 e
li
m
in
a
te
 

T
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

is
 c

o
m

m
it
te

d
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
w

e
 m

e
e
t 
th

e
 d

iv
e
rs

e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
o
u
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
. 
A

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 A

c
t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 a

 
g
e
n
e
ra

l 
d
u
ty

 a
s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 o

u
r 

m
o
ra

l 
o
b
lig

a
ti
o
n
 w

h
e
re

 w
e
 a

re
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 h

a
v
e
 ‘
d
u
e
 r

e
g
a
rd

’ 
to

 e
lim

in
a
ti
n
g
 u

n
la

w
fu

l 

Page 102



- 
7
 -

 
7

N
o
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
  

d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
, 
p
ro
m
o
te
 

e
q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 

/ 
o
r 
fo
s
te
r 
g
o
o
d
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
?
 

d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o
n
, 
a
d
v
a
n
c
in

g
 e

q
u
a
lit

y
 o

f 
o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
y
 a

n
d
 f
o
s
te

r 
g
o
o
d
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 s

h
a
re

 a
 p

ro
te

c
te

d
 

c
h
a
ra

c
te

ri
s
ti
c
 a

n
d
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 d

o
 n

o
t.
 O

u
tl
in

e
 h

o
w

 y
o
u
r 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
m

e
e
ts

 t
h
e
 g

e
n
e
ra

l 
d
u
ty

. 
 Y
e
s
 s
e
e
 b
e
lo
w
 E
q
u
a
l 
O
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 D
e
v
o
n
 H
o
m
e
 C
h
o
ic
e
 P
o
li
c
y
 

 
 

  S
e
c
ti
o
n
 3
: 
S
te
p
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
im
p
a
c
ts
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

 

N
o
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

1
0
. 

S
u
m
m
a
ri
s
e
 a
n
y
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 

im
p
a
c
ts
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
y
 w
il
l 

b
e
 r
e
a
li
s
e
d
 m
o
s
t 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
?
 

 

O
u
tl
in

e
 a

n
y
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
 i
m

p
a
c
ts

 t
h
a
t 
y
o
u
 h

a
v
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 a

n
d
 h

o
w

 t
h
e
s
e
 i
m

p
a
c
ts

 w
ill

 b
e
 r

e
a
lis

e
d
 m

o
s
t 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly

. 
W

h
a
t 
w

a
y
s
 c

a
n
 t
h
e
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
 i
m

p
a
c
ts

 b
e
 m

a
x
im

is
e
d
?
 U

s
e
 t
h
e
 a

c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 (

a
ft
e
r 

s
e
c
ti
o
n
 5

) 
to

 o
u
tl
in

e
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
, 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib

le
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 a
n
d
 t
im

e
s
c
a
le

s
. 

F
u
tu
re
 r
e
v
ie
w
s
 

 

1
1
. 

S
u
m
m
a
ri
s
e
 a
n
y
 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 

im
p
a
c
ts
 a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
s
e
 

w
il
l 
b
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
d
?
 

 

O
u
tl
in

e
 a

n
y
 n

e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m

p
a
c
ts

 t
h
a
t 
y
o
u
 h

a
v
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 a

n
d
 h

o
w

 t
h
e
s
e
 i
m

p
a
c
ts

 w
ill

 b
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
d
 /
 

m
o
n
it
o
re

d
 s

o
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
y
 a

re
 r

e
d
u
c
e
d
 /
 e

lim
in

a
te

d
 o

r 
m

it
ig

a
te

d
. 
W

h
a
t 
w

a
y
s
 c

a
n
 t
h
e
 n

e
g
a
ti
v
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
b
e
 m

in
im

is
e
d
?
 U

s
e
 t
h
e
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 (

a
ft
e
r 

s
e
c
ti
o
n
 5

) 
to

 o
u
tl
in

e
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
, 
re

s
p
o
n
s
ib

le
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 a
n
d
 t
im

e
s
c
a
le

s
. 
 

 N
/A
 

 
            

 

S
e
c
ti
o
n
 4
: 
C
o
u
rs
e
 o
f 
A
c
ti
o
n

 
 

Page 103



- 
8
 -

 
8

N
o
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

1
2
. 

S
ta
te
 a
 c
o
u
rs
e
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 

 [p
le
a
s
e
 r
e
fe
r 
to
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

a
ft
e
r 
s
e
c
ti
o
n
 5
] 

C
le

a
rl
y
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 a
n
 o

p
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 j
u
s
ti
fy

 r
e
a
s
o
n
s
 f

o
r 

th
is

 d
e
c
is

io
n
. 

T
h
e
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 f

o
u
r 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 a

re
 p

o
s
s
ib

le
 f

ro
m

 a
n
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

(a
n
d
 m

o
re

 t
h
a
n
 o

n
e
 m

a
y
 a

p
p
ly

 t
o
 a

 s
in

g
le

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
l)
. 

P
le

a
s
e
 s

e
le

c
t 

fr
o
m

 t
h
e
 4

 o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 b

e
lo

w
 a

n
d
 j
u
s
ti
fy

 r
e
a
s
o
n
s
 f

o
r 

y
o
u
r 

d
e
c
is

io
n
 -

 I
f 
'3

' 
p
le

a
s
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
 f
u
ll 

ju
s
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 :
 

 W
h

e
re

: 
- 

  O
u
tc
o
m
e
 2
: 
A
d
ju
s
tm
e
n
ts
 t
o
 r
e
m
o
v
e
 b
a
rr
ie
rs
 –
 A
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 r
e
m
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 b
a
rr
ie
rs
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

e
q
u
a
li
ti
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 o
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
tt
e
r 
p
ro
m
o
te
 e
q
u
a
li
ty
. 
 

 D
e
v
o
n
 H
o
m
e
 C
h
o
ic
e
 –
 A
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 P
o
li
c
y
 –
 S
e
e
 b
e
lo
w
 f
o
r 
fu
ll
 d
e
ta
il
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 p
o
li
c
y
 

P
la
n
n
e
d
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 
te
n
a
n
c
y
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
im
e
 

  
S
e
c
ti
o
n
 5
: 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 

 

N
o
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

D
e
ta
il
s
 

1
3
. 

O
u
tl
in
e
 p
la
n
s
 t
o
 

m
o
n
it
o
r 
th
e
 a
c
tu
a
l 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
y
o
u
r 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 

 

T
h
e
 f
u
ll 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
d
e
c
is

io
n
s
 w

ill
 o

n
ly

 b
e
 k

n
o
w

n
 o

n
c
e
 i
t 
is

 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
e
d
. 
Id

e
n
ti
fy

 a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 f
o
r 

re
v
ie

w
in

g
 t
h
e
 a

c
tu

a
l 
im

p
a
c
t 
o
f 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 o
n
c
e
 t
h
e
y
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
. 
P

le
a
s
e
 a

ls
o
 u

s
e
 t
h
e
 a

c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 b

e
lo

w
. 

D
e
v
o
n
 H
o
m
e
 C
h
o
ic
e
 –
 A
ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 P
o
li
c
y
 –
 S
e
e
 b
e
lo
w
 f
o
r 
fu
ll
 d
e
ta
il
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 p
o
li
c
y
 

 P
la
n
n
e
d
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 
te
n
a
n
c
y
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
im
e
 

 P
le

a
s
e
 u

s
e
 t

h
e
 a

c
ti

o
n

 p
la

n
 b

e
lo

w
 t

o
 s

u
m

m
a
ri

s
e
 a

ll
 o

f 
th

e
 k

e
y
 a

c
ti

o
n

s
, 
re

s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 a
n

d
 t

im
e
s
c
a
le

s
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u

lt
 o

f 
th

is
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t 
 

          

Page 104



- 
9
 -

 
9

E
q

u
a
l 
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
: 

E
n

s
u

ri
n

g
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 D

e
v
o

n
 H

o
m

e
 C

h
o

ic
e
 f

o
r 

a
ll
  

 T
h

e
r

e
 a

r
e

 m
a

n
y

 b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 o
f 

D
e

v
o

n
 H

o
m

e
 C

h
o

ic
e

 t
o

 p
e

o
p

le
 s

e
e

k
in

g
 a

 h
o

m
e

, b
u

t 
it

 d
o

e
s

 r
e

q
u

ir
e

 t
h

e
m

 t
o

 b
e

 p
r

o
a

c
ti

v
e

. P
e

o
p

le
 

n
e

e
d

 t
o

: 
 

-
 

F
in

d
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 h
o
m

e
s
 

-
 

C
h
o
o
s
e
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 h

o
m

e
s
 

-
 

B
id

 f
o
r 

h
o
m

e
s
  

 E
v

id
e

n
c

e
 f

r
o

m
 s

o
m

e
 o

f 
th

e
 e

a
r

ly
 C

h
o

ic
e

 B
a

s
e

d
 L

e
tt

in
g

 s
c

h
e

m
e

s
 f

o
u

n
d

 t
h

a
t 

v
u

ln
e

r
a

b
le

 a
p

p
li

c
a

n
ts

 (
fo

r
 e

x
a

m
p

le
 o

ld
e

r
 p

e
o

p
le

 

o
r

 p
e

o
p

le
 w

it
h

 m
e

n
ta

l 
h

e
a

lt
h

 p
r

o
b

le
m

s
) 

c
o

u
ld

 l
o

s
e

 o
u

t.
  

 A
 r

a
n

g
e

 o
f 

p
e

o
p

le
 m

a
y

 b
e

 v
u

ln
e

r
a

b
le

 a
n

d
 n

e
e

d
 s

u
p

p
o

r
t 

to
 p

a
r

ti
c

ip
a

te
 i

n
 D

e
v

o
n

 H
o

m
e

 C
h

o
ic

e
.  

V
u

ln
e

r
a

b
il

it
y

 c
a

n
 b

e
 a

 v
a

r
ia

b
le

 

s
ta

te
, a

n
d

 c
a

n
 o

c
c

u
r

 a
t 

p
a

r
ti

c
u

la
r

 p
o

in
ts

 i
n

 l
if

e
 s

u
c

h
 a

s
 b

e
r

e
a

v
e

m
e

n
t.

 I
t 

c
a

n
 b

e
 t

e
m

p
o

r
a

r
y

, o
r

 e
p

is
o

d
ic

 a
n

d
 r

e
c

u
r

r
in

g
 

d
u

e
, f

o
r

 e
x

a
m

p
le

, t
o

 m
e

n
ta

l 
d

is
tr

e
s

s
. O

r
 i

t 
c

a
n

 b
e

 o
n

g
o

in
g

 o
r

 c
a

n
 i

n
c

r
e

a
s

e
 o

v
e

r
 t

im
e

. 
 F

o
r

 t
h

is
 r

e
a

s
o

n
 e

v
e

r
y

 a
p

p
li

c
a

n
t 

w
il

l 
b

e
 c

o
n

s
id

e
r

e
d

 a
s

 a
n

 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
l.

 T
h

e
ir

 n
e

e
d

s
 w

il
l 

b
e

 a
s

s
e

s
s

e
d

 s
o

 a
s 

to
 i

d
e

n
ti

fy
 t

h
e

 

b
a

r
r

ie
r

s
 t

h
e

y
 m

a
y

 f
a

c
e

 i
n

 p
a

r
ti

c
ip

a
ti

n
g

 i
n

 D
e

v
o

n
 H

o
m

e
 C

h
o

ic
e

. H
a

v
in

g
 i

d
e

n
ti

fi
e

d
 t

h
e

 b
a

r
r

ie
r

s
 w

e
 w

il
l 

th
e

n
 b

e
 a

b
le

 t
o

 

p
u

t 
s

o
lu

ti
o

n
s

 i
n

 p
la

c
e

. T
h

e
 p

o
te

n
ti

a
l 

b
a

r
r

ie
r

s
 a

r
e

 s
e

t 
o

u
t 

in
 A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 3
.  

 A
 r

a
n

g
e

 o
f 

m
e

a
s

u
r

e
s

 h
a

v
e

 b
e

e
n

 p
u

t 
in

 p
la

c
e

 t
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 t

h
a

t 
e

v
e

r
y

o
n

e
 c

a
n

 s
h

a
r

e
 i

n
 t

h
e

 b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 t
h

a
t 

D
e

v
o

n
 H

o
m

e
 C

h
o

ic
e

 

o
ff

e
r

s
, a

n
d

 t
h

a
t 

a
p

p
li

c
a

n
ts

 w
h

o
 a

r
e

 v
u

ln
e

r
a

b
le

 d
o

 n
o

t 
m

is
s

 o
u

t.
 T

h
e

s
e

 m
e

a
s

u
r

e
s

 a
r

e
 s

e
t 

o
u

t 
th

r
o

u
g

h
o

u
t 

th
is

 P
o

li
c

y
.  

 D
u

e
 t

o
 t

h
e

 h
ig

h
 d

e
m

a
n

d
 f

o
r

 h
o

u
s

in
g

 i
n

 D
e

v
o

n
, w

e
 c

a
n

 o
n

ly
 e

n
s

u
r

e
 f

a
ir

 a
c

c
e

s
s

 t
o

 D
e

v
o

n
 H

o
m

e
 C

h
o

ic
e

. E
v

e
n

 t
h

o
u

g
h

 s
o

m
e

 

a
p

p
li

c
a

n
ts

 m
a

y
 b

e
 c

la
s

s
e

d
 a

s
 ‘v

u
ln

e
r

a
b

le
’ a

n
d

 n
e

e
d

 s
u

p
p

o
r

t 
to

 p
a

r
ti

c
ip

a
te

 i
n

 D
e

v
o

n
 H

o
m

e
 C

h
o

ic
e

, t
h

is
 w

il
l 

n
o

t 

n
e

c
e

s
s

a
r

il
y

 r
e

fl
e

c
t 

a
 h

ig
h

 l
e

v
e

l 
o

f 
c

u
r

r
e

n
t 

h
o

u
s

in
g

 n
e

e
d

. T
h

e
r

e
fo

r
e

, i
n

 r
e

a
li

ty
, t

h
e

y
 m

a
y

 n
o

t 
h

a
v

e
 a

 h
ig

h
 c

h
a

n
c

e
 o

f 

s
e

c
u

r
in

g
 a

 h
o

m
e

. 
 D

e
v

o
n

 H
o

m
e

 C
h

o
ic

e
 m

u
s

t 
c

o
m

p
ly

 w
it

h
 t

h
e

 E
q

u
a

li
ty

 A
c

t 
2

0
1

0
 (

w
h

ic
h

 c
o

n
s

o
li

d
a

te
s

 a
 n

u
m

b
e

r
 o

f 
p

r
e

v
io

u
s

 A
c

ts
 a

n
d

 

R
e

g
u

la
ti

o
n

s
),

 a
s

 w
e

ll
 a

s
 t

h
e

 t
h

e
 H

u
m

a
n

 R
ig

h
ts

 A
c

t 
1

9
9

8
, t

h
e

 F
r

e
e

d
o

m
 o

f 
In

fo
r

m
a

ti
o

n
 A

c
t 

2
0

0
0

 a
n

d
 t

h
e

 D
a

ta
 P

r
o

te
c

ti
o

n
 

A
c

t 
1

9
9

8
 

 

Page 105



- 
1
0
 -

 
1
0
 

A
n

 E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 I
m

p
a

c
t 

A
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

w
a

s
 u

n
d

e
r

ta
k

e
n

 o
n

 t
h

e
 i

n
it

ia
l 

D
e

v
o

n
 H

o
m

e
 C

h
o

ic
e

 p
o

li
c

y
 . 

A
 f

u
r

th
e

r
 E

q
u

a
li

ti
e

s
 I

m
p

a
c

t 

A
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

w
il

l 
b

e
 u

n
d

e
r

ta
k

e
n

 o
n

 t
h

e
 r

e
v

is
e

d
 p

o
li

c
y

 o
n

c
e

 i
ts

 h
a

s
 b

e
e

n
 a

d
o

p
te

d
 b

y
 t

h
e

 1
0

 D
e

v
o

n
 l

o
c

a
l 

a
u

th
o

r
it

ie
s

. 
 

 E
a

c
h

 o
f 

th
e

 o
r

g
a

n
is

a
ti

o
n

s
 i

n
v

o
lv

e
d

 i
n

 t
h

e
 D

e
v

o
n

 H
o

m
e

 C
h

o
ic

e
 P

a
r

tn
e

r
s

h
ip

 h
a

s
 a

n
 E

q
u

a
l 

O
p

p
o

r
tu

n
it

ie
s

 P
o

li
c

y
 t

o
 e

n
s

u
r

e
 t

h
a

t:
  

-
 

E
v
e
ry

o
n
e
 h

a
s
 e

q
u
a
l 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
  

-
 

N
o
 o

n
e
 i
s
 d

is
c
ri
m

in
a
te

d
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 g

ro
u
n
d
s
 o

f 
e
th

n
ic

 o
ri
g
in

, 
d
is

a
b
ili

ty
, 

a
g
e
, 

g
e
n
d
e
r,

 s
e
x
u
a
l 
o
ri
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
, 

re
lig

io
n
, 

o
r 

fo
r 

a
n
y
 

o
th

e
r 

re
a
s
o
n
 

 In
fo

r
m

a
ti

o
n

 o
n

 e
th

n
ic

it
y

 i
s

 a
s

k
e

d
 f

o
r

 a
s

 p
a

r
t 

o
f 

th
e

 a
ll

o
c

a
ti

o
n

 p
r

o
c

e
s

s
. T

h
is

 w
il

l 
b

e
 u

s
e

d
 t

o
 m

o
n

it
o

r
 d

iv
e

r
s

it
y

 a
n

d
 e

q
u

a
li

ty
 i

n
 

th
e

 o
p

e
r

a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 p
o

li
c

y
. I

n
fo

r
m

a
ti

o
n

 o
n

 d
is

a
b

il
it

y
 i

s
 c

o
ll

e
c

te
d

 i
n

 o
r

d
e

r
 t

h
a

t 
fu

tu
r

e
 n

e
e

d
s

 f
o

r
 a

d
a

p
te

d
 h

o
m

e
s

 c
a

n
 b

e
 

a
s

s
e

s
s

e
d

 a
n

d
 t

h
a

t 
a

n
y

 h
o

m
e

 o
ff

e
r

e
d

 i
s

 s
u

it
a

b
le

 f
o

r
 t

h
e

 n
e

e
d

s
 o

f 
th

e
 a

p
p

li
c

a
n

t.
 

 A
n

y
 a

ll
e

g
a

ti
o

n
s

 o
r

 c
o

n
c

e
r

n
s

 t
h

a
t 

a
n

 o
r

g
a

n
is

a
ti

o
n

 h
a

s
 n

o
t 

a
c

te
d

 a
p

p
r

o
p

r
ia

te
ly

 h
a

v
e

 t
o

 b
e

 m
a

d
e

 d
ir

e
c

tl
y

 t
o

 t
h

a
t 

o
r

g
a

n
is

a
ti

o
n

.  

A
ll

 p
a

r
tn

e
r

 l
a

n
d

lo
r

d
s

 h
a

v
e

 a
 c

o
m

p
la

in
ts

 p
o

li
c

y
 a

n
d

 a
n

 i
n

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
O

m
b

u
d

s
m

a
n

. 
 T

h
e

 f
o

ll
o

w
in

g
 s

e
c

ti
o

n
s

 s
e

t 
o

u
t:

  
-
 

H
o
w

 t
o
 a

p
p
ly

 f
o
r 

h
o
u
s
in

g
  

-
 

H
o
w

 a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 a

s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 

-
 

H
o
w

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 a

d
v
e
rt

is
e
d
  

-
 

H
o
w

 a
p
p
lic

a
n
ts

 c
a
n
 b

id
 f

o
r 

a
v
a
ila

b
le

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
  

-
 

H
o
w

 t
h
e
 s

u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 
a
p
p
lic

a
n
ts

 w
ill

 b
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

E
ff

e
c

ti
v

e
 m

o
n

it
o

r
in

g
 i

s
 i

n
 p

la
c

e
 a

n
d

 w
il

l 
b

e
 r

e
g

u
la

r
ly

 r
e

v
ie

w
e

d
 t

o
 e

n
s

u
r

e
 t

h
a

t 
D

e
v

o
n

 H
o

m
e

 C
h

o
ic

e
 i

s
 a

c
c

e
s

s
ib

le
, a

n
d

 i
s

 

w
o

r
k

in
g

 a
s

 f
a

ir
ly

 a
n

d
 e

ff
e

c
ti

v
e

ly
 a

s
 p

o
s

s
ib

le
.  

 

T
h

e
 m

o
n

it
o

r
in

g
 s

y
s

te
m

 i
n

c
lu

d
e

s
 i

n
fo

r
m

a
ti

o
n

 o
n

: 
 

-
 

T
h
e
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 f
o
r 

v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 g
ro

u
p
s
  

-
 

T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

a
p
p
lic

a
n
ts

 s
ta

ti
n
g
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
y
 w

is
h
 t

o
 b

e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 (

fo
r 

e
x
a
m

p
le

 w
it
h
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
n
g
 t

h
e
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 f
o
rm

 o
r 

w
it
h
 

b
id

d
in

g
),

 w
h
y
, 

a
n
d
 h

o
w

 t
h
is

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

 w
a
s
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 

-
 

A
p
p
lic

a
n
ts

 w
h
o
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 a

w
a
rd

e
d
 a

 h
ig

h
 p

ri
o
ri
ty

 (
fo

r 
e

x
a
m

p
le

 E
m

e
rg

e
n
c
y
, 

H
ig

h
 o

r 
M

e
d
iu

m
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 B

a
n
d
s
) 

b
u
t 
h
a
v
e
n
’t
 

b
e
e
n
 b

id
d
in

g
 o

r 
h
a
v
e
n
’t
 b

e
e
n
 b

id
d
in

g
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly

. 
T

h
is

 w
ill

 b
e
 f

o
llo

w
e
d
 u

p
 t

o
 a

s
s
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 w

h
y
 a

n
d
 w

h
e
th

e
r 

a
n
y
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

-
 

H
o
w

 a
p
p
lic

a
n
ts

 h
a
v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
e
d
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 h
o
m

e
s
  

-
 

H
o
w

 a
p
p
lic

a
n
ts

 h
a
v
e
 b

id
 f

o
r 

h
o
m

e
s
  

Page 106



- 
1
1
 -

 
1
1
 

-
 

H
o
w

 l
o
n
g
 a

p
p
lic

a
n
ts

 w
h
o
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 a

s
 s

ta
tu

to
ri
ly

 h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 t

a
k
e
 t
o
 m

o
v
e
 i
n
to

 p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
t 

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
  

-
 

T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

a
p
p
lic

a
n
ts

 w
h
o
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 b

y
p
a
s
s
e
d
 o

r 
re

fu
s
e
d
 b

y
 p

a
rt

n
e
r 

la
n
d
lo

rd
s
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
s
e
 d

e
c
is

io
n
s
 

-
 

T
h
e
 o

c
c
a
s
io

n
s
 w

h
e
n
, 

a
n
d
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 w

h
y
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 h

a
v
e

 u
s
e
d
 t
h
e
ir
 r

e
s
id

u
a
l 
d
is

c
re

ti
o
n
 t
o
 d

e
p
a
rt

 f
ro

m
 o

f 
th

e
 P

o
lic

y
 d

u
e
 t

o
 

e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
a
l 
c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
 

-
 

T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

a
n
d
 t
y
p
e
 o

f 
h
o
m

e
s
 d

iv
e
rt

e
d
 b

y
 p

a
rt

n
e
r 

la
n
d
lo

rd
s
 f
o
r 

le
tt

in
g
s
 o

u
ts

id
e
 D

e
v
o
n
 H

o
m

e
 C

h
o
ic

e
, 
a
n
d
 t

h
e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

th
is

 
 A

 r
a

n
g

e
 o

f 
q

u
e

s
ti

o
n

s
 h

a
v

e
 b

e
e

n
 i

n
c

lu
d

e
d

 o
n

 t
h

e
 a

p
p

li
c

a
ti

o
n

 f
o

r
m

 t
h

a
t 

w
il

l 
e

n
a

b
le

 e
q

u
a

l 
o

p
p

o
r

tu
n

it
ie

s
 m

o
n

it
o

r
in

g
. T

h
is

 

in
fo

r
m

a
ti

o
n

 w
il

l 
h

e
lp

 r
e

v
e

a
l 

w
h

e
th

e
r

 t
h

e
r

e
 a

r
e

 c
e

r
ta

in
 g

r
o

u
p

s
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 w
h

o
 a

r
e

 n
o

t 
a

c
c

e
s

s
in

g
 

in
fo

r
m

a
ti

o
n

 a
b

o
u

t 
D

e
v

o
n

 H
o

m
e

 C
h

o
ic

e
 a

n
d

 n
o

t 
p

a
r

ti
c

ip
a

ti
n

g
 i

n
 t

h
e

 s
c

h
e

m
e

.  
 A

s
 w

it
h

 a
n

y
 m

o
n

it
o

r
in

g
 i

t 
w

il
l 

o
n

ly
 s

e
r

v
e

 a
 p

u
r

p
o

s
e

 i
f 

th
e

 r
e

s
u

lt
s

 a
r

e
 u

s
e

d
 e

ff
e

c
ti

v
e

ly
 t

o
 d

e
v

e
lo

p
 a

n
d

 f
u

r
th

e
r

 i
m

p
r

o
v

e
 D

e
v

o
n

 

H
o

m
e

 C
h

o
ic

e
 t

o
 e

n
s

u
r

e
 t

h
a

t 
a

p
p

li
c

a
n

ts
 w

h
o

 a
r

e
 v

u
ln

e
r

a
b

le
 d

o
 n

o
t 

lo
s

e
 o

u
t.

  
 S

im
il

a
r

ly
 g

o
o

d
 p

r
a

c
ti

c
e

 f
r

o
m

 o
th

e
r

 s
c

h
e

m
e

s
 a

n
d

 g
u

id
a

n
c

e
 f

r
o

m
 c

e
n

tr
a

l 
g

o
v

e
r

n
m

e
n

t 
w

il
l 

b
e

 i
n

c
o

r
p

o
r

a
te

d
 i

n
to

 D
e

v
o

n
 H

o
m

e
 

C
h

o
ic

e
.  

Page 107



- 
1
2
 -

 
1
2
 

     A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
  

 P
le

a
s
e
 d

e
ta

il 
b
e
lo

w
 a

n
y
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 y

o
u
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
: 
 

 N
o
. 
A
c
ti
o
n
 

R
e
a
s
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
 /
 

c
o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
y
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
il
it
y
 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 d
a
te
 

1
 

C
o
n
d
u
c
t 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 
T
e
n
a
n
c
y
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 –
 w
h
e
n
 s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
ti
m
e
/ 

e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 e
g
. 
M
o
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

te
n
a
n
c
ie
s
 

T
o
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 

im
p
a
c
t 

o
f 

fl
e
x
ib

le
 t

e
n
a
n
c
ie

s
, 

a
n
d
 u

s
e
 

o
f 

s
o
c
ia

l 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

to
c
k
 

O
ff

ic
e
r 

ti
m

e
  

L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

 
o
ff

ic
e
r/

 
m

e
m

b
e
r 

d
e
c
is

io
n
 

T
o
 

b
e
 

d
e
c
id

e
d
  

p
ri
o
r 

to
 2

0
2
0
 

2
 

 A
n
n
u
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
D
e
v
o
n
 H
o
m
e
 

C
h
o
ic
e
 –
 A
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 P
o
lic
y
 

 

T
o
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
 

im
p
a
c
t 

o
f 

lo
c
a
lis

m
 A

c
t 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 ,

 n
e
w

 
a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
s
 

g
u
id

a
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 

fu
tu

re
 
re

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 
o
f 

th
e
 

1
0
 l
o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 p
a
rt

n
e
rs

 

D
H

C
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

g
ro

u
p
, 

O
ff

ic
e
r 

ti
m

e
 

D
H

C
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

g
ro

u
p
, 

In
d
iv

id
u
a
l 

L
o
c
a
l 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

. 
M

e
m

b
e
r 

d
e
c
is

io
n
 

B
y
 e

n
d
 o

f 
2
0
1
3
 

B
 

   
 

 
 

 

4
 

   

 
 

 
 

5
 

   

 
 

 
 

 

Page 108


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Council Tax Support Scheme
	Council Tax Support Scheme - Consultation Results
	Council Tax Support Scheme - Equality Impact Assessment

	6 Allocations Policy and Local Tenancy Strategy
	Allocations Policy and Local Tenancy Scheme - Equality Impact Assessment


